QTL ANALYSIS FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGHT RESISTANCE IN TUNISIAN-DERIVED

DURUM WHEAT POPULATIONS

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Seyed Mostafa Pirseyedi

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Major Department: Plant Sciences

December 2013

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title QTL ANALYSIS FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGHT RESISTANCE IN

TUNISIAN-DERIVED DURUM WHEAT POPULATIONS

By Seyed Mostafa Pirseyedi

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota State

University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Elias M. Elias

Chair

Dr. Shahryar F. Kianian

Dr. Mohamed Mergoum

Dr. Ghodrat Karami

Approved:

December 17, 2013 Date Richard D. Horsley

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Durum (2n=4x=28; AABB) wheat is the grain of choice for the production of highquality pasta products. *Fusarium* spp. are causal pathogens for Fusarium Head Blight (FHB). Limited host resistance to this disease exists among adapted durum cultivars. The use of Tunisian-derived durum lines for integration of FHB resistance in cultivars was evaluated. The genetic characterization of FHB resistance was evaluated, and markers associated with FHB resistance are presented in two populations. Two backcross inbred line (BIL) populations derived from cross between a resistant durum genotype 'Tunisian 108' and susceptible durum wheat cultivars 'Ben' and 'Lebsock' were screened to identify QTL for FHB resistance. Analysis of variance showed significant effect of genotypes on FHB severity and incidence despite high level of interaction between environment and genotypes. A total of 329 and 331 DArT and microsatellite markers covered a distance of 1887.6 and 1748 cM in two populations respectively. Composite interval mapping using two linkage maps and the phenotypic data revealed 11 different FHB resistance QTL on seven different chromosomes (1A, 1B, 2B, 3B, 5A, 5B, and 7B) in Tunisian/Ben derived population and 15 different FHB resistant QTL on seven different chromosomes (1A, 1B, 3A, 3B, 4A, 5A, and 6B) in population derived from cross between Tunisian/Lebsock. At least two novel QTL were identified on chromosome 2B (*Qfhb.ndsu-2B*) 4A (*Qfhs.ndsu-4A*) in Tunisian/Ben//Ben and Tunisian/Lebsock//Lebsock population respectively. Location of the two FHB resistance QTL on chromosome 1B and two QTL on 5A were identical in both populations. Owing to cumulative effects of resistance QTL, high level of transgressive segregation was observed in both populations. Our finding revealed

an alternative tetraploid FHB resistance source from Tunisian genomic background that can be utilized with associated markers for wheat germplasm enhancement.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To God almighty, the creator, the giver of Life, Soli Deo Gloria

I wish to thank my first advisor Prof. Shahryar Kianian for providing the opportunity to conduct this research, and for his endless encouragement and support. He was always nice leader, like a real father. I am deeply grateful.

I also wish to thank Prof. Elias Elias who became my leader after I was deprived and desperate to have Prof Shahryar Kianian as my advisor. God bless you, I am whole heartedly grateful.

I owe my gratitude to my great master Dr. Mohsen Mardi, a man of God almighty who sent me to the United Stated and gave me this honor to be disciple of the biggest scientists in the world. I am deeply grateful.

Thanks to Mr. Justin B. Hegstad for his particular assistance in revision of this thesis. I learned a lot from you. Your mentorship always will be appreciated.

So many thanks to my advisor committee, Prof. Shahryar Kianian, Prof Elias Elias, Prof. Mohamed Mergoum and Prof. Ghodrat Karami for expertise, experience and perspective that each member brought to the committee.

Special thanks and recognition to the members of the Wheat Germplasm Enhancement Project-technicians, associates and students; your assistance is greatly appreciated.

V

Thanks to Dr. Raana Dastjerdi my colleague who helped me through my research. I owe you my gratitude.

Very special thanks to my Mother, Kobra Manochehri, my brothers Seyed Abolfazl and Seyed Ebraheem Pirseyedi for helping me through all my life.

I am honored to dedicate this thesis to my mother and father, brothers and my son, and also to my great teacher Professor Shahryar F. Kianian.

This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, under Agreement No. 59-0206-9-063 to Shahryar F. Kianian. This is a cooperative project with the U.S. Wheat and Barley Scab Initiative.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
References	4
CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW	
Wheat	
Durum Wheat	
Centers of Origin of Durum Wheat	
Breeding Aspects of Durum Wheat	14
Fusarium Head Blight	
History of FHB	
Source of Inoculum and Life Cycle of Fusarium	
Mechanisms of Fusarium Head Blight Resistance	
Resistance Sources	
Trait Assessment	
Plant Materials	
Phenotyping	
Genotyping	
Molecular Mapping of Quantitative Loci	
Short Review of FHB Resistance QTL Mapping	
Project Justification	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Objectives	
References	33
CHAPTER III. DETECTION OF NOVEL QTL FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGHT RESISTANCE IN A TUNISIAN-DERIVED DURUM WHEAT POPULATION	47
Abstract	47
Introduction	48
Material and Methods	52
Development of Backcross Inbred Line (BIL) Population	52
Phenotypic Evaluation	52
Statistical Analysis of Phenotypic Data	53
Genotypic Analysis	54
Genetic Map Construction and QTL Analysis	55
Results	56
Phenotypic Analysis	56
Genetic Map	57
Distribution of Markers among Chromosomes and Genomes	58
QTL Analysis	59
Discussion	60
Conclusions	66
References	66
CHAPTER IV. IDENTIFICATION OF QTL FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGH RESIST IN A TUNISIAN DURUM WHEAT POPULATION	ANCE
Abstract	84
Introduction	85
Material and Methods	89

Plant Materials	89
Phenotypic Evaluation	
Statistical Analysis	
Genotypic Analysis	
Genetic Map Construction and QTL Analysis	
Results	
Phenotypic Analysis	
DArT and SSR Analysis	
Genomic Distribution of Mapped Markers	
QTL Mapping Analysis	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
References	
CHAPTER V. FINAL CONCLUSIONS	
References	

LIST OF TABLES

Table		<u>Page</u>
3.1.	Disease severity and toxin levels in Tunisian108/Ben//Ben BC1F7 population across the experiments	75
3.2.	Correlation coefficient between different FHB components; Field experiment, 2011	76
3.3	.Putative QTL for FHB severity, FDK and toxic components detected in Tunasian108/Ben//Ben BC1F7 BIL mapping population	77
4.1.	Disease severity and toxin levels in Tunisian108/Lebsock//Lebsock BC1F7 population across the experiments	111
4.2.	Correlation coefficient assessment for different FHB resistance components measured in a BC1F7 population derived from cross between Tunisian108 and Lebsock in 2011 field experiment.	112
4.3.	Putative QTL for disease severity, and mycotoxic components detected in Tunasian108/Lebsock//Lebsock BC1F7 mapping population	113

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
3.1.	Frequency distribution of FHB severity and incidence means among BIL genotypes in Tun108/Ben//Ben population in two greenhouse and two field experiments during 2010 to 2011. The average of FHB infection for the parents and the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows.	78
3.2.	Frequency of Fusarium damaged kernels (FDK) means among genotypes in Tun108/Ben//Ben population in 2011 field experiments. The average of FDK for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows	79
3.3	Genetic linkage mape of 329 mapped markes and putative QTL for Type II, III and V identified in BC ₁ F ₇ BIL population derived from cross between Tunisian108/Ben//Ben. (F=Field; GH=Greenhouse)	80
4.1.	Frequency distribution of FHB severity and incidence means of genotypes in a Tun108/Lebsock//Lebsock population in two greenhouse and two field experiments during 2010 and 2011. The average of FHB infection for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows.	114
4.2.	Frequency of Fusarium damaged kernels (FDK) means of genotypes in Tun108/Lebsock//Lebsock population in 2011 field experiments. The averag of FDK for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) che are indicated by arrows.	ge ecks 115
4.3.	Genetic linkage map of 331 mapped markers and putative QTL for BC1F7 population derived from a cross between Tunisian108 and 'Lebsock. (F= Fie GH= Greanhouse)	eld; 116

CHAPTER I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Durum wheat [*T. turgidum* (L.) var. *durum*, 2n = 4x = 28, genomes AABB] is an important cereal crop in the United States, used in pasta and noodle production. Sixty-eight percent of U.S. durum production occurs in North Dakota http://www.gipsa.usda.gov/fgis/educout/commgallery/gr_du.html). For more than two decades, North Dakota durum wheat cultivation has been heavily impacted by *Fusarium* Head Blight (FHB) disease. Favorable conditions for FHB caused epidemic outbreaks that resulted in production losses of \$2.7 billion in wheat and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) from 1998 through 2000 in the United States (Nganje et al. 2002), and totaling \$6.2 billion from 1993 through 2001 in the northern Great Plains (Nganje et al. 2004).

Fusarium head blight is commonly referred to as "wheat scab"; this descriptive nomination harkens back to the first documented FHB-outbreak, which occurred in England in 1884 (Stack 2003). In the same approximate decade, Scab outbreaks were reported in the Americas (Gilbert et al. 2000; McMullen 2003), Asia (Bai et al. 2003; Bhat et al. 1989), Australia (Burgess et al. 1987), Europe (Parryet al. 1995; Xu et al. 2008), and South Africa (Kriel and Pretorius 2008; Scott et al. 1988).

FHB is caused primarily by the fungus *Fusarium graminearum* Schwabe [teleomorph *Gibberella zeae* (Schw.) Petch]. The impact of disease on wheat is highest in warm and humid environmental conditions (Stack and McMullen 1985; Gilbert and Tekauz 2000). Under such conditions, durum wheat is highly susceptible to the pathogen during anthesis and early kernel development (Gilbert and Tekauz 2000). FHB can cause bleached spikes, spikelet sterility, poor seed filling, low weight and tombstone seeds (Wang 1996). Furthermore, grain marketing value

is drastically affected by scabby wheat because of mycotoxin contamination from deoxynivalenol (DON), diminished milling quality and diminished baking quality (Gilbert and Tekauz 2000; Bechtel et al. 1985). *Fusarium*-contaminated grain is the main source of mycotoxins in the food chain, which can cause Alimentary Toxic Aleukia (ATA), a potentially fatal condition in humans (Foroud and Edues 2009).

The development of host genetic resistance is the preferred strategy to reduce FHB effects, Since cultural management practices and chemical controls are considered impractical or ineffective (Bai and Shaner 1994). Therefore, identification and incorporation of FHB resistance genes has been a point of particular emphasis by plant breeders, for the purpose of improving host plant resistance.

Resistance to FHB exhibits the characteristics of a quantitative trait (Schroeder and Christensen 1963; Buerstmayr et al. 2012). Genetic studies of quantitative trait loci (QTL) require the development of population structures such as recombinant inbred lines (RIL), near isogenic lines (NIL), double haploid lines, or backcross derived lines, and the consequent genotypic and phenotypic characterization of experimental populations. There are five types of physiological resistance for FHB in the host; namely, resistance to (i) disease penetration (Type I), (ii) floral spread (Type II), (iii) *Fusarium* Damaged Kernel (FDK) (Type III), (iv) yield reduction (Type IV) and (v) mycotoxin accumulation (Type V) (Schroeder and Christensen 1963; Mesterhazy 1995).

The accumulation of QTL associated with broad FHB resistance indices is essential to cultivar development. Identifying DNA markers tightly associated with FHB resistance will speed up the introgression of resistance QTL into the desirable cultivars (Bai and Shaner 1994).

Investigations have shown positive association between different resistance indices. Hence, selection for one type of resistance likely enables selection for other types (Lemmens et al. 2005).

Problems associated with collecting reliable FHB resistance data (Campbell and Lipps 1998) and the polygenic nature of FHB resistance (Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Rudd et al. 2001) have focused efforts of research groups toward identifying new sources of resistance and associated molecular markers for FHB resistance genes.

Strong genotype by environment interaction is anticipated in FHB disease outcomes, and quantitative inheritance is inherently complicated (Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Rudd et al. 2001). Undesirable environmental effects can be indirectly managed by using highly-resistant genotypes. Genotypes with moderate resistance can reduce the impact of FHB, although this resistance may not be stable under high disease pressure (Snijders and Perkowski 1990; Mesterhazy 1995; Buerstmayr et al. 1996; Gosman et al. 2007; Buerstmayr et al. 2002). Historically, FHB resistance sources have been limited to hexaploid cultivars such as 'Sumai3' and 'Wangshuibai' (Mardi et al. 2005) and to a limited extent, 'Frontana' from Brazil (Mardi et al. 2006).

Hexaploid Chinese germplasm and derivatives have been studied extensively using QTL mapping (Bai et al. 1999; Waldron et al. 1999; Anderson et al. 2001; Buerstmayr et al. 2002; Zhou et al. 2002; Bourdoncle and Ohm 2003; Shen et al. 2003). Over the past two decades, many major and minor QTL associated with FHB resistance have been identified on almost all wheat chromosomes (Anderson et al. 2001; Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Lin et al. 2006; Liu and Anderson 2003; Ma et al. 2006; Waldron et al. 1999). *Fhb1* on chromosome 3BS is a QTL with

a stable major effect on FHB Type II (Anderson 2007) and Type V resistance (Lemmens et al. 2005) across different genetic backgrounds; hence, it has been used in breeding programs worldwide. Other resistance QTL reported in wheat includes a QTL on chromosome 5A (Chen et al. 2006; Lin et al. 2006), *Fhb2* on chromosome 6B (Anderson et al. 2001; Cuthbert et al. 2007) *Fhb4* on chromosome 4B (Lin et al. 2006; Xue et al. 2010), and *Fhb3* reported in wheat- *Leymus racemosus* integration lines (Qi et al. 2008). Additionally, QTL on chromosomes 2D (Somers et al. 2003) and 5A (Chen et al. 2006) have been reported to contribute towards Type V resistance. However to date, only *Fhb1* has shown a stable major effect on Type II or V resistance; all other QTL have either only minor effects or unstable effects in different hexaploid backgrounds.

Lack of resistance sources in tetraploid durum wheat has shifted efforts toward utilization of wild emmer, alien species (Oliver et al. 2005; Oliver et al. 2007) and exotic lines (Elias et al. 2005). Utilization of limited host resistance in wheat imposes a strong selective pressure for virulent pathogen strains (Gervais et al. 2003). Consequently, exploration for alternative sources of FHB resistance has become a necessary endeavor. Recent investigation at North Dakota State University revealed five prominent Tunisian lines with moderate levels of Type II resistance to FHB and generally acceptable agronomic traits (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012). The same lines were utilized as donor parents for introgression of resistance factors in North Dakota cultivars. The objectives of this study were to identify genomic regions significantly associated with FHB resistance and incorporate Tunisian FHB resistance QTL into the genomic background of locally adapted North Dakota durum wheat cultivars.

References

Anderson JA (2007) Marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Int J Food Microbiol 119:51-53

- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla BR, Mitchell J, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for a Fusarium head blight QTL in two wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 102:1164-1168
- Bai GH, Chen LF, Shaner GE (2003) Breeding for resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat in China. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 11, pp. 296-317 Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78760-766
- Bai G, Kolb FL, Shaner G, Domier LL (1999) Amplified fragment length polymorphism markers linked to a major quantitative trait locus controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathol 89:343-348
- Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78:760-766
- Bechtel DB, Kaleikau LA, Gaines RL, Seitz LM (1985) The effects of Fusarium graminearum infection on wheat kernels. Cereal Chemistry 62:191-197
- Bhat RV, Beedu SR, Ramakrishna Y, Munshi KL (1989) Outbreak of Trichothecene mycotoxicosis associated with consumption of mold-damaged wheat products in Kashmir Valley, India. Lancet 1:35-37.
- Burgess LW, Klein TA, Bryden WL, Tobin NF (1987) Head Blight of Wheat Caused by Fusarium graminearum Group 1 in New South Wales in 1983. Aust J Plant Pathol 16:72-78
- Buerstmayr M, Huber K, Heckmann J, Steiner B, Nelson JC, Buerstmayr H (2012) Mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance and morphological and developmental traits in three backcross populations derived from *Triticum dicoccum* × *Triticum durum*. Theor Appl Genet. 125:1751-1765
- Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA (2009) QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed 128:1-26
- Bourdoncle W, Ohm HW (2003) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in recombinant inbred wheat lines from the cross Huapei 57-2/Patterson. Euphytica 131:131-136
- Buerstmayr H, Lemmens M, Hartl L, Doldi L, Steiner B, Stierschneider M, Ruckenbauer P (2002) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor Appl Genet 104:84-91
- Buerstmayr H, Lemmens M, Grausgruber H, Ruckenbauer P (1996) Scab resistance of international wheat germplasm. Cereal Res Comm 24:195-202
- Campbell KAG, Lipps PE (1998) Allocation of resources: sources of variation in Fusarium head blight screening nurseries. Phytopathol 88:1078-1086

- Chen J, Griffey CA, Saghai Maroof MA, Stromgerg EL, Biyashev RM, Zhao W, Chappell MR, Pridgen TH, Dong Y, Zeng Z (2006) Validation of two major quantitative trait loci for Fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese wheat line W14. Plant Breed 125:99-101
- Cuthbert PA, Somers DJ, Brule-Babel (2007) Mapping of Fhb2 on chromosome 6BS: a gene controlling Fusarium head blight field resistance in bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 114:429-437
- Elias EM, Manthey FA, Stack RW, Kianian SF (2005) Breeding efforts to develop Fusarium head blight resistant durum wheat in North Dakota. In: Canty SM, Boring T, Wardwell J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc 2005 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Milwaukee, WI, 11–13 Dec 2005, Michigan State University, East Lansing, pp 25-26

Foroud NA, Eudes F (2009) Trichothecenes in cereal grains. Int J Mol Sci 10:147-173

- Gervais L, Dedryver F, Morlais JY, Bodusseau V, Negre S, Bilous M, Groos C, Trottet M (2003) Mapping of quantitative trait loci for field resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 106:961-970
- Gilbert J, Tekauz A (2000) Review: Recent developments in research on Fusarium head blight of wheat in Canada. Can J Plant Pathol 22:1-8
- Gilbert J, Procunier JD, Aung T (2000) Influence of the D genome in conferring resistance to Fusarium head blight in spring wheat. Euphytica 114:181-186
- Huhn M, Elias E, Ghavami F, Kianian S, Chao S, Zhong S, Alamri M, Yahyaoui A, Mergoum M (2012) Tetraploid Tunisian wheat germplasm as a new source of Fusarium head blight resistance. Crop Sci 52:136-145
- Kriel WM, Pretorius ZA (2008) The FHB challenge to irrigation wheat production in South Africa. Cereal Res Commun 36:569-571
- Lemmens M, Scholz U, Berthiller F, Dall'Asta C, Koutnik A, Schuhmacher R, Adam G, Buerstmayr H, Mesterhazy A, Krska R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) The ability to detoxify the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol colocalizes with a major QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 18:1318-24
- Lin F, Xue SL, Zhang ZZ, Zhang CQ, Kong ZX, Yao GQ, Tian DG, Zhu HL, Li CJ, Cao Y, Wei JB, Luo QY, Ma ZQ (2006) Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Nanda2419×Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet 112:528-535
- Liu S, Anderson JA (2003) Targeted molecular mapping of a major wheat QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance using wheat ESTs and synteny with rice. Genome 46:817-823

- Ma HX, Zhang KM, Gao L, Bai GH, Chen HG, Cai ZX, Lu WZ (2006) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight and deoxynivalenol accumulation in Wangshuibai wheat under field conditions. Plant Pathol 55:739-745
- Mardi M, Pazouki L, Delavar H, Kazemi MB, Ghareyazie B, Steiner B, Nolz R, Lemmens M, Buerstmayr H (2006) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a Frontana-derived population. Plant Breed 125:313-317
- Mardi M, Buerstmayr H, Ghareyazie B, Lemmens M, Mohammadi SA, Nolz R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a 'Wangshuibai'-derived population. Plant Breed 124:329-333
- McMullen M (2003) Impacts of Fusarium head blight on North American agricultural community: The power of one disease to catapult change. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR, (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 18, pp 484-503
- Mesterhazy A (1995) Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant breed 114:377-386
- Nganje WE, Kaitibie S, Wilson WW, Leistritz FL, Bangsund D.A (2004) Economic impacts of Fusarium head blight in wheat and barley: 1993-2001. Agribusiness and Applied Economics Rep. No. 538. North Dakota State Univ, Fargo
- Nganje WE, Bangsund DA, Leistnitz FL, Wilson WW, Tiapo NM (2002) Estimating the economic impact of a crop disease: the case of Fusarium head blight in U.S. wheat and barley. In: Canty SM, Lewis J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc (2002) National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Erlanger, KY, 7-9 Dec 2002, Michigan State University, pp 275-281
- Oliver R, Stack R, Miller J, Cai X (2007) Reaction of wild emmer wheat accessions to Fusarium head blight. Crop Sci 47:893-899
- Oliver RE, Cai X, Xu SS, Chen X, Stack RW (2005) Wheat alien species derivatives: A novel source of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat. Crop Sci 45:1353-1360
- Parry DW, Jenkinson P, McLeod L (1995) Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals: A review. Plant Pathol 44:207-238
- Qi LL, Pumphrey MO, Friebe B, Chen PD, Gill BS (2008) Molecular cytogenetic characterization of alien introgressions with gene Fhb3 for resistance to Fusarium head blight disease of wheat. Theor Appl Genet 117:1155-1166
- Rudd JC, Horsley RD, McKendry AL, Elias EM (2001) Host plant resistance genes for Fusarium head blight: sources, mechanisms and utility in conventional breeding systems. Crop Sci 41:620-627

- Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ (1963) Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by Gibberella zeae. Phytopathol 53:831-838
- Scott DB, De Jager EJH, Van Wyk PS (1988) Head blight of irrigated wheat in South Africa. Phytophylactica 20:317-319
- Shen X, Ittu M, Ohm H (2003) Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci 43:850-857
- Snijders CHA, Perkowski J (1990) Effects of head blight caused by *Fusarium culmorum* on toxin content and weight of wheat kernels. Phytopathol 80:566-570
- Stack RW (2003) History of Fusarium head blight with emphasis on North America. p 1-34. In: Leonard K.J, Bushnell W.R (eds) Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley. APS Press, St. Paul, MN.
- Stack RW, McMullen MP (1985) Head blight potential of Fusarium species with spring wheat heads. Can J Plant Pathol 7:79-82
- Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC (1999) RFLP mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci 39:805-811
- Wang YZ (1996) Epidemiology and management of wheat scab in China. In: Fusarium Head Scab: Global Status and Future Prospects, Dubin HJ, Gilchrist L, Reeves J McNab A (eds). CIMMYT, Mexico, pp 130
- Xu XM, Nicholson P, Thomsett MA, Simpson D, Cooke BM, Doohan FM, Brennan J, Monaghan S, Moretti A, Mule G, Homok L, Beki E, Tatnell J, Ritieni A, Edwards SG (2008) Relationship between the fungal complex causing Fusarium head blight of wheat and environmental conditions. Phytopathol 98:69-78
- Xue S, Li G, Jia H, Xu F, Lin F, Tang M, Wang Y, An X, Xu H, Zhang L, Kong Z, Ma Z (2010) Fine mapping Fhb4. a major QTL conditioning resistance to Fusarium infection in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet 121:147-156
- Zhou WC, Kolb FL, Bai GH, Shaner G, Domier LL (2002) Genetic analysis of scab resistance QTL in wheat with microsatellite and AFLP markers. Genome 45:719-727

CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW

Wheat

Wheat is considered one of the 'three strategic cereal crops' with over 600 million tons harvested annually (http://faostat.fao.org/). European union, China, India and the United States of America are top four wheat producers in the world respectively. It is unrivalled in its range of diversity, cultural value and range of cultivation. Wheat can be planted from 67°N in Scandinavia and Russia to 45°S in Argentina, including elevated regions in the tropics and subtropics (Feldman et al.1995). Wheat is the universal ancient cereal (Zohary and Hopf 2000) and the world's foremost crop plant (Feldman et al. 1995; Gustafson et al. 2009).

Poaceae (grasses) family evolved 50–70 million years ago (Mya) (Kellogg, 2001; Huang et al. 2002), and wheat, barley and oats which are member of Pooideae sub-family diverged around 20 Mya (Inda et al. 2008). Non-scientific selections by early farmers separated the desirable landraces from their wild relatives, leading to wide domestication. Two essential selection events for domestication were (i) the loss of spike shattering at maturity, caused by recessive alleles at the Br (brittle rachis) locus (Nalam et al. 2006), and (ii) change from hulled kernels to free-threshing naked kernels, due to a dominant mutation at the Q locus, which modified the effects of recessive mutations at the Tg (tenacious glume) locus (Jantasuriyarat et al. 2004; Simons et al. 2006; Dubcovsky and Dvorak 2007).

It is now generally accepted that the A genomes of tetraploid and hexaploid wheat originated from A genomes of wild and cultivated einkorn (*Triticum urartu*, genome A^uA^u) (Dvorak et al. 1993). The B genome of tetraploid and hexaploid wheat is likely derived from Aegilops speltoides (genome SS) (Dvorak et al. 1993; Peng et al. 2011). Wild emmer wheat (T. *dicoccoides*, 2n = 4x = 28, genome A^uA^uBB) emerged 300,000–500,000 years BP (before present) (Huang et al. 2002; Dvorak and Akhunov 2005). The earliest evidences show that, hunter-gatherers started collecting cereals 19,000 BP from Ohalo II which was a permanent site of epipaleolithic on the southwestern shore of the Sea of Galilee, Israel (Feldman and Kislev 2007). The first cultivation of wheat occurred in south-eastern part of Turkey about 10,000 years ago as part of the 'Neolithic Revolution', which was a cultural transition among early humankind from hunting and gathering of food to a systematic culture of plants and animals. The earliest cultivated forms of wheat were diploid einkorn and tetraploid emmer wheat (Dubcovsky and Dvorak 2007). Further conscious selection gradually resulted in cultivated emmer (T. dicoccum, 2n = 4x = 28, genome A^uA^uBB). Spontaneous hybridization between cultivate emmer and another goat grass (Ae. tauschii, 2n = 2x = 14, genome DD) created an early spelt (T. spelta, 2n =6x = 42, genome A^uA^uBBDD) around 9,000 BP (Kislev 1980; Dvorak et al. 1998; Matsuoka and Nasuda 2004). Divergence levels of A and B genomes in hexaploid wheat are drastically high in comparison to genomes of their diploid progenitors. While nominal divergence of D genome in hexaploid wheat indicate the D genome hybridization was the latest and relatively recent speciation event occurred 9,000 years ago (Feldman and Millet 2001). There are no report for wild type hexaploid wheat in exception of T. tibetanum which has been discovered as a weed in wheat and barley fields (Dubcovsky and Dvorak 2007; Haudry et al. 2007; Fu and Somers 2009).

Durum Wheat

Durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. *durum*) is a monocotyledonous allotetraploid (Genome AABB, 2n = 4x = 28) plant of the *Gramineae* family, *Triticeae* tribe and belongs to the genus *Triticum* which is the second most important species in this genus, next to common wheat

(*T. aestivum* L.). The starting point of evolutionary process in durum wheat was precisely delineated in the previous section.

Durum is a mid-tall to semi-dwarf stature annual grass with flat leaf blades and a terminal floral spike consisting of perfect flowers (Bozzini et al. 1998). The primary root system consists of seminal and adventitious roots which change to a permanent root system. The stem is cylindrical, erect, usually hollow (some are solid), and subdivided into internodes or solid stems (Clarke et al. 2002). Auxiliary buds at the basal nodes are the origin of culms (tillers), which in normal growing conditions may be a total of three culms in addition to the main shoot. The main stem and each culm produce a terminal inflorescence (Bozzini 1988). As with other grasses, durum wheat leaves have a leaf sheath (the basal portion) which covers the terminal portion of the stem, and is linear with parallel veins and an acute apex. A thin and transparent membrane (ligule), with two small lateral appendices (auricles) is characteristic of durum stems.

The structure of durum wheat inflorescence is a spike composed of a rachis with spikelets separated by short internodes (Bozzini 1988). Each spikelet consists of two glumes (bracts) enclosing two to five florets, all located on a rachilla. Each floret is enclosed between a lemma and palea. Each perfect flower contains three stamens with bilocular anthers and a pistil with two styles and feathery stigmas. Each floret has the potential to produce a one-seeded fruit called a caryopsis. The caryopsis is generally termed a kernel, or seed. Each seed contains a large endosperm and a flattened embryo located at the apex of the seed and close to the base of the floret. Ideal growing conditions for durum wheat are a relatively dry climate, with warm days and cool nights during the growing season (Mediterranean and temperate climates). Seed germination starts at 2°C, but the optimal germination temperature is 15°C (Bozzini 1988).

Durum wheat has mostly spring growth habit; however, there are lines with winter growth habit in the southern regions of USA (Donmez et al. 2000).

Durum wheat grain is the source for semolina, which is used in pasta products, couscous and bulgur in North Africa, and traditional breads in Morocco. Durum (Latin word for 'hard') has the hardest kernel among wheat, with high protein content and high gluten strength, large size, and amber color. The unique yellowish endosperm in durum gives pasta its golden color. Strong gluten and non-sticky dough characteristics have made durum the ideal grain for pasta production (Clarke et al. 2006).

Centers of Origin of Durum Wheat

To date, two wild diploid wheat species characterized as *T. boeoticum* (A^bA^b) and *T. urartu* (A^uA^u). It is highly believed that *T. boeoticum* is the ancestor of einkorn wheat (*T. monococcum*) which is unrelated with cultivated tetraploid and hexaploid wheat (Gandilian 1972; Johnson 1975; Johnson and Dhaliwal 1976; Dorofeev et al. 1979; Nesbitt and Samuel 1996; Perrino et al. 1996; Heun et al. 1997; Dvorak et al. 1998; Kilian et al. 2007; Ozkan et al. 2010). Although *T. urartu* had no role in wheat domestication, it played a critical role in wheat evolution and donated the A^u genome to all tetraploid and hexaploid wheat (Dvorak et al. 1993; Zohary and Hopf 2000).

Wheat domestication occurred mainly in the wild tetraploid wheat. There are two wild tetraploid wheat species with similar morphology and different genomic structure known as *T*. *dicoccoides* and *T. araraticum* (Zohary and Hopf 2000). Wild emmer (*T. dicoccoides*) naturally grows across the Fertile Crescent and Rosh pinna, eastern Galilee (Peng et al. 2011).

The domesticated form of *T. dicoccoides* is known as *T. dicoccum* (emmer, A^uA^uBB), which is believed to be domesticated in southeast Turkey (Ozkan et al. 2002, 2005; Mori et al. 2003; Luo et al. 2007). Geographical location of domestication for tetraploid wheat was reconsidered by Ozkan et al. (2005) and Luo et al. (2007). Phylogenetic analysis revealed two different races of T. dicoccoides: the western race which is the native of Israel, Syria, Lebanon and Jordan; and the central-eastern race, which has been frequently sampled in Turkey and rarely in Iraq and Iran. Ozkan et al. (2002) Mori et al. (2003) and Luo et al. (2007) reported the central-eastern race as the only progenitor of the domesticated germplasm at a single site in eastern Turkey. However, Peng et al. (2011) strongly support the model of multiple-site independent domestication of wild emmer wheat across the Levant (the western part of the Fertile Crescent). According to the model of multiple site independent domestication, the genes for non-brittleness were incorporated into many wild emmer genotypes through frequent spontaneous hybridizations, followed by human selection. Consequently, emmer wheat evolved to different polymorphic tetraploid species rather than a single genotype (Feldman and Kislev 2007). Several cultivated tetraploid A^uA^uBB wheat were derived later from the domesticated emmer: T. carthlicum (Persian wheat), T. polonicum (Polish wheat), T. ispahanicum, T. turanicum (Khurasan wheat), and T. turgidum (English or pollard wheat) (Peng et al. 2011). However, T. durum (free-threshing naked wheat) originated from T. dicoccum somewhat later (Damania 1998) and possibly independently (Salamini et al. 2002; Ozkan et al. 2005).

Breeding Aspects of Durum Wheat

Repeated cycles of inbreeding and double haploid technology are two main strategies in durum breeding program specifically in North America (Knox et al. 2000). Simultaneous improvement of agronomic performance, disease resistance and grain quality traits are the main breeding objectives in durum breeding programs. The most important agronomic traits for durum include grain yield, drought tolerance, disease and insect resistance, straw strength, resistance to shattering, and harvest ability. Important physical grain quality traits are seed weight, seed size, and percentage of hard vitreous kernels. The most important processing quality traits include protein concentration, yellow pigment concentration, grain cadmium concentration, gluten strength and semolina milling properties. Incorporating and maintaining stable resistance to the seed borne diseases, wheat rusts, leaf-spotting diseases, and *Fusarium* head blight have been major objectives in numerous durum breeding programs.

Fusarium Head Blight

History of FHB

The disease name "wheat scab" harks back to the first documented FHB-outbreak in England in 1884 (Stack 2003). Approximately at the same decade, scab outbreaks have been reported in the Americas (Gilbert et al. 2000; McMullen 2003), Asia (Bai et al. 2003; Bhat et al. 1989), Australia (Burgess et al. 1987), Europe (Parry et al. 1995; Xu et al. 2008), and South Africa (Kriel and Pretorius 2008; Scott et al. 1988).

All the evidence show that FHB epidemic started in 1917 and caused tremendous grain losses exceeded to 288,000 metric tons (MT), and later the grain losses increased to 2.18 million MT in 1919. Large yield losses were also recorded during the period between 1928 and 1937. The FHB impact continuously increased to 2.72 and 4.78 MT in 1982 and 1993 in North Dakota, South Dakota, Minnesota, and Manitoba, but during the period of 1998 to 2000 the grain loss decreased to 1.3 MT in the United States (McMullen et al. 1997; Stack 2003). Although the FHB outbreak was not as tremendous as previous years during 1998 to 2000, it still caused \$ 2.7 billion loss in wheat and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) in the United States (Nganje et al. 2002). The evidence showed that, scab caused \$6.2 billion loss only in northern Great Plains from 1993 through 2001 (Nganje et al. 2004).

To date seventeen different *Fusarium* species have been isolated from infected wheat and barley (Gale 2003). However, the most virulent type was *Fusarium graminearum* schwabe [telomorph= *Gibberella zea* (schwein) Petch] worldwide (Bai and Shaner 2004). *Fusarium. graminearum* is a homothallic fungus and the most prominent causal agent of FHB in the U. S., Canada, and Europe (McMullen et al. 1997). Other related species such as *F. culmorum* (Smith) Sacc., *F. avenaceum* (Fries) Sacc., *F. moniliforme* Sheldon., *F. oxysporum* Schlect., *F. poae* (Peck) might also be causal involved in head blight complex. Several or all of these pathogens can be found simultaneously in wheat spikes (Wiese 1987). This fungus has impressive survivability on living and dead residue of a wide range of hosts (Shaner 2003). Likely, *Fusarium* ascospores are released from the soil surface, and airflow disperses them under favorable environmental conditions. Hence, plant debris and residue are the most important primary sources of inoculum (Sutton 1982). Plant infection initiates when airborne spores invade the head at anthesis. Under favorable environmental conditions, infection spreads throughout the developing caryopsis, floral bracts, and rachis (Bai and Shaner 1994).

Poor quality is a consequence of *Fusarium* invasion to the wheat kernel, which is a consequence of the destruction of starch granules, cell walls, and storage proteins in endosperm (Bechtel et al. 1985; Meyer et al. 1986; Nightingale et al. 1999). As a result, a *Fusarium* epidemic can be a serious problem for seed production. In heavily affected kernels, the embryos may be infected and seed germination is reduced (Bechtel et al. 1985). Root rot in small grains,

including durum, hexaploid wheat (*T. aestivum*), oat (*Avena sativa*), barley (*Hordeum vulgare*), and rye (*Secale cereale* L.) are other symptoms of this complicated pathogen (McMullen et al. 1997).

End use quality, as relates to human and animal consumption, is also drastically affected by *Fusarium* infection. The most notorious mycotoxins of *Fusarium culmorum* and *Fusarium graminearum* are of the trichothecene class: deoxynivalenol (DON, vomitoxin), acetyldeoxynivalenol (the isomers 3-ADON and 15-ADON) and nivalenol (Niv) (Marasas et al. 1984; Marasas 2001). DON produced with head blight in wheat can also have physiological effects in other parts of the plant. Growth of wheat coleoptile is strongly inhibited at 10⁻³M concentration of DON and 3-ADON. However, wheat seedling growth is completely inhibited at a concentration of 10⁻⁴M of DON in infected seed. Thus, selection for low head blight ratings will indirectly select for low DON contamination (Snijders 2004).

Although accumulation of DON is the most frequent outcome of FHB, the toxicity of other isomers such as 3-ADON and 15-ADON is about twice that of DON (Mirocha et al. 1989) and NIV toxicity is10 times greater than that of DON (Joffe 1986). *Fusarium*-contaminated grain is the main source of mycotoxins in the food chain, and it can cause Alimentary Toxic Aleukia (ATA), a potentially fatal condition in humans (Foroud and Edues 2009). Trichothecene poisoning in humans may occur because of dietary intake of DON; the symptoms are characterized by: skin irritation, food refusal, vomiting, diarrhea, hemorrhages, neural disturbance, miscarriage and death (Joffe 1986; Kuiper-Goodman 1985). Chronic ingestion of small amounts of trichothecenes may suppress the human immune system and predispose the human body to other infectious diseases (Kuiper-Goodman 1985; Miller and Atkinson 1987).

Feeding animals contaminated grain leads to poor performance, health problems, and eventually economic losses. Only 0.3mg kg⁻¹ of DON in swine diets result in decreased feed consumption and weight gain (Trenholm et al. 1984). Young poultry such as chickens and turkeys can tolerate diets that contain DON up to at least 5 mg kg⁻¹ from wheat (Hamilton et al. 1985).

Source of Inoculum and Life Cycle of Fusarium

Fusarium spp. can survive saprophytically on plant debris (Parry et al. 1994). *Fusarium graminearum* can maintain its viability as mycelium, ascospores, macroconidia and chlamydospores. Owing to wide range of graminaceous hosts, FHB epidemic may originate from inoculum associated with host residues (Sutton 1982). Thus, continuous wheat cropping or using corn and wheat in rotation can significantly increase the possibility of FHB outbreak (Pirgozliev et al. 2003). It is also believed that, broad leafs weeds are another source of inoculum and overwintering for *Fusarium* (Jenkinson and Parry 1994)

Perithecia (sexual fruiting structures) form on host residue and release ascospores after maturing. Natural infection occurs when air-born ascospores land on spikelets during anthesis, where they germinate and enter the tissues using natural openings in the lemma, palea and glume, or through the anther (Ritieni and Edwards 2008; Trail 2009; Parry et al. 1995). After penetrating the plant, fungus can initially grow in intercellular space, and then start colonizing intracellular and entire tissue (Bushnell et al. 2003; Trail 2009).

At infection onset, the fungus grows intercellularly and asymptomatically (Bushnell et al. 2003; Guenther and Trail 2005; Jansen et al. 2005), spreading through the xylem and pith. Necrosis begins as the fungus grows rapidly and colonizes the tissue. Water soaking is initial symptom at this stage which particularly occurs in chlorenchyma tissue. Following water soaking, colonized tissue becomes bleached which is typical hallmark for head blight of wheat. Almost immediately after floret infection, the fungus starts expressing genes for DON biosynthesis (Jansen et al. 2005). The sexual proliferation for F. graminearum starts with dikaryotic phase (binucleate phase) which occurs when two genetically distinct nuclei remain paired as new cells form. An extended dikaryotic phase is a specific hallmark of the phylum Ascomycota (to which F. graminearum belongs). Homothallism is another specificity of this fungus which is due to the presence of genes associated with both mating types (Mat1-1 and *Mat1-2*) in the haploid genome (Yun et al. 2000). Consequently, this fungus does not need a sexually distinct partner to regenerate sexual spores (ascospores), and as a result, the two nuclei of the binucleate could be genetically identical. Fusarium graminearum can complete its life cycle in association with its host. Similar to majority of fungi, *Fusarium graminearum* is haploid for most of its life cycle and sexual proliferation begins with the formation of hyphae with binucleate cells. The binucleate cells develop to groups of small coiled cells, which are the fruiting body initials (Trail and Common 2000). The initials develop uninterrupted into flaskshaped perithecia which contain tubular sacs. The tubular sacs named asci contain ascospores, which are the products of meiosis. Asci move up to the mouth of the perithecium and discharge their ascospores into the air. The entire life cycle takes about two weeks, in the laboratory, however asci maturing ascospores releasing occur in the last 4 day of life cycle (Bowden and Leslie 1999; Trail et al. 2002). Perithecium initials regenerate in association with the plant's stomatas and silica cells in infected plants, and together with the binucleate hyphae form the overwintering structures (Guenther and Trail 2005). Perithecia are ephemeral and airborne ascospores are the primary inoculum. Therefore, the disease is considered to be a monocyclic, and elimination of the sexual stage results in substantial disease reduction in field trials

(Desjardin et al. 2006). In warm and humid environmental condition, copious numbers of conidia (*i.e.*, asexual spores) are produced on the surface of infected plants or on crop residue. The fusiform conidia are produced in slimy masses on sporodochia (cushion-shaped hyphal structures) and they are spread by rain-splash (Deacon 2006). Although the relative contribution of conidia versus ascospore to disease outbreak is still unknown, the short-distance required for dispersal of conidia is well documented (Shaner 2003).

Mechanisms of Fusarium Head Blight Resistance

The FHB resistance is both dominant and quantitative. Neither gene-for-gene resistance interaction, nor immunity to the disease has been reported so far in wheat (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Stability of resistance is dependent on environmental factors at the time of infection and aggressiveness factors associated with the invading Fusarium strain, although resistance has been shown to be stable in genotypes with very high levels of resistance (Mesterhazy 1995; Miedaner et al. 2001).

There are five types of physiological resistance for FHB in the host listed in the literature, namely resistance to (i) disease penetration (Type I), (ii) floral spread (Type II), (iii) Fusarium Damaged Kernel (FDK; Type III), (iv) yield reduction (Type IV) and (v) mycotoxin accumulation (Type V) (Schroeder and Christensen 1963; Mesterhazy 1995). Boutigny et al. (2008) defined two other type of resistance: Type V-1 resistance refers to the host's ability to chemically modify trichothecenes, resulting in toxin degradation or detoxification; Type V-2 resistance refers to the host's ability to inhibit trichothecenes. Investigations have shown positive association between different components of resistance index, hence selection for one type of resistance would indirectly enable selection for other types (Lemmens et al. 2005). Measuring mycotoxin accumulation is expensive and Type I resistance is difficult to assess; therefore, screening genotypes for Type II resistance is easier for assessing FHB infection (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Interestingly, delayed hyphal colonization of the vascular bundles in the rachis is observed in Type II resistant genotypes (Kang and Buchenauer 2000); that is, disease spread is inhibited. Although tricothecenes do not appear to play a role in initial infection of kernels or fruit coat (Bai et al. 2001; Jansen et al. 2005), trichothecenes are present and necessary for disease spread (Proctor et al. 1995; Eudes et al. 2001; Bai et al. 2001; Langevin et al. 2004). Consequently, Type II resistance might be an effective disease index for selecting genotypes with lower amount of mycotoxin accumulation (Type V resistance).

Resistance Sources

To date, FHB-resistance sources have been identified in hexaploid wheat germplasm from China, Japan, Korea and Brazil (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). During the past fifteen years, incorporation of resistance into the best available cultivars has been a major focus of breeding programs. Undesirable agronomic traits and low adaptation to various environments are inherent problems of resistance sources (Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Ghavami et al. 2011).

FHB epidemics have long been a major problem in some wheat growing regions of Asia (Liu 1985). Thus, breeding for FHB resistance was an early priority for Asian wheat breeding programs. 'Sumai 3', 'Ning 7840', 'Ning 8331', 'Wangshuibai', 'Chokwang' are cultivars which have resistance, and have been utilized for breeding and genetic studies of Fusarium resistance worldwide. Although these cultivars and lines have some resistance QTL in common, different QTL also have been reported (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Frontana is another moderate resistant hexaploid wheat which has been used for genetic studies and breeding (Mardi et al.

2006). Winter wheat cultivars including 'Sincron' (Ittu et al. 2000), 'Renan' (Gervais et al. 2003), and 'Arina' (Paillard et al. 2004) also have been used widely in FHB resistance analysis. Wheat-related species also can be alternative sources for FHB resistance (Mentewab et al. 2000). *Thinopyrum ponticum* (syn. *Lophopyrum ponticum*) is a wild relative that was used for chromosome substitution and translocation, with enhanced response to FHB (Shen et al. 2004). Several alien species, including *Elymus humidas, Elymus racemifar, Roegneriakamoji* and *Leymus racemosus* have been used as donors of FHB resistance genes. However, there is no evidence for mapping the involved QTL in these species (Ban 1997, Chen et al. 2005).

Limited sources of variation for FHB resistance in *T. durum* necessitate the use of wild relatives like *T. dicoccum* and *T. dicoccoides* as alternative sources for resistance genes (Buerstmayr et al. 2003b; Oliver et al. 2007). Ban and Watanabe (2001) reported that chromosome 3A of *T. dicoccoides* accession FA-15-3 (syn. Israel A) is involved in FHB resistance. Otto et al. (2002) screened recombinant inbred chromosome lines (RICL) and identified a major type II resistance QTL located on chromosome3A. Somers et al. (2006) identified a resistant line carrying an effective QTL in a population by screening a mapping population derived from the cross of the *T. durum* cultivar 'Strongfield' with the *T. carthlicum* cultivar 'Blackbird'. Elias et al. (2005) screened 7,500 durum accessions and identified five lines for Tunisian germplasm with moderate Type II resistance. Huhn et al. (2012) confirmed that Tunisian line numbers 7, 18, 34, 36 and 108 possess novel Type II resistance. Ghavami et al. (2011) screened populations derived from crosses between adapted cultivars and Tunisian lines 7, 18, 34 and 36 and identified lines exhibiting transgressive segregation for Type II FHB resistance.

Trait Assessment

Plant Materials

The main goal in trait introgression is to identify near isogenic lines (NIL) with a desired trait(s) of a donor line in a specific genetic background (Eshed and Zamir 1995). In most genetic mapping studies, a population is developed that segregates for the trait in question. The population is derived from a cross between two genotypes that exhibit substantial phenotypic difference for the trait studied. Recombinant inbred lines (RILs), fully homozygous doubled haploid (DH) populations, or populations derived from backcrosses are the most common population types in mapping projects. Backcross-derived populations are advantageous in cases where the resistance donor is an exotic or wild line and the recipient line is an adapted genotype (Tanksley and Nelson 1996).

Phenotyping

The most critical aspect of phenotypic evaluation for Fusarium resistance is accurate data assessment, due to highly variable genotype by environmental interactions. Disease severity depends on resistance factors in the plant, aggressiveness of the fungus and environmental conditions (Fuentes et al. 2005). To decrease the environmental effects on disease assessment, uniform inoculum pressure in field and greenhouse is critical (Dill-Macky 2003). The pathogen species or pathogen strains utilized for inoculation also have drastic effect on precise disease assessment. Although various species may be involved in disease incidence, *Fusarium graminearum, Fusarium culmorum* and *Fusarium avenaceum* have been detected as the dominant species in FHB occurrence (Parry et al. 1995; Dill-Macky 2003).

Despite high genetic variability in *Fusarium spp*. (Bowden and Leslie 1999), resistance has shown inherent non-specific qualities for the most prevalent species like *Fusarium culmorum* and *Fusarium graminearum*. To date, no biological races with specific host–pathogen interaction have been detected, while aggressiveness of well-known strains (isolates) is widely different (Snijders and Van Eeuwijk 1991; Van Eeuwijk et al. 1995; Mesterhazy et al.1999). Inoculation methods could be another important factor in precise disease quantification. Spraying conidia, grain-spawn method (scattering *Fusarium*-infected corn or barley grains), sowing infected maize stubble on the soil and single spikelet inoculation are the usual methods used to mimic natural infection conditions (Buerustmayer et al. 2009).

Disease assessments must be in accordance with the type of resistance under investigation. To date, five types of resistance to FHB are used to quantify and characterize infection. These types are as previously presented under 'Mechanisms of Fusarium Head Blight resistance.

Genotyping

Using genetic markers in plant breeding were first reported about ninety years ago (Crouch and Ortiz 2004). However, after innovation of DNA markers technology in 1980s, the efficiency of plant breeding has been dramatically enhanced (Jonah et al. 2011). Construction of genetic maps using restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) opened a new era for genotypic characterization of living things (Botstein et al. 1980). After the invention of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technology (Mullis and Faloona 1987), a large number of approaches were developed for marker deployment. The most important criteria for developing ideal makers are: (1) level of polymorphism, (2) abundance (3) adequate resolution for genetic differences (4) locus specificity (5) amount of linkage to distinct phenotypes, (6) simplicity, and (7) technical requirements and cost. The choice of marker to utilize depends upon numerous considerations, including the species under investigation, the objectives, equipment and resources available to the researcher (Agarwal et al. 2008). The goal of genotypic characterization in population genetics is to define the genetic variability present in the given experimental population. Generally, this means determining the relative genetic contributions of the parental lines to the progenies. Molecular markers provide the means to determine genetic differences among lines in a population at various loci. The segregation of markers within a population presents the possibility of determining the relative genetic distance between loci. There are numerous types of molecular markers available for genetic characterization (Agarwal et al. 2008). The most used molecular markers for genetic studies are: restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP; Botstein et al. 1980), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD; Williams et al. 1990), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP; Vos et al. 1995), microsatellite or short tandem repeats or simple sequences repeats (SSR; Tautz and Renz1984; Akkaya et al. 1992), single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) with high throughput SNP detection systems (Shen et al. 2005, Rostoks et al. 2006), and array-based medium to high throughput markers like DArT (diversity array technology; Akbari et al. 2006).

Molecular Mapping of Quantitative Loci

Many traits of agronomic importance such as FHB resistance are regulated by multiple genes. Such traits known as quantitative traits show a continuous range of variation in a population. Establishment of large collections of molecular/genetic markers, which could be used to construct detailed genetic maps of species have been a key development in the field of complex trait analysis. The detailed maps then could provide the foundation for modern-day QTL mapping methodologies (Edwards et al. 1987; Korolet al. 1998). QTL mapping was proposed by Sax (1923) for the first time and elaborated by Thoday (1961). The basic concept of QTL mapping is to test the association of genomic and chromosomal regions with the quantitative traits of interest (Mohan et al. 1997; Young 1996). The amount of co-segregation of a molecular marker with a QTL depends on the distance between them (Collard et al. 2005; Young 1996). There are several factors that may affect accuracy of QTL mapping. A highdensity map can potentially provide more power to detect authentic QTL. QTL with minor effect may not be detectable especially when heritability of the trait is low (Hyne et al. 1995). Discrimination of two QTL which are very close on the same chromosome might be impossible (Kearsey and Farquhar 1998; Young 1996). Since QTL mapping starts with a mapping population, the parents for the population should exhibit significant contrast for desired trait(s) (Liu 1998; Collard et al. 2005). For high resolution QTL mapping usually a large population is required (Collard et al. 2005). However, populations consisted of 70 to 250 lines has been used in most preliminary mapping studies (Mohan et al. 1997).

Some of the routine techniques are single-marker analysis (SMA; Edwards et al. 1987; Luo and Kearsey 1989), interval mapping (Lander and Botstein 1989), composite interval mapping (CIM; Zeng 1993; Zeng 1994; Jansen 1993; Jansen and Stam 1994) and multiple traits mapping (Jiang and Zeng 1995; Korol et al. 1998), or multiple interval mapping (MIM; Tanksley 1993) which provide statistical analyses of the associations between phenotypes and genotypes. The main purpose is to dissect the specific regions of a genome that affect complex traits.

The simplest method for QTL mapping is analysis of variance (ANOVA, sometimes called "marker regression") at the marker loci (Soller et al. 1976). This method has the capacity
of inclusion of more covariates, such as treatment and environment. ANOVA approach for QTL mapping has three major weaknesses: lack of separate estimates of QTL location and QTL effect, individuals with missing genotypic data have to be excluded from analysis, and low power for QTL detection for widely spaced markers (Broman 2001).

Single marker analysis (SMA) or single locus regression method makes use of a genetic map of the typed markers, and similar to analysis of variance, assumes the presence of a single QTL. Each location in the map is assessed as the location of the putative QTL once at a time. Interval mapping has several advantages over analysis of variance at the marker loci. This analysis can depict a curve which indicates the evidence for QTL location. It provides the information about QTL positions and QTL effects. Interval mapping is applicable even when the marker-genotype data is incomplete (Lincoln and Lander 1992). SIM analysis requires higher level of statistical software and higher amount of time for computational process in comparison to analysis of variance.

There are several advantages to multiple QTL mapping, especially when the QTL are located on separate chromosomes. In this way, the model maintains the presence of a QTL, then reduces the residual variation, and eventually provides greater power to detect other QTL. The multiple QTL mapping can separate the linked QTL, and identifies the interaction (epistasis) between them (Mackay 1996, 2001).

The simplest multiple QTL method is forward selection in interval mapping which can be used even for missing marker-genotype data. Composite interval mapping (CIM) is a highly utilized approach widely applied in practice (Jansen 1993; Zeng 1994). To reduce the residual variation, a subset of marker loci needs to be selected as covariate in this method. The subset of marker loci serves as proxies for other QTL and increase the mapping resolution. Selecting the appropriate marker loci is always a matter of concern in CIM, and this problem has not been resolved (Broman 2001). An interesting development is multiple interval mapping (MIM), which practically is an extension of interval mapping and analysis of variances (Kao et al. 1999; Zeng et al. 1999). This method covers all the above mentioned advantages, but it cannot be the final solution for all of the QTL mapping problems.

Short Review of FHB Resistance QTL Mapping

QTL for FHB resistance have been found on almost all wheat chromosomes (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). The story of molecular mapping for FHB resistance QTL almost started with Waldron et al. (1999) investigation, when they identified five genomic regions with significant association with FHB resistance using RFLPs. Using interval analysis on recombinant inbred lines derived from Somai3 (resistance)×Stoa (moderately susceptible), they identified three QTL on chromosome 3BS of Sumai3 and two QTL on 2AL of Stoa. These two group of assigned QTL (*QFhs.ndsu-3B* and *QFhs.ndsu-2A*) then were validated by other research groups (Anderson et al. 2001; Buerstmayr et al. 2002), and even Cuthbert et al. (2006) confirmed that, the Fhb 1 on chromosome 3BS is the most effective FHB resistance factor ever identified. It is commonly believed that, the Fhb 1 major resistance QTL has been donated from a Taiwan parent to sumai3 (Bai et al. 2003; Shen et al. 2003). Bai et al. (1999) screened 133 recombinant inbred lines derived by single seed descent from Ning 7840×Clark, and they detected a FHB QTL with major effect using AFLP. With 300 primer combinations and two contrasting bulked DNA, they detected 11 polymorphic loci, associated with resistance and used these markers for linkage map construction with unknown chromosomal location.

Combining RFLP, AFLP, and SSR markers, Anderson et al. (2001) mapped two new QTL on chromosome 3AL and 6AS using a recombinant inbred line population derived from ND2603 (sumai3×wheaton)×Butte 86. They screened all the DNA markers which were associated with resistance on the Sumai3×Stoa population and also reported the major effect of the QTL located on 3BS and 6BS incorporated from Sumai3. Although Bai et al. (2003) believed that, the 3BS QTL may not be the same as *Fhb* 1 in different resistant cultivar, Mardi et al. (2005) and Yu et al. (2008) strongly verified the same 3BS-QTL in other resistant cultivar "Wangshuibai".

Buerstmayr et al. (2003a) mapped two major QTLs on chromosomes 3B (*Qfhs.ndsu-3BS*) and 5A (*Qfhs.ifa-5A*) that explained 40 to 48% of phenotypic variation for visual resistance to FHB severity (Type II resistance), using DH lines derived from the cross between CM-82036 (resistant) and Remus (susceptible). The *Qfhs.ndsu-3BS* appeared to be associated mainly with resistance to fungal spread (Type II), and *Qfhs.ifa-5A* primarily with resistance to fungal penetration (Type I). Somers et al. (2003) characterized alternate sources for FHB resistance using 91 double haploid lines derived from cross between Wuham and Maringa. Using 328 polymorphic loci, they reported two novel QTL located on chromosome 4B and 3BS proximal to centromere and confirmed two other QTL on chromosome 2DL and 3BS. The application of QTL mapping was interestingly depicted in their investigation, because all lines with 2DL, 3BS FHB resistance alleles showed 32% of pathogen infection, and the line with 4B, 3BS alleles showed 27% of infection.

Stack et al. (1999) screened a series of Langdon-*T. dicoccoides* [LDN(DIC)] chromosome substitutions for FHB resistance and identified LDN(DIC-3A) substitution as

resistance to FHB type II infection. Otto et al. (2002) studied detailed map of chromosome 3A using a population consisted of recombinant inbred chromosome lines (RICLs) derived from *T. dicoccoides* LDN (DIC-3A) substitution and Langdon-16. They identified a major Type II resistance FHB QTL on long arm of chromosome 3A which could explain 37% of phenotypic variation.

Oliver et al. (2008) evaluated 375 accessions of five subspecies to identify new sources of resistance. In this applied investigation, Persian wheat [*T. turgidum* subsp. carthlicum (Nevski) Á. Löve and D. Löve], cultivated emmer wheat [*T. turgidum* subsp. dicoccum (Schrank ex Schübler) Thell.], Polish wheat [*T. turgidum* subsp. Polonicum (L.) Thell.], Oriental wheat [*T. turgidum* sub sp. *turanicum* (Jakubz.) Á. Löve and D. Löve], and Poulard wheat (*T. turgidum* L. sub sp. *turgidum*) were used in over three greenhouse seasons and two field screening. Preliminary evaluation showed that 16 *T. turgidum* subsp. carthlicum and 4 *T. turgidum* subsp. dicoccum accessions consistently exhibited resistance or moderate resistance to FHB.

Ghavami et al. (2011) identified a major Type II FHB resistance QTL on chromosome 5B and several minor QTL in an association mapping study using four different BIL populations derived from Tunisian Durum wheat.

Project Justification

Annual worldwide grain production of durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. *durum*) is estimated at 27.5 million metric tons. But FHB causes tremendous changes in this amount. North Dakota, as the largest durum producer in USA (over 80% of the acreage of durum farmlands), suffered over three billion dollars of total loss because of FHB epidemic in the period of 1993-1997 (Nganje et al. 2004).

As cultural and management practices, the most effective fungicide treatments can only reduce damage from FHB by about 50% (McMullen et al. 1997), identification of resistance sources in wheat germplasm and pyramiding resistance factors into the most productive cultivars is still the most cost-effective method for disease control. Lack of sources with complete immunity to FHB caused considerable explorations for resistant and moderately resistant genotypes in wheat breeding programs (Waldron et al. 1999). Unfortunately, neither seedling tests nor *in-vitro* screening methods for FHB resistance have been established or validated to date (Buerstmayr et al. 2002). Therefore, visual selection for FHB resistance is still the most applicable screening method which can be combined with marker assisted selection to accelerate resistance breeding process (Stack et al. 2002).

Apart from a few exceptions, the actual function of FHB resistance genes is not known and there is no evidence for large effect FHB resistance gene (QTL) cloning to date (Buerstmayr et al. 2012). Despite considerable number of reports for FHB QTL mapping in hexaploid wheat (Waldron et al. 1999; Bai et al. 1999), there are a few FHB resistance QTL mapping for tetraploid wheat. There are approximately 52 peer-reviewed studies reporting QTL for FHB resistance in wheat, from which, 46 were identified in hexaploid wheat, 4 in tetraploid and 2 in related species.

Incorporation of FHB resistance from common wheat to durum has met with limited success (Ghavami et al. 2011; Burestmayr et al. 2012). Thus, the overall levels of FHB resistance available for exploitation in durum wheat breeding programs are low. Incorporation

of FHB resistance into regional breeding material has been the essential wheat breeding strategy. Thus, so called 'exotic' resistance sources (*e.g.* Asian spring wheat) or moderately effective 'native' resistance have been used to improve tetraploid wheat germplasm.

The durum wheat breeding program at North Dakota State University (NDSU) screened approximately 6000 durum wheat accessions, but led in no achievement in first attempt (Elias et al. 2005). In further investigation NDSU durum wheat breeding program screened 1500 accessions from the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA), and eventually selected five Tunisian lines with a moderate level of Type II resistance (Elias et al. 2005). The same Tunisian sources as "exotic lines" with promising level of resistance to FHB Type II were used to reinforce locally adapted cultivars of North Dakota.

Huhn et al. (2012) reported that the Tunisian lines number 7, 18, 34, 36 and 108 may possess novel Type II resistance QTL. Ghavami et al. (2011) revealed that, the genetic backgrounds of Tunisian derived lines are different and even they can rival with the best resistant hexaploid wheat (sumai 3) with 10 to 25% of infection rate owing to transgressive segregation. In order to characterize FHB resistance QTL in Tunisian germplasm, two back cross derived recombinant inbred lines population were screened in this investigation.

Objectives

This study emphasizes the importance of developing highly resistant cultivars through introgression of resistance from moderate resistance sources. The objectives of current study were to identify genomic regions significantly associated with FHB resistance and incorporate Tunisian FHB resistance QTL into the genomic background of locally adapted durum wheat cultivars of North Dakota. Thus, FHB epidemic have been simulated in the field and greenhouse to scrutinize two segregating population (i.) to develop a molecular linkage map, (ii.) to identify genomic regions significantly associated with FHB resistance, (iii.) to determine molecular markers linked to FHB resistance (iv.) to introduce promising new line(s) with FHB resistance that can be used as sources for further durum wheat breeding programs.

References

- Agarwal M, Shrivastava N, Padh H (2008) Advances in molecular marker techniques and their applications in plant sciences. Plant Cell Rep 27:617-631
- Akbari M, Wenzl P, Caig V, Carlig J, Xia L, Yang S, Uszynski G, Mohler V, Lehmensiek A, Kuchel H, Hayden MJ, Howes N, Sharp P, Vaughan P, Rathmell B, Huttner E, Kilian A (2006) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome. Theor Appl Genet 113:1409-1420
- Akkaya MS, Bhagwat AA, Cregan PB (1992) Length polymorphism of simple sequence repeat DNA in soybean. Genetics 132:1131-1139
- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla BR, Mitchell J, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for a Fusarium head blight QTL in two wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 102:1164-1168
- Bai G, Shaner G, (2004) Management and resistance in wheat and barley to fusarium head blight. Annu Rev Phytopathol 42:135-161
- Bai GH, Chen LF, Shaner GE (2003) Breeding for resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat in China. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 11, pp. 296-317 Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78760-766
- Bai GH, Desjardin AE, Plattner RD (2001) Deoxynivalenol-nonproducing Fusarium graminearum causes initial infection, but does not cause disease spread in wheat spikes. Mycopathologia 153:91-98
- Bai G, Kolb FL, Shaner G, Domier LL (1999) Amplified fragment length polymorphism markers linked to a major quantitative trait locus controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathol 89:343-348

Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78:760-766

- Ban T (1997) Evaluation of resistance to Fusarium head blight in indigenous Japanese species of Agropyron (Elymus). Euphytica 97:39-44
- Ban T, Watanabe N (2001) The effects of chromosomes 3A and 3B on resistance to Fusarium head blight in tetraploid wheat. Hereditas 135:95-99
- Bechtel DB, Kaleikau LA, Gaines RL, Seitz LM (1985) The effects of Fusar ium graminearum infection on wheat kernels. Cereal Chemistry 62:191-197
- Bhat RV, Beedu SR, Ramakrishna Y, Munshi KL (1989) Outbreak of Trichothecene mycotoxicosis associated with consumption of mold-damaged wheat products in Kashmir Valley, India. Lancet 1:35-37.
- Botestein R, White L, Skolnick M Davis RW (1980) Construction of a genetic map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. Am J Hum Genet 32: 314-331
- Boutigny AL, Richard-Forget F, Barreau C (2008) Natural mechanisms for cereal resistance to the accumulation of Fusarium trichothecenes. Euro J Plant Pathol 121: 411-423
- Bowden RL Leslie JF (1999) Sexual recombination in *Gibberella zeae*. Phytopathology. 89:182-188
- Bozzini A (1988) Origin, distribution, and production of durum wheat in the world. P 1-16 in: Durum Wheat: Chemistry and Technology. Fabriani G, Lintas C (eds). Am Assoc Cereal Chem, St. Paul, MN
- Bozzini A, Corazza L, D'Egidio MG, Di Fonzo N, La Fiandra D, Pogna NE Poma I (1998) Durum Wheat *(Triticum turgidum* spp. durum). In: Scarascia Mugnozza GT, Pagnotta MA (eds) Italian contribution to plant genetics and breeding. Viterbo, Italy. 181-194
- Broman, KW (2001) Review of statistical methods for QTL mapping in experimental crosses. Lab Anim 30: 44-52.
- Buerstmayr M, Huber K, Heckmann J, Steiner B, Nelson JC, Buerstmayr H (2012) Mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance and morphological and developmental traits in three backcross populations derived from *Triticum dicoccum* × *Triticum durum*. Theor Appl Genet. 125:1751-1765
- Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA (2009) QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed 128:1-26
- Buerstmayr H, Steiner B, Hartl L, Griesser M, Angerer N, Lengauer D, Miedaner T, Schneider B, Lemmens M (2003a) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. II. Resistance to fungal penetration and spread. Theor Appl Genet 107:503-508

- Buerstmayr H, Stierschneider M, Steiner B, Lemmens M. Griesser M, Nevo E, Fahima T (2003b) Variation for resistance to head blight caused by Fusarium graminearum in wild emmer (Triticum dicoccoides) originating from Israel. Euphytica 130:17-23
- Buerstmayr H, Lemmens M, Hartl L, Doldi L, Steiner B, Stierschneider M, Ruckenbauer P (2002) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor Appl Genet 104:84-91
- Burgess LW, Klein TA, Bryden WL, Tobin NF (1987) Head Blight of Wheat Caused by Fusarium graminearum Group 1 in New South Wales in 1983. Aust J Plant Pathol 16:72-78
- Bushnell WR, Hazen BE, Pritsch C (2003) Histology and physiology of Fusarium head blight. In Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley. APS Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 44-83
- Chen PD, Liu WX, Yuan JH, Wang X, Zhou B, Wang SL, Zhang SZ, Feng YG, Yang BJ, Liu GX, Liu DJ, Qi LL, Zhang P, Friebe B, Gill BS (2005) Development and characterization of wheat-Leymus racemosus translocation lines with resistance to Fusarium Head Blight. Theor Appl Genet 111:941-948
- Clarke FR, Clarke JM, McCaig TN, Knox RE, DePauw RM (2006) Inheritance of yellow pigment in concentration in four durum wheat crosses. Can J Plant Sci 86:133-141
- Clarke JM, Norvell WA, Clarke FR Buckley WT (2002) Concentration of cadmium and other elements in the grain of near-isogenic durum lines. Can J Plant Sci 82:27-33
- Collard BCY, Grams RA, Bovill WD, Percy CD, Jolley R, Lehmensiek A, Wildermuth G, Sutherland MW (2005) Development of molecular markers for crown rot resistance in wheat: mapping of QTL for seedling resistance in a '2-49' × 'Janz' population. Plant Breed 124:532-537
- Crouch JH, Ortiz R (2004) Applied genomics in the improvement of crops grown in Africa. Afr J Biotech. 3(10):489-496.
- Cuthbert PA, Somers DJ, Thomas J, Cloutier S, Brule-Babel A (2006) Fine mapping Fhb1, a major gene controlling Fusarium head blight resistance in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet 112:1465-1472
- Damania AB (1998) Diversity of major cultivated plants domesticated in the Near East. In: Damania AB, Valkoun J, Willcox G, Qualset CO (eds) The origins of agriculture and crop domestication. Proceedings of the Harlan Symposium. ICARDA, Aleppo, pp 51-64
- Deacon JW (2006) Fungal Biology, Ed 2. Blackwell Publishing, Malden, MA, pp 204-206
- Desjardin AE, Plattner RD, Shaner G, Brown DW, Buechley G, Proctor RH, Turgeon BG (2006) Field release of Gibberella zeae genetically modified to lack ascospores. In Proceedings of

the 2006 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, pp 39-44

- Dill-Macky R (2003) Inoculation methods and evaluation of Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. In: Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp 184-210
- Donmez E, Sears RG, Shroyer JP, Paulsen GM (2000) Evaluation of Winter Durum Wheat for Kansas. Kansas State University Agricultural Experiment Station and Cooperative Extension Service. Publication No. 00-172-S
- Dorofeev VF, Filatenko AA, Migushova EF, Udaczin RA, Jakubziner MM (1979) Wheat. In: Dorofeev VF, Korovina ON (eds) Flora of Cultivated Plants, vol 1. Leningrad, Russia.
- Dubcovsky J, Dvorak J (2007) Genome plasticity a key factor in the success of polyploid wheat under domestication. Science 316:1862-1866
- Dvorak J, Akhunov E (2005) Tempos of gene locus deletions and duplications and their relationship to recombination rate during diploid and polyploid evolution in the Aegilops-Triticum alliance. Genetics 17:323-332
- Dvorak J, Luo MC, Yang ZL (1998) Genetic evidence on the origin of Triticum aestivum L. In: Damania AB, Valkoun J, Willcox G, Qualset CO (eds) The origins of agriculture and crop domestication. Proceedings of the Harlan symposium. ICARDA, Aleppo, pp 235-251
- Dvorak J, Diterlizzi P, Zhang HB, Resta P (1993) The evolution of polyploidy wheat: identification of the A genome donor species. Genome 36:21-31
- Edwards MD, Stuber CW, Wendel JF (1987) Molecular marker facilitated investigations of quantitative-trait loci in maize. I. Numbers, genomic distribution and types of gene action. Genetics 116:113-125
- Elias EM, Manthey FA, Stack RW, Kianian SF (2005) Breeding efforts to develop Fusarium head blight resistant durum wheat in North Dakota. In: Canty SM, Boring T, Wardwell J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc 2005 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Milwaukee, WI, 11–13 Dec 2005, Michigan State University, East Lansing, pp 25-26
- Eshed Y, Zamir D (1995) An introgression line population of *Lycopersicon pennellii* in the cultivated tomato enables the identification and fine mapping of yield-associated QTL. Genetics 141:1147-1162
- Eudes F, Comeau A, Rioux S, Collin J (2001) Impact of trichothecenes on Fusarium head blight (*Fusarium graminearum*) development in spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum*. L). Can J Plant Pathol 23:318-322
- Feldman M, Kislev ME (2007) Domestication of emmer wheat and evolution of free-threshing tetraploid wheat. Israel J Plant Sci 55:207-22

- Feldman M, Millet E (2001) The contribution of the discovery of wild emer to an understanding of wheat evolution and domestication and to wheat improvement. Israel J Plant Sci 49:25-35
- Feldman M, Lupton FGH, Miller TE (1995) Wheat. *Triticum spp*. (Gramineae Triticinae). In: Smartt J, Simmond NW (eds) Evolution of crop plants. Longman Scientific and Technical Press, London, pp 84-192
- Foroud NA, Eudes F (2009) Trichothecenes in cereal grains. Int J Mol Sci 10:147-173
- Fu YB, Somers DJ (2009) Genome-wide reduction of genetic diversity in wheat breeding. Crop Sci 49:61-168
- Fuentes RG, Mickelson HR, Busch RH, Dill-Macky R, Evans CK, Thompson WG, Wiersma JV, Xie W, Dong Y, Anderson JA (2005) Resource allocation and cultivar stability in breeding for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. Crop Sci 45:1965-1972
- Gale LR (2003) Population biology of Fusarium species causing head blight of grain crops. In Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) St. Paul, MN: APS Press, pp. 120–143.K.J. and Bushnell, W.R., eds). St. Paul, MN: APS Press, pp. 120–143
- Gandilian PA (1972) On wild growing Triticum species of Armenian SSR. Bot Zhur 57:173-181
- Garvin D, Stack R, Hansen J (2009) Quantitative trait locus mapping of increased Fusarium head blight susceptibility associated with a wild emmer wheat chromosome. Phytopathol 99:447-452
- Gervais L, Dedryver F, Morlais JY, Bodusseau V, Negre S, Bilous M, Groos C, Trottet M (2003) Mapping of quantitative trait loci for field resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 106:961-970
- Ghavami F, Elias EM, Mamidi S, Ansari O, Sargolzaei M, Adhikari T, Mergoum M, Kianian SF (2011) Mixed model association mapping for Fusarium head blight resistance in Tunisianderived durum wheat populations. Gen Genom Genet 1:209-218
- Gilbert J, Tekauz A (2000) Review: Recent developments in research on Fusarium head blight of wheat in Canada. Can J Plant Pathol 22:1-8
- Gilbert J, Procunier JD, Aung T (2000) Influence of the D genome in conferring resistance to Fusarium head blight in spring wheat. Euphytica 114:181-186
- Guenther JC, Trail F (2005) The development and differentiation of *Gibberella zeae* (anamorph: *Fusarium graminearum*) during colonization of wheat. Mycologia 97(1):229-237
- Gustafson P, Raskina O, Ma X, Nevo E (2009) Wheat evolution, domestication, and improvement. In: Carver BF (ed) Wheat: science and trade. Wiley, Danvers. 5-30

- Hamilton RMG, Trenholm HL, Thompson BK, Greenhalgh R (1985) The tolerance of White Leghorn and broiler chicks, and turkey poults to diets that contain deoxynivalenol (vomitoxin)-contaminated wheat. Poultry Sci 64:273-286
- Haudry A, Cenci A, Ravel C, Bataillon T, Brunel D, Poncet C, Hochu I, Poirier S, Santoni S, Glemin S, David J (2007) Grinding up wheat: a massive loss of nucleotide diversity since domestication. Mol Biol Evol 24:1506-1517
- Heun M, Schafer-Pregl R, Klawan D, Castagna R, Accerbi M, Borghi B, Salamini F (1997) Site of einkorn wheat domestication identified by DNA fingerprinting. Science 278:1312-1314
- Huang S, Sirikhachornkit A, Su X, Faris J, Gill B, Haselkorn R, Gornicki P (2002) Genes encoding plastid acetyl-CoA carboxylase and 3-phosphoglycerate kinase of the Triticum/Aegilops complex and the evolutionary history of polyploid wheat. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:8133-8138
- Hyne V, Kearsey MJ, Pike DJ, Snape JW (1995) QTL analysis: unreliability and bias in estimation procedures. Mol Breed 1:273-82
- Inda LA, Segarra-Moragues JG, Muller J, Peterson PM, Catalan P (2008) Dated historical biogeography of the temperate LoHinae (Poaceae, Pooideae) grasses in the northern and southern hemispheres. Mol Phylogenet Evol 46:932-957
- Ittu M, Saulescu NN, Hagima I, Ittu G, Mustatea P (2000) Association of Fusarium head blight resistance with gliadin loci in a winter wheat cross. Crop Sci 40:62-67
- Jansen C, Wettstein D, Schafer W, Kogel KH, Felk A, Maier FJ (2005) Infection patterns in barley and wheat spikes inoculated with wild-type and trichodiene synthase gene disrupted Fusarium graminearum. PNAS 102:16892-16897

Jansen RC (1993) Interval mapping of multiple quantitative trait loci. Genetics 135:205-11

- Jansen RC, Stam P (1994) High resolution of quantitative traits regression' approach. Theor Appl Genet 89:698-702
- Jantasuriyarat C, Vales MI, Watson CJW, Riera-Lizarazu O (2004) Identification and mapping of genetic loci affecting the free-threshing habit and spike compactness in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 108:261-273
- Jenkinson P, Parry D.W (1994) Splash dispersal of conidia of *Fusarium culmorum* and *Fusarium avenaceum*. Mycol Res 98:506-510
- Jiang C, Zeng ZB (1995) Multiple trait analysis of genetic mapping for quantitative trait loci. Genetics 140:1111-1127
- Joffe AZ (1986) Detection of fusariotoxin-bioassay methods. In: Joffe AZ (ed) Fusarium Species-Their Biology and Toxicology. Wiley, New York, pp 136-152

- Johnson BL (1975) Identification of the apparent B-genome donor of wheat. Can J Genet Cytol 17:21-39
- Johnson BL Dhaliwal HS (1976) Reproductive isolation of *Triticum boeticum* and *Triticum urartu* and the origin of the tetraploid wheat. Am J Bot 63:1088-1094
- Jonah PM, Bello LL, Lucky O, Midau A, Moruppa SM (2011) Review: The Importance of Molecular Markers in Plant Breeding Programmes. Glob J Science Front Res 11(5):1-12
- Kang Z, Buchenauer H (2000) Cytology and ultrastructure of infection of wheat by Fusarium culmorum. Myco Res 104:1083-1093
- Kao CH, Zeng ZB, Teasdale RD (1999) Multiple interval mapping for quantitative trait loci. Genetics 152:1203-1216
- Kearsey MJ, Farquhar AG (1998) QTL analysis in plants: Where are we now? Heredity 80:137-142
- Kellogg EA (2001) Evolutionary history of the grasses. Plant Physiol 125:1198-1205
- Kilian B, Ozkan H, Walther A, Kohl J, Dagan T, Salamini F, Martin W (2007) Molecular diversity at 18 loci in 321 wild and 92 domesticate lines reveal no reduction of nucleotide diversity during *Triticum monococcum* (einkorn) domestication: Implications for the origin of agriculture. Mol Biol Evol 24:2657-2668
- Kislev ME (1980) Triticum parvicoccum sp. nov., the oldest naked wheat. Isr J Bot 28:95-107
- Knox RE, Clarke JM, DePauw RM (2000) Dicamba and growth condition effects on doubled haploid production in durum wheat crossed with maize. Plant Breed 119:289-298
- Korol AB, Ronin YI, Nevo E, Hayes PM (1998) Multi interval mapping of correlated trait complexes. Heredity 80:273-284
- Kriel WM, Pretorius ZA (2008) The FHB challenge to irrigation wheat production in South Africa. Cereal Res Commun 36:569-571
- Kuiper-Goodman T (1985) Potential human health hazards and regulatory aspects. In: Scott PM Trenholm HL Sutton MD (eds) Mycotoxins: a Canadian perspective (NRCC NO.22848). National Research Council of Canada, Ottawa, pp 103-111
- Lander ES, Botstein D (1989) Mapping mendelian factors underlying quantitative traits using RFLP linkage maps. Genetics 121:185-199
- Langevin F, Eudes F, Comeau A (2004) Effect of trichothecenes produced by Fusarium graminearum during Fusarium head blight development in six cereal species. Eur J Plant Pathol 110:735-746

- Lemmens M, Scholz U, Berthiller F, Dall'Asta C, Koutnik A, Schuhmacher R, Adam G, Buerstmayr H, Mesterhazy A, Krska R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) The ability to detoxify the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol colocalizes with a major QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 18:1318-24
- Lincoln SE, Lander ES (1992) Systematic detection of errors in genetic linkage data. Genomics 14:604-610
- Liu BH (1998) Statistical genomics. CRC Press, Boca Raton New York.
- Liu ZZ (1985) Recent Advances in Research on Wheat Scab in China. Wheat for more tropical environments. Proceedings of International Symposium, Sept 24-28. CIMMYT, Mexico, DF 169-173
- Luo MC, Yang ZL, You FM, Kawahara T, Waines JG, Dvorak J (2007) The structure of wild and domesticated emmer wheat populations, gene flow between them, and the site of emmer domestication. Theor Appl Genet 114:947-959
- Luo ZW, Kearsey MJ (1989) Maximum likelihood estimation of linkage between a marker gene and a quantitative trait locus. Heredity 63:401-408
- Mackay TFC (2001) The genetic architecture of quantitative traits. Annu Rev Genet 35:303-339
- Mackay TFC (1996) The nature of quantitative genetic variation revisited: Lessons from Drosophila bristles. Bio Essays 18:113-121
- Marasas WFO (2001) Discovery and occurrence of the fumonisins: a historical perspective. Environ Health Perspect 109:239-243
- Marasas WFO, Nelson PE, Toussoun TA (1984) Toxigenic Fusarium species. Identity and Mycotoxicology. The Pennsylvania State University press. University Park Pp328
- Mardi M, Pazouki L, Delavar H, Kazemi MB, Ghareyazie B, Steiner B, Nolz R, Lemmens M, Buerstmayr H (2006) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a Frontana-derived population. Plant Breed 125:313-317
- Mardi M, Buerstmayr H, Ghareyazie B, Lemmens M, Mohammadi SA, Nolz R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a 'Wangshuibai'-derived population. Plant Breed 124:329-333
- Matsuoka Y, Nasuda S (2004) Durum wheat as a candidate for the unknown female progenitor of bread wheat: an empirical study with a highly fertile F1 hybrid with *Aegilops tauschii* Coss. Theor Appl Genet 109:1710-1717
- McMullen M (2003) Impacts of Fusarium head blight on North American agricultural community: The power of one disease to catapult change. In: Fusarium Head Blight of

Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR, (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 18, pp 484-503

- McMullen MP, Jones R, Gallenberg D (1997) Scab of wheat and barley: a re-emerging disease of devastating impact. Plant Dis 81:1008-1021
- Mentewab A, Rezanoor HN, Gosman N, Worland AJ, Nicholson P (2000) Chromosomal location of Fusarium head blight resistance genes and analysis of the relationship between resistance to head blight and brown foot rot. Plant Breed 119:15-20
- Mesterhazy A, Bartok T, Mirocha CG, Komoroczy R (1999) Nature of wheat resistance to Fusarium head blight and the role of deoxynivalenol for breeding. Plant Breed 118:97-110
- Mesterhazy A (1995) Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant breed 114:377-386
- Meyer D, Weipert D, Mielke H (1986) Effects of Fusarium culmorum infection on wheat quality. Getreide Mehl Brot 40:35-39
- Miedaner T, Reinbrecht C, Lauber U, Schollenberger M, Geiger H (2001) Effects of genotype and genotype-environment interaction on deoxynivalenol accumulation and resistance to Fusarium head blight in rye, triticale, and wheat. Plant Breed 120:97-105
- Miller K, Atkinson HA (1987) The in vitro effects of trichothecenes on the immune system. Arch. Toxicol. 11:321-324
- Mirocha CJ, Abbas HK, Windels CE, Xie W (1989) Variation in deoxynivalenol, 15-acetyldeoxynivalenol, 3-acetyldeoxynivalenol, and zearalenone production by *Fusarium* graminearum isolates. Appl Environ Microbiol 55:1315-1316
- Mohan M, Nair S, Bhagwat A, Krishna T, Yano M, Bhatia C, Sasaki T (1997) Genome mapping, molecular markers and marker-assisted selection in crop plants. Mol Breed 3:87-103
- Mori N, Ishii T, Ishido T, Hirosawa S, Watatani H, Kawahara T, Nesbitt M, Belay G, Takumi S, Ogihara Y, Nakamura C (2003) Origin of domesticated emmer and common wheat inferred from chloroplast DNA fingerprinting. 10th international wheat genetics symposium. Paestum. pp 25-28
- Mullis KB, Faloona FA (1987) Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerase-catalyzed chain reaction. Methods Erraymol 155:335-350
- Nalam V, Vales MI, Watson CJW, Kianian SF, Riera-Lizarazu O (2006) Map based analysis of genes affecting the brittle rachis character in tetraploid wheat (*Triticum turgidum*). Theor Appl Genet 112:373-381

- Nesbitt M, Samuel D (1996) From stable crop to extinction? The archaeology and history of the hulled wheat. In: Padulosi S, Hammer K, Heller J (eds) hulled wheat. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Pp 41-100
- Nightingale MJ, Marchylo BA, Clear RM, Dexter JE, Preston KR (1999) Fusarium head blight: effect of fungal proteases on wheat storage proteins. Cereal Chem 76:150-158
- Oliver R, Stack R, Miller J, Cai X (2007) Reaction of wild emmer wheat accessions to Fusarium head blight. Crop Sci 47:893-899
- Otto CD, Kianian SF, Elias EM, Stack RW, Joppa LR (2002) Genetic dissection of a major Fusarium head blight QTL in tetraploid wheat. Plant Mol Biol 48:625-632
- Ozkan H, Willcox G, Graner A, Salamini F, Kilian B (2010) Geographic distribution and domestication of wild emmer wheat (*Triticum dicoccoides*). Genet Resour Crop Evol 58:11-53
- Ozkan H, Brandolini A, Pozzi C, Effgen S, Wunder J, Salamini F (2005) A reconsideration of the domestication geography of tetraploid wheat. Theor Appl Genet 110:1052-1060
- Ozkan H, Brandolini A, Schaefer-Pregl R, Salamini F (2002) AFLP analysis of a collection of tetraploid wheat indicates the origin of emmer and hard wheat domestication in southeast Turkey. Mol Biol Evol 19:1797-1801
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Tiwari R, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B, Schachermayr G (2004) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in Swiss winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:323-332
- Parry DW, Jenkinson P, McLeod L (1995) Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals: A review. Plant Pathol 44:207-238
- Parry DW, Pettitt TR, Jenkinson P, Lees AK (1994) The cereal Fusarium complex. In: Blakeman, P and B. Williamson, eds. Ecology of Plant Pathogens. Wallingford, UK: CAB International, pp. 301-320
- Peng JH, Sun D, Nevo E (2011) Domestication evolution, genetics and genomics in wheat. Mol Breed 28:281-301
- Perrino P, Laghetti G, Antuono LF D, Al Ajlouni M, Kanbertay M, Szabo AT, Hammer K (1996) Ecogeographical distribution of hulled wheat species. In: Padulosi S, Hammer K, Heller J (eds) Hulled wheat. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, pp 102-11
- Pirgozliev SR, Edwards SG, Hare MC, Jenkinson P (2003) Strategies for the control of Fusarium head blight in cereals. Euro J Plant Path 109:731-742

- Proctor RH, Hohn TM, McCormick SP (1995) Reduced virulence of Gibberella zeae caused by disruption of a trichothecenes toxin biosynthetic gene. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact 8:593-601
- Ritieni A, Edwards SG (2008) Relationship between the fungal complex causing Fusarium head blight of wheat and environmental conditions. Phytopath 98:69-78
- Rostoks N, Ramsay L, MacKenzie K, Cardle L, Bhat PR, Roose ML, Svensson JT, Stein N, Varshney RK, Marshall DF, Graner A, Close TJ, Waugh R (2006) Recent history of artificial outcrossing facilitates whole-genome association mapping in elite inbred crop varieties. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:18656-18661
- Salamini F, Ozkan H, Brandolini A, Schfer-Pregl R, Martin W, (2002) Genetics and geography of wild cereal domestication in the Near East. Nat Rev Genet 3:429-441
- Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ (1963) Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by Gibberella zeae. Phytopathol 53:831-838
- Scott DB, De Jager EJH, Van Wyk PS (1988) Head blight of irrigated wheat in South Africa. Phytophylactica 20:317-319
- Shaner GE 2003.Epidemiology of Fusarium head blight of small grain cereals in North America. In: Leonard KJ, Bushnell W (eds.) Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. APS Press, St. Paul, MN, Pages 84-119
- Shen R, Fan JB, Campbell D, Chang WH, Chen J, Doucet D, Yeakley J, Bibikova M, Garcia EW, McBride C, Steemers F, Garcia F, Kermani BG, Gunderson K, Oliphant A (2005) Highthroughput SNP genotyping on universal bead arrays. Mutat Res Fundam Mol Mech Mutagen 573:70-82
- Shen X, Ittu M, Ohm H (2003) Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci 43:850-857
- Shen XR, Kong LR, Ohm H (2004) Fusarium head blight resistance in hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)-Lophopyrum genetic lines and tagging of the alien chromatin by PCR markers. Theor Appl Genet 108:808-813
- Simons K, Fellers JP, Trik HN, Zhang Z, Tai YS, Gill BS, Faris JD (2006) Molecular characterization of the major wheat domestication gene Q. Genetics 172:547-555
- Snijders CHA (2004) Resistance in wheat to Fusarium infection and trichothecenes formation. Toxicol Lett 153:37-46
- Snijders CHA, Van Eeuwijk FA (1991) Genotype by strain interactions for resistance to Fusarium head blight caused by *Fusarium culmorum* in winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 81:239-244

- Soller M, Brody T, Genizi A (1976) On the power of experimental designs for the detection of linkage between marker loci and quantitative loci in crosses between inbred lines. Theor Appl Genet. 47:35-39
- Somers DJ, Fedak G, Clarke J, Cao W (2006) Mapping of FHB resistance QTLs in tetraploid wheat. Genome 49:1586-1593
- Somers DJ, Fedak G, Savard M (2003) Molecular mapping of novel genes controlling Fusarium head blight resistance and deoxynivalenol accumulation in spring wheat. Genome 46:555-564
- Stack RW (2003) History of Fusarium head blight with emphasis on North America. p 1-34. In: Leonard K.J, Bushnell W.R (eds) Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley. APS Press, St. Paul, MN
- Stack RW, Elias EM, Fetch JM, Miller JD, Joppa LR (2002) Fusarium head blight reaction of Langdon durum-*Triticum dicoccoides* chromosome substitution lines. Crop Sci 42:637-642
- Stack RW, Elias EM, Joppa LR (1999) Fusarium head blight reaction of durum wheat lines conditioned by *Triticum dicoccoides* chromosome substitutions. Phytopathol. 89:S74 (abstract)
- Sutton JC (1982) Epidemiology of wheat head blight and maize ear rot caused by *Fuserium* gremineerum. Can J Plant Pathol 4:195-209
- Tanksley SD, Nelson JC (1996) Advanced backcross QTL analysis: a method for the simultaneous discovery and transfer of valuable QTLs from unadapted germplasm into elite breeding lines. Theor Appl Genet 92:191-203
- Tanksley SD (1993) Mapping polygenes. Annu Rev Genet 27:205-233
- Tautz D, Renz M (1984) Simple sequences are ubiquitous repetitive components of eukaryotic genomes. Nucleic Acids Res 12(10):4127-4138
- Thoday JM (1961) Location of polygenes. Nature 191:368-370
- Trail F (2009) For blighted waves of grain: *Fusarium graminearum* in the postgenomics era. Plant Physiol 149:103-110
- Trail F, Xu H, Loranger R, Gadoury D (2002) Physiological and environmental aspects of ascospore discharge in *Gibberella zeae*. Mycologia 94:181-189
- Trail F, Common R (2000) Perithecial development by *Gibberella zeae*: a light microscopy study. Mycologia 92:130-138

- Trenholm HL, Hamilton RMG, Friend DW, Thompson BK, Hartin KE (1984) Feeding trials with vomitoxin (deoxynivalenol)-contaminated wheat: Effects on swine, poultry and dairy cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 185:527-531
- Van Eeuwijk FA, Mesterhazy A, Kling CI, Ruckenbauer P, Saur L, Burstmayr H, Lemmens M, Keizer LCP, Maurin N, Snijders CHA (1995) Assessing non-specificity of resistance in wheat to head blight caused by inoculation with European strains of *Fusarium culmorum*, *F. graminearum* and *F. nivale* using a multiplicative model for interaction. Theor Appl Genet 90:221-228
- Vos P, Hogers R, Bleeker M, Reijans M, van de Lee T, Hornes M, Friiters A, Pot J, Peleman J, Kuiper M, Zabeau M (1995) AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Res 23:4407-4414
- Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC (1999) RFLP mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci 39:805-811
- Wiese MV (1987) Scab (Head Blight). In: Wiese MV (ed) Compendium of wheat diseases. St. Paul, MN: The American Phytopathological Society. APS Press 16-18
- Williams JGK, Kubelik AR, Livak KJ, Rafalski JA Tingey SV (1990) DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acid Res 18:6531-6535
- Xu XM, Nicholson P, Thomsett MA, Simpson D, Cooke BM, Doohan FM, Brennan J, Monaghan S, Moretti A, Mule G, Homok L, Beki E, Tatnell J, Ritieni A, Edwards SG (2008) Relationship between the fungal complex causing Fusarium head blight of wheat and environmental conditions. Phytopathol 98:69-78
- Young N (1996) QTL mapping and quantitative disease resistance in plants. Annu Rev Phytopathol 34:479-501
- Yu JB, Bai GH, Zhou WC, Dong YH, Kolb FL (2008) Quantitative trait loci for Fusarium head blight resistance in a recombinant inbred population of Wangshuibai/Wheaton. Phytopathol 98:87-94
- Yun SH, Arie T, Kaneko I, Yoder OC Turgeon BG (2000) Molecular organization of mating type loci in heterothallic, homothallic and asexual Gibberella/Fusarium species. Fungal Genet Biol 31:7-20
- Zeng ZB, Kao CH, Basten CJ (1999) Estimating the genetic architecture of quantitative traits. Genet Res 74:279-289
- Zeng ZB (1994) Precision mapping of quantitative trait loci. Genetics 136:1457-1468
- Zeng ZB (1993) Theoretical basis for separation of multiple linked gene effects in mapping quantitative trait loci. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:10972-10976

Zohary D, Hopf M (2000) Domestication of plants in the old world. Oxford University Press, Oxford. New York.

CHAPTER III. DETECTION OF NOVEL QTL FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGHT RESISTANCE IN A TUNISIAN-DERIVED DURUM WHEAT POPULATION

Abstract

Controlling Fusarium head blight (FHB) damage has been a challenge for durum wheat (Triticum turgidum) producers in the US for more than two decades. Tremendous economic losses due to decrement in grain yield and quality are attributed to this disease. Thus, transfer and pyramiding of FHB-resistance loci into locally adapted cultivars is critical. In this study, a backcross inbred line population (BC₁F₇) of 171 individuals derived from a cross between a resistant durum genotype 'Tunisian 108' and a susceptible durum cultivar 'Ben' was used to identify regions associated with FHB resistance. The population, along with checks, was evaluated for FHB Type II resistance in two greenhouse and two field experiments. Analysis of variance showed significant effect of genotypes on FHB severity and incidence as well as environment and G×E interaction. Approximately 8% of the lines in field nursery and 25% of the lines in the greenhouse screening were consistently more resistant than the Tunisian parent. A framework linkage map of 329 markers was developed representing 239 unique loci and covering a total distance of 1887.6 cM. Composite interval mapping revealed 11 different QTL on seven different chromosomes. A novel region on chromosome 2B was identified (Ofhb.ndsu-2B) which provides resistance to multiple FHB components including severity, incidence, mycotoxin production and frequency of damaged kernels. Introgression of this segment can be beneficial to the development of FHB-resistant durum cultivars. A region identified on chromosome 5A in this study has been identified in other hexaploid and tetraploid material indicating a possible evolutionary significance.

Introduction

Fusarium head blight (FHB), caused primarily by the fungus *Fusarium graminearum* Schwabe [teleomorph *Gibberella zeae* (Schw.) Petch], is a devastating disease of both common wheat (*T. aestivum* L., 2n = 6x = 42, AABBDD) and durum wheat (*T. turgidum* L. var. *durum* Desf., 2n = 4x = 28, AABB) worldwide (Chen et al. 2007). The impact of this disease on wheat is exceptionally high under warm and humid conditions (Stack and McMullen 1985; Gilbert and Tekauz 2000). Favorable conditions for *Fusarium* infection from 1997-2000 caused an epidemic in the US resulting in \$ 2.7 billion loss in wheat and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) (Nganje et al. 2002), and \$ 6.2 billion in the Northern Great Plains from 1993 through 2001 (Nganje et al. 2004).

Fusarium head blight is commonly referred to as "wheat scab"; a descriptive nomination that harkens back to the first documented FHB-outbreak, which occurred in England in 1884 (Stack 2003). In the same approximate decade, FHB outbreaks were reported in North America (Gilbert et al. 2000; McMullen 2003), Asia (Bai et al. 2003; Bhat et al. 1989), Australia (Burgess et al. 1987), Europe (Parry et al. 1995; Xu et al. 2008), and South Africa (Kriel and Pretorius 2008; Scott et al. 1988). FHB can cause bleached spikes, spikelet sterility, poor seed filling, low weight and tombstone seeds (Wang 1996). Furthermore, grain marketing value is drastically affected by scabby wheat because of mycotoxin contamination from deoxynivalenol (DON), diminished milling quality and baking quality (Gilbert and Tekauz 2000; Bechtel et al. 1985). Fusarium-contaminated grain is the main source of mycotoxins in the food chain which can cause Alimentary Toxic Aleukia, a potentially fatal condition in humans (Foroud and Edues 2009).

48

Development of host genetic resistance is the preferred strategy to reduce FHB effects, since cultural management practices and chemical controls are considered impractical or ineffective (Bai and Shaner 1994). Therefore, identification and incorporation of FHB resistance genes has been a point of particular emphasis for plant breeders, for the purpose of improving host plant resistance. Problems associated with collecting reliable FHB resistance data (Campbell and Lipps 1998) and the polygenic nature of this plant-pathogen interaction (Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Rudd et al. 2001) have driven researchers to identify tightly linked molecular markers to assist breeding programs (Bai and Shaner 1994). As FHB resistance generally exhibits the characteristics of a quantitative trait identification of linked markers require the development of populations such as recombinant inbred lines (RIL), near isogenic lines (NIL), double haploid lines, or backcross derived lines, genotypic and phenotypic screening and analysis.

There are five types of physiological host resistance for FHB listed in the literature; namely, resistance to (1) disease penetration (Type I), (2) floral spread (Type II), (3) Fusarium Damaged Kernel (FDK; Type III), (4) yield reduction (Type IV) and (5) mycotoxin accumulation (Type V) (Schroeder and Christensen 1963; Mesterhazy 1995). Investigations have shown positive associations between different types of resistance. Hence, selection for one resistance type may indirectly enable selection for another type (Lemmens et al. 2005). As type I resistance is difficult to assess and measurement of mycotoxin accumulation assays are expensive, most researchers have focused on Type II resistance as the preferred index for disease assessment following FHB infection (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Historically, FHB resistance sources have been limited to hexaploid cultivars such as 'Sumai 3', 'Wangshuibai' (Mardi et al. 2005) and, to a lesser extent, 'Frontana' from Brazil (Mardi et al.2006). Despite successful introduction of stable FHB resistance quantitative trait loci (QTL) into hexaploid wheat, poor yield and low grain quality were frequent early obstacles in developing FHB resistance (Buerstmayr et al. 2002). In recent decades notable high-quality cultivars with available FHB-resistance factors have been developed (Buerstmayr et al. 2012). However, introgression of FHB resistance sources from bread wheat to tetraploid wheat has been nominal (Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Ghavami et al. 2011). As well, utilization of limited host resistance imposes a strong selective pressure for virulent pathogen strains (Gervais et al.2003). Consequently, exploration for alternative sources of FHB resistance remains a necessary endeavor.

Hexaploid Chinese germplasm and derivatives have been studied extensively using quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping (Bai et al. 1999; Waldron et al. 1999; Anderson et al. 2001; Buerstmayr et al. 2002; Zhou et al. 2002; Bourdoncle and Ohm 2003; Shen et al. 2003). However, genetic studies of FHB resistance in tetraploid wheat are limited; due, in large measure, to a dearth of resistant resources. Otto et al. (2002) reported the first FHB resistance QTL on 3A (*Qfhs.ndsu-3AS*), and Kumar et al. (2007) identified another QTL on 7A (*Qfhs.fcu-7AL*), each from different sources of *T. dicoccoides*. The low contribution of FHB resistance QTL identified in durum wheat also is problematic. The largest QTL effect reported in durum was on chromosome 2BL, and explained only 26% of the phenotypic variance in the study (Somers et al. 2006). Thus, the overall amount of FHB resistance available for utilization in durum wheat is low.

The introgression of resistance components from common wheat into durum wheat has also been practically limited, due to different ploidy levels and the existence of suppressor genes (Ghavami et al. 2011). Suppressor genes that mask resistance QTL or enhance pathogen proliferation are anticipated to exist in tetraploid genomic background. A suppressor gene located on chromosome 5B in wheat exemplifies the situation where one gene can increase pathogen susceptibility, such as susceptibility to *Mycosphaerella graminicola* (Arraiano et al. 2007). Garvin et al. (2009) theorized the epistatic influence of suppressor genes on chromosome 2A that overcome FHB resistance in durum wheat. Significant additive gene action in FHB resistance (Snijders 1990) and other complications in host resistance breeding also need to be considered.

The lack of resistance sources in tetraploid durum wheat has shifted efforts toward utilization of wild emmer, alien species (Oliver et al. 2005; Oliver et al. 2007) and exotic lines (Ghavami et al. 2011). Recent investigation at North Dakota State University revealed five prominent Tunisian durum lines with moderate level of type II resistance to FHB and generally acceptable agronomic traits (Elias et al. 2005; Ghavami et al. 2011; Huhn et al. 2012). The objectives of the current study were: (i.) to identify genomic regions significantly associated with FHB resistance in a Tunisian durum line, (ii.) to construct a genetic linkage map, (iii.) to identify the most resistant line(s) for further breeding practices.

Material and Methods

Development of Backcross Inbred Line (BIL) Population

The present study used a BIL population developed from a cross of two durum wheat genotypes: 'Ben' and Tunisian 108. The recurrent parent 'Ben' is a medium height, highyielding commercial spring durum wheat cultivar with nominal resistance to FHB (Elias and Miller 1998). The donor parent is Tunisian durum wheat genotype Tunisian 108, with moderate resistance to FHB. The F₁ plants from the cross of Ben and Tunisian 108 were backcrossed once to Ben and each line was then selfed for seven generations by single-seed descent method, resulting in a population of BILs. A total of $171 \text{ BC}_1\text{F}_7$ BILs along with their parental genotypes (Tunisian 108 and Ben) and fourteen checks were evaluated for FHB resistance in this study. The checks included four hexaploid resistant genotypes 'Sumai 3'(PI 481542), 'Wangshubai', 'Glenn' (Mergoum et al. 2006), and ND2710 (Frohberg et al. 2004); nine moderate resistant tetraploid genotypes 'Divide' (Elias and Manthey, 2007), 'Maier' (Elias and Miller 2000), 'Lebsock' (Elias et al. 2001), Tunisian 7, Tunisian 18, Tunisian 34, Tunisian 36, D91103, D95097; and one susceptible genotype, D87450. D91103, D95097, and D87450 are durum experimental lines developed by the durum wheat breeding and genetics program at North Dakota State University.

Phenotypic Evaluation

Phenotypic evaluation was performed in two field trials and two greenhouse experiments during 2010 and 2011. The field trials were conducted in Prosper, North Dakota and the data for resistance to initial infection (Type I) and disease spread (Type II) was recorded during both

vears, and for deoxynivalenol (DON), 3-acetate deoxynivalenol (3ADON), 15-acetate deoxynivalenol (15ADON), nivalenol accumulation (Niv) and *Fusarium*-damaged kernel (FDK) assessment during 2011. Lines were planted in randomized complete block design (RCBD) with two replicates, were irrigated with water misting system 1 minute in 1 hour intervals, and were inoculated using corn kernel inoculation method in both field scab nursery experiments (Stack 1989). The inoculum was a mixture of three different isolates of F. graminearum (R010, R1267, and R1322) to maximize the infection likelihood and to simulate natural environmental conditions. Disease was assessed as the percentage (0 to 100%) of visually infected spikelets per whole spikes 21 days after anthesis (Gosman et al. 2005). The greenhouse trial included the population and check plants using RCBD with two replications for type II resistance (severity) in the USDA-ARS greenhouse, Fargo, North Dakota, during 2010 to 2011. Briefly: three seeds were planted in 10 inches clay pots and an average of 4 to 6 spikes per line in each of the two replicates were inoculated with a 10 µl droplet containing a mixture of conidia from three isolates (50,000 conidia/ml). Greenhouse inoculation was performed at beginning of anthesis. Inoculum was injected directly into the second or third single spikelet near the bottom of the spike, following procedures described by Stack (1989). Each inoculated spike was covered by misted plastic bag for 72 hours. Disease spread was scored according to visual symptoms and based on number of infected spikelets per spike 21 days after inoculation (Stack and McMullen 1985).

Statistical Analysis of Phenotypic Data

Analysis of variance for disease incidence, severity, FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON and nivalenol were conducted using Proc GLM of SAS software version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary,

NC). Combined analysis was fulfilled after testing the homogeneity of error for different locations and years with the same software. Using Proc Corr command (SAS 9.1), Pearson's correlation between disease incidence, severity, FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON and nivalenol contents were calculated. Broad-sense heritability (h²) was estimated using following formula:

 $h^2 = \sigma_g^2 / (\sigma_g^2 + \sigma_{gy}^2 / y + \sigma_e^2 / ry)$

Where:

 σ_{g}^{2} = Genotypic variance

 σ^2_{gy} = Genotype × year interaction variance

 σ^2_e = Residual error variance

r = Replications

y = Years

Genotypic Analysis

DNA from the BIL population lines, checks, and parental lines was extracted according to conditions prescribed by Triticarte Pty. Ltd. (http://www.triticarte.com.au/). A total of 171 BILs, two parental genotypes and nine checks were genotyped using Diversity Array Technology (DArT) assay, performed by Triticarte Pty. Ltd. (Canberra, Australia; http://www.triticarte.com.au), as described by Akbari et al. (2006). An array of 2300 DArT markers, distributed across the entire durum wheat genome, was used to screen all lines. In addition, 305 microsatellite markers were tested for polymorphism on the parental lines using standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) conditions. These markers were selected from previously published wheat maps (Roder et al. 1998; Somers et al. 2004; Song et al. 2005) and consisted primarily of GWM (Gatersleben Wheat Microsatellites; Roder et al. 1995; Roder et al. 1998; Ganal and Roder 2007), WMC (Wheat Microsatellite Consortium; Gupta et al. 2002), Dupont Company (DuPw; Eujayl et al. 2002), CFA, CFD (INRA Clermont-Ferrand; Sourdille et al. 2004; Guyomarc'h et al. 2002), and BARC (Beltsville Agriculture Research Center; Song et al. 2005). PCR conditions were as originally described (Roder et al. 1998; Somers et al. 2004; Song et al. 2005). The PCR products were separated on 8% non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels and visualized using ethidium bromide.

Genetic Map Construction and QTL Analysis

The genotypic marker data for all the polymorphic DArT and SSR on 171 BILs was used to construct the linkage maps using MAPMAKER v. 2.0 (Lander et al. 1989). Briefly: A set of DART markers were selected and used as anchors based on available genetic maps (Mantovani et al. 2008; Peleg et al. 2008; Ghavami et al. 2011; Huang et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2013) to assign remaining markers to individual chromosomes. The main criteria for anchor marker selection were that they have been mapped only to one specific chromosome in earlier studies (Mantovani et al. 2008; Peleg et al. 2008; Ghavami et al. 2011; Huang et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2013), and in total, cover as much of each chromosome as possible. A minimum LOD score of 3.0 and maximum distance of 30 cM was used to assign markers to a particular group or chromosome. Map distances were calculated from recombination fractions using the Kosambi mapping function (Kosambi 1943). Linkage maps were established using MapChart (Voorrips 2002).

QTL analysis was carried out by composite interval mapping (CIM) using QTL Cartographer V2.5 (Wang et al. 2006). To detect authentic QTL, we used model 6 with forward and backward step-wise regression, five markers as cofactors to control genetic background, and a 10 cM genome-wide scan window. A minimum LOD score of 2.0 was used for determining the presence of a putative QTL. Confidence intervals (CI) were obtained using positions ± 1 LOD away from the peak and the QTL with overlapping CIs were considered as same. Permutation test using 500 iterations also was performed to determine threshold LOD scores for each trait in in each environment with 5% error rate. QTL above threshold LOD scores were considered definitive QTL.

Results

Phenotypic Analysis

There were significant differences among genotypes including the parents for disease severity resistance when evaluated in the field and the greenhouse (Table 3.1). There were significant differences among genotypes for all traits except 3ADON (Table 3.1). The low genetic variability for accumulation of the toxin in our experimental population could be the reason for lack of difference among genotypes for this trait. Correlations were computed for years and disease evaluations, tested for homogeneity, and pooled when deemed appropriate. There was no correlation between the disease severity (disease spread) in the greenhouse screening and field trial for 2010; however, a low but significant correlation was observed

between the greenhouse and the field experiments in 2011 (0.18, P<0.01). Significant positive correlation was found between the years for field (r=0.26, P< 0.0005) and greenhouse (r=0.16, P<0.04).

Since FDK, DON, 3ADON, and 15ADON were evaluated only at one location, the correlations between these factors were calculated only for 2011. Positive significant correlations were observed between disease severity in field and FDK (r = 0.51, p < 0.0001), FDK and DON (r = 0.30, P < 0.0001), and DON -3ADON, -15ADON -NIV, and 3ADON and 15ADON (Table 2). However, disease severity in field was not correlated with DON components (Table 3.2). Broad sense heritability estimates for resistance to disease severity in field 0.23, disease severity in greenhouse 0.44, FDK 0.87, DON 0.43, 3ADON 0.9, 15ADON 0.47 and Niv 0.58 were calculated. Heritability estimates for FDK, DON 3ADON, 15ADON, and Niv are upward biased for they were calculated based on one environment and genotype by environment interaction could not be taken into account.

Transgressive segregation for resistance to FHB severity and incidence was observed within the population (Figure 3.1). Approximately 8% of the lines performed better than the resistant parent in the field for incidence and 25-30% of lines evaluated in the greenhouse for severity. Wide range of variation and transgressive segregation was observed for FDK within the population (Figure 3.2).

Genetic Map

Seventy one out of 305 microsatellite markers tested detected polymorphism between the two parental genotypes Tunisian 108 and Ben. DArT analysis identified an additional 310 polymorphic markers. These 381 markers (71 SSRs and 310 DArTs) were used to genotype the

mapping population comprised of 171 BILs. However, 30 highly distorted DArT markers were excluded. Therefore a total of 351 markers were used for genetic map construction. At a minimum LOD of 3 a total of 329 markers (267 DArT s and 62 SSRs) were mapped to 239 unique loci located on 13 chromosomes in exception of chromosomes 4B (Figure 3.3). The number of markers mapped on individual chromosomes varied from seven on 3A to 66 on 3B. The 329 mapped markers, representing 239 unique loci, covered a total genetic distance of 1887.6 cM, with an average distance of 7.89 cM between any two loci. The total genetic distance for B genome chromosomes was 1116.8 cM, and 770.8cM for A genome chromosomes. Individual chromosome lengths varied from 16.9 cM for 3A to 217.3 cM for 5B. Comparative investigation showed 211 out of 329 DArT and SSR mapped markers on Tunisian108/Beb//Ben (64.13%) were consistent with recently available bread and durum wheat maps (Marone et al. 2012; Mantovani et al. 2008; Akbari et al. 2006; Semagn et al. 2006; Crossa et al. 2007).

Distribution of Markers among Chromosomes and Genomes

The seven homologous groups of the tetraploid wheat genome varied in the number of markers, map length, and marker density. Total marker number and density was highest in homeologous group 3 (total 73 loci, with 3.20 cM per marker). Homeologous group 2 had the lowest marker number and density (total 27 loci, 10.26 cM per marker). Total map length was longest (381.9 cM) in group 1, whereas group 4 had the shortest map length (110.5 cM). Marker density also differed on the two genomes, with 182 (55.32%) markers mapped to the B genome and 149 (45.29%) to the A genome. Although DArT analysis revealed 11 polymorphic markers for chromosome 4B, they were excluded from mapping process due to unexpected distortion.

Lack of polymorphic microsatellite loci on chromosome 4B was another reason this portion of the genome was not mapped.

QTL Analysis

QTL analysis for FHB resistance in this population identified a total of eleven different regions significantly associated with the trait. These QTL were located on seven different chromosomes (1A, 1B, 2B, 3B, 5A, 5B, and 7B), with one QTL each on chromosome 1A, 2B and 3B, while two QTL each on chromosomes 1B, 5A, 5B and 7B. The majority of the FHB effective regions (8 out of 11) mapped to a B-genome chromosome, while only three regions mapped to A-genome chromosomes. These 17 QTL identified in 11 different regions include five regions significantly associated with Type II resistance in field trails, four with Type II resistance in greenhouse experiments, four with Type III (FDK) and four with Type V resistance (two with DON and two with 15ADON). The QTL located on chromosome 2B (*Qfhb.ndsu-2B*) was associated with resistance to type II, III and V FHB resistance. Another QTL located on chromosome 3B (*Qfhb.ndsu-3B*) was associated with Type II and Type V resistance. The remaining nine QTL were significantly associated with only one of the resistance types. The phenotypic variation controlled by these QTL ranged from 4.81% (Ofhb.ndsu-7B.1) to 23.74% (Ofhb.ndsu-5A.1). The positive alleles for increased resistance at six loci (including the QTL on chromosome 2B and 3B) were contributed by the moderately resistant Tunisian parent (Tun108), while positive alleles for increased resistance at five loci were contributed by the susceptible parent Ben (Table 3).

Discussion

For several decades, exploitation of new sources of resistance to FHB in bread wheat has been the most effective approach to breeding for FHB resistance. Despite well-known resources of FHB resistance in hexaploid wheat, sources with the same amount of resistance have not been found in tetraploid wheat. Incorporation of resistance sources from wild tetraploid and common wheat to durum were also encountered with limited achievement (Garvin et al. 2009; Kumar et al. 2007). The North Dakota State University (NDSU) durum wheat breeding program screened approximately 7,000 durum wheat accessions collected from all around the world without identifying potential resistance sources (Elias et al. 2005). In further investigation, NDSU durum wheat breeding program screened 1,500 accessions from the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA), which identified five Tunisian lines (Tunisian 7, 18, 34, 36 and 108) with moderate levels of Type II resistance (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012). The five Tunisian lines were used for introgression of FHB resistance into locally adapted cultivars. Huhn et al. (2012) reported that the Tunisian 7, 18, 34, 36 and 108 could possess novel QTL for FBH resistance. Ghavami et al. (2011) revealed that the genetic backgrounds of Tunisian lines are distinctly different from adapted cultivars. Further, some derived lines from these sources could rival the best resistant hexaploid wheat (e.g., Sumai 3) lines with FHB severity of 10 to 25%, possibly due to transgressive segregation. The same phenomena was observed in the current investigation where approximately 8% of lines in the field and 25-30% lines in the greenhouse showed lower levels of disease incidence and severity than the resistant parent. Transgressive segregation for FHB resistance has been observed in durum wheat lines carrying QTL from both parents of the cross (Somers et al. 2006). Ghavami et al. (2011) also observed the same phenomenon in a Tun34/Lebsock//Lebsock population, and they reported different

QTL for FHB severity from both parents and noted the possibility of having a 2A suppressor QTL (gene) in modern durum cultivars. The suppressor factor(s) may mask the resistant QTL and may be lacking in some lines showing transgressive segregation in the positive direction.

In two field screenings, most of the lines with low incidence showed low level of DON accumulation and FDK. Hence, selection for one type of resistance would indirectly enable selection for other types of resistance (Lemmens et al. 2005). Also, a few lines were identified with medium to high level of resistance, low FDK and DON accumulation. These lines provided resistance comparable with that shown in resistant hexaploid genotypes (Sumai 3 and Wangshubai). The significant positive correlations among incidence and FDK as well as FDK and DON content observed in this study also were confirmed in an earlier report (Malla 2005). Positive high correlation (r > 0.7) was observed between DON, 3ADON and 15A DON (Table 3.2). This suggests that selection for one trait may indirectly lead to gains in the other traits. The range for DON was quite wide (2.4 to114.4 ppm) compared to 15ADON, 3ADON and Niv (0.2-3.2, 0.2-1.5 and 0.3-1.9 ppm, respectively. The genetic variation and heritability ($h^2=44\%$) for DON also was comparable to 15ADON (47%) and Niv (59%). Therefore, measuring DON is a good indicator of pathogen toxicity for the isolates used in this study. It was reported that 93% of the pathogen isolates collected in North Dakota before 2008 produce DON and mainly 15A DON (Puri et al. 2010). Thus, having no variation for 3ADON in this population with the isolates used is expected. We also recommend adding the most aggressive new 3ADON isolates to the FHB screening mixtures in the future.

Despite significant genotype by environment interactions, heritability for resistance to FHB severity in field (44%) and greenhouse (23%) were enough to justify their selection in a

breeding program. FDK is a better indicator of FHB damage, because of its high heritability (h²=88%) and high positive correlation to disease severity in field and DON accumulation (Table 2). The significant positive correlations between FDK with disease severity and DON already have been confirmed by other studies (Bonin and Kolb 2009; Malla et al. 2010; Paul et al. 2005). Lines showing high levels of resistance have been tested in two additional seasons with multiple replications, and show consistent FHB resistance (unpublished results). We believe field FHB screening should be based on a mixture of Type I and Type II evaluations. Since both disease penetration (Type I) and disease spread through spike (Type II) are affected by environmental conditions, combination of the two indices and selection for both could decrease the environmental variance and increase the chances of selecting for more resistant lines. FHB field screening provides a better opportunity to select for FHB resistance, but reduces the heritability and the genetic gain in each round of selection.

Several QTL for different FHB-related traits were identified on chromosomes 1A, 1B, 2B, 3B, 5A, 5B and 7B. But as the genotype by environment effect was significant for all QTL, most QTL were inconsistent over different years except for the QTL on chromosome 2B and 3B (Table 3.3). Some of the QTL found in this study were identified previously on different chromosomes of durum wheat (Ruan et al. 2012). Interestingly, the majority of the QTL regions identified here were on B-genome chromosomes.

The DON accumulation QTL identified on chromosome 1A by this study, and two Type II FHB resistance QTL reported by Semagn et al. (2006) and Jiang *et al.* (2007a, b) seem to be in similar region. The two microsatellite markers linked to the two Type II QTL (*barc213* and *barc148*, respectively) were tested on our experimental population but were monomorphic;
however, DArT markers closely linked to DON QTL in this study (*wPt0767*) were mapped with above mentioned microsatellite markers in a close linkage group by Marone et al. (2012). Taken together these data suggest the QTL for DON accumulation and Type II resistance on 1A maybe the same or represent tightly linked loci.

A QTL was identified on the long arm of Chromosome 1B using combined field 2010 and 2011 data. The QTL was not observed in either of the individual field year environments, despite the homogeneity of the 2010 and 2011 field data. The QTL was derived from the recurrent parent 'Ben', with r^2 =16.3. The QTL was located to the middle of the long arm of Chromosome 1B (Akbari et al. 2006, Marone et al. 2011). Several other researchers also reported FHB resistance factors on chromosome 1B, at varied locations (Shen et al. 2003, Semagn et al. 2007, Li et al. 2012). The relationship of the QTL we identified to those factors cannot be established, due to their indeterminate placement.

The novel QTL *Qfhb.ndsu-2B* with multiple components of resistance showed significant effect in field and greenhouse screening, with $r^2 = 6\%$. *Qfhb.ndsu-2BL* spans a 19.2 cM marker interval. The marker (*gwm71*) linked to this interval has been mapped to the short arm of chromosome 2B in various mapping studies (Roder et al. 1998, Marone et al. 2012). To date, a number of FHB QTL have been reported on chromosome 2B (Buerstmayr et al. 2009); some of which were localized to the short arm of chromosome 2B (Somers et al. 2006, Gervais et al. 2003). These QTL appear located on a different region of chromosome 2B than is presented here.

The QTL found on chromosome 3B in this investigation is not detected as the same location as *Qfhs.ndsu-3BS* from *T. aestivum* (Waldron et al. 1999) or *T.turgidum* var. durum

(Tun34) reported recently (Ghavami et al. 2011). The chromosome 3B QTL identified for Type I, II and V resistance is apparently different from *Fhb1*-QTL reported by Waldron et al. (1999) and Anderson *et al.* (2001). The interval for this QTL (*Xbarc229* and *XwPt9766*) located on long arm of chromosome 3B (Xu et al. 2008; Marone et al. 2012). To date there are at least three reports for 3BL-FHB Type II resistance QTL, however the associated microsatellite loci with these three QTL (*Xgwm247*, *Xgwm131b* and *Xgwm285*) do not correspond to the same region of the 3BL-QTL identified in this investigation. Although there are numerous reports that confirm the important role of the short arm of 3B to various types of *Fusarium* resistance, only Type II resistance has been reported for the long arm of this chromosome (Bourdoncle et al. 2003; Paillard et al. 2004; Liu et al. 2007). Thus, the FHB-3BL QTL reported in this investigation may be a novel resistance factor, with effect on multiple indices of FHB resistance.

A QTL with large effect on severity and a QTL with small effect on FDK adjacent to marker locus *Xbarc141* on chromosome 5A in this study were identified. These QTL are apparently in the same region as the QTL with linked loci *Xgwm293* and *Xgwm156* reported by Buerstmayr et al. (2003a,b). Marone et al. (2012) mapped these two later markers in a 37.9 cM region containing *Xbarc141*. Yang et al. (2005) also reported a QTL for incidence with minor effect at the same chromosomal region including *Xgwm293*. Chen et al. (2006) validated a major QTL at the same chromosomal region between *Xbarc117* and *Xbarc187*. There are numerous reports for a QTL on chromosome 5A with minor effects on disease incidence and severity associated with different markers (Jiang et al. 2007a,b; Lin et al. 2006; Steiner et al. 2004; Gervais et al. 2003; Shen et al. 2003; Paillard et al. 2004). Interestingly, the location of the QTL with large effect on chromosome 5A identified for severity and FDK is proximal to QTL regions detected in *T. aestivum* and *T. macha* (Buerstmayr et al. 2002; Buerstmayr et al. 2011).

Buerstmayer et al. (2003a, b) proposed that the *Qfhs.ifa-5A* contributes to both Type I and to a lesser extent, Type II resistance. In contrast, we have observed contribution ($r^2=19\%$) toward severity measured in the greenhouse screening (Type II), but we were unable to identify any QTL for incidence measured in the field screening. The low heritability of Type II resistance in the field screening (0.23) could be explained by the masking effect of QTL contributing to disease incidence. Another explanation for diminished effect could be that the genetic background of material used in the present study differs from that used by Buerstmayer et al. (2003a, b). Identifying a QTL for FDK in almost the same area and existence of a significant correlation (0.51) between FDK and incidence suggests this QTL may have contribution toward incidence as well.

Comparing the flanking DArT markers of the two QTL regions for FHB Type II resistance mapped on chromosome 7B in this study with the cumulative maps provided by Marone et al. (2012) and Mantovani et al. (2008) indicated that, they are located on proximal and distal regions of 7BS. The resistance QTL located on distal part of 7BS, was derived from the recurrent parent 'Ben'. This FHB QTL has been identified in moderately resistant cultivars 'Dream' (Schmolke et al. 2005; Haberle et al. 2007) and 'Cansas' (Klahr et al. 2007). In all studies, this FHB resistance QTL was linked to Xgwm46; however, the marker for this locus was not polymorphic in the population studied here. The type I FHB resistance QTL located on the proximal region of 7BS has not been reported in any other investigation. Further analysis indicates that the type II FHB resistance QTL identified by Ghavami et al. (2011) in Tunisian background and Type I FHB resistance QTL identified by Gilsinger et al. (2005) derived from cultivar 'Goldfield' are both located on long arm of 7B chromosome.

Conclusions

The ultimate goal of a breeding program for FHB resistance is to reduce the disease symptom and mycotoxin accumulation in the seeds. In this study, we could detect promising resistance line with low level of infection and mycotoxin contamination. The novel *Qfhb.ndsu-2B* durum wheat FHB QTL found in this study shows utility for conferring resistance to multiple FHB resistance components, including severity (measured in the greenhouse), DON and FDK (measured in the field). There also was a QTL identified for disease severity in field in close proximity to *Qfhb.ndsu-2B*. Therefore, using marker assisted selection for introgression of this chromosome segment may be beneficial for developing FHB resistance in durum wheat populations. The 5A QTL found in this study locates very close to *Qfhs.ifa-5A* in spring wheat, and also locates close to *Qfhb.usw-5A*, found recently in durum wheat indicate that, this FHB resistance QTL is from a common ancestor and predates the wheat and durum speciation event(s).

References

- Akbari M, Wenzl P, Caig V, Carlig J, Xia L, Yang S, Uszynski G, Mohler V, Lehmensiek A, Kuchel H, Hayden MJ, Howes N, Sharp P, Vaughan P, Rathmell B, Huttner E, Kilian A (2006) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome. Theor Appl Genet 113:1409-1420
- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla BR, Mitchell J, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for a Fusarium head blight QTL in two wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 102:1164-1168
- Arraiano LS, Chartrain L, Bossolini E, Slatter HN, Keller B, Brown JKM (2007) A gene in European wheat cultivars for resistance to an African isolate of *Mycosphaerella* graminicola. Plant Pathol 56:73-78
- Bai GH, Chen LF, Shaner GE (2003) Breeding for resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat in China. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds)

The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 11, pp. 296-317Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78760-766

- Bai G, Kolb FL, Shaner G, Domier LL (1999) Amplified fragment length polymorphism markers linked to a major quantitative trait locus controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathol 89:343-348
- Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78:760-766
- Bhat RV, Beedu SR, Ramakrishna Y, Munshi KL (1989) Outbreak of Trichothecene mycotoxicosis associated with consumption of mold-damaged wheat products in Kashmir Valley. India Lancet 1:35-37
- Bechtel DB, Kaleikau LA, Gaines RL, Seitz LM (1985) The effects of *Fusarium graminearum* infection on wheat kernels. Cereal Chemistry 62:191-197
- Bonin CM, Kolb FL (2009) Resistance to Fusarium head blight and kernel damage in a winter wheat recombinant inbred line population. Crop Science 49:1304-1312
- Bourdoncle W, Ohm HW (2003) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in recombinant inbred wheat lines from the cross Huapei 57-2/Patterson. Euphytica 131:131-136
- Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA (2009) QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed 128:1-26
- Buerstmayr M, Huber K, Heckmann J, Steiner B, Nelson JC, Buerstmayr H (2012) Mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance and morphological and developmental traits in three backcross populations derived from *Triticum dicoccum* × *Triticum durum*. Theor Appl Genet 125:1751-1765.
- Buerstmayr M, Lemmens M, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H (2011) Advanced backcross QTL mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight and plant morphological traits in a *Triticum* macha × T. aestivum population. Theor Appl Genet 123:293-306.I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor Appl Genet 104:84-91
- Buerstmayr H, Steiner B, Hartl L, Griesser M, Angerer N, Lengauer D, Miedaner T, Schneider B, Lemmens M (2003a) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. II. Resistance to fungal penetration and spread. Theor Appl Genet 107:503-508
- Buerstmayr H, Stierschneider M, Steiner B, Lemmens M. Griesser M, Nevo E, Fahima T (2003b) Variation for resistance to head blight caused by Fusarium graminearum in wild emmer (*Triticum dicoccoides*) originating from Israel. Euphytica 130:17-23

- Burgess LW, Klein TA, Bryden WL, and N.F. Tobin. 1987. Head Blight of Wheat Caused by *Fusarium graminearum* Group 1 in New South Wales in 1983. Aust J Plant Pathol. 16:72-78.
- Campbell KAG, Lipps PE (1998) Allocation of resources: sources of variation in Fusarium head blight screening nurseries. Phytopathol 88:1078-1086
- Chen Y, Wang JX, Zhou MG, Chen CJ, Yuan SK (2007) Vegetative compatibility of *Fusarium graminearum* isolates and genetic study on their carbendazim resistance recombination in China. Phytopathol 97:1584-1589
- Chen J, Griffey CA, Saghai Maroof MA, Stromgerg EL, Biyashev RM, Zhao W, Chappell MR, Pridgen TH, Dong Y, Zeng Z (2006) Validation of two major quantitative trait loci for Fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese wheat line W14. Plant Breed 125:99-101
- Crossa J, Burgueno J, Dreisigacker S, Vargas M, Herrera-Foessel SA, Lillemo M, Singh RP, Trethowan R, Warburton M, Franco J, Reynolds M, Crouch JH, Ortiz R (2007) Association analysis of historical bread wheat germplasm using additive genetic covariance of relatives and population structure Genetics 177:1889-1913
- Elias EM, Manthey FA, Stack RW, Kianian SF (2005) Breeding efforts to develop Fusarium head blight resistant durum wheat in North Dakota. In: Canty SM, Boring T, Wardwell J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc 2005 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Milwaukee, WI, 11–13 Dec 2005, Michigan State University, East Lansing, pp 25-26
- Elias EM, Miller J.D (1998) Registration of 'Ben' durum wheat. Crop Sci 38:895-896
- Elias EM, Manthey FA (2007) Registration of "Divide" Durum wheat. J Crop Regist 1:7-8
- Elias EM, Miller JD (2000) Registration of 'Maier' Durum Wheat. Crop Sci 40:1498-1499
- Elias EM, Miller JD, Manthey FA (2001) Registration of 'Lebsock' Durum Wheat. Crop Sci 41:2007-2008.
- Eujayl I, Sorrells ME, Baum M, Wolters P, Powel W (2002) Isolation of EST-derived microsatellite markers for genotyping the A and B genomes of wheat. Theor Appl Genet 104:399-407
- Foroud NA, Eudes F (2009) Trichothecenes in cereal grains. Int J Mol Sci 10:147-173
- Frohberg RC, Stack RW, Mergoum M (2004) Registration of spring wheat germplasm ND2710 resistant to Fusarium head blight. Crop Sci. 44:1498-1499
- Ganal MW, Roder MS (2007) Microsatellite and SNP markers in wheat breeding Genomics. 1-24

- Garvin D, Stack R, Hansen J (2009) Quantitative trait locus mapping of increased Fusarium head blight susceptibility associated with a wild emmer wheat chromosome. Phytopathol 99:447-452
- Ghavami F, Elias EM, Mamidi S, Ansari O, Sargolzaei M, Adhikari T, Mergoum M, Kianian SF (2011) Mixed model association mapping for Fusarium head blight resistance in Tunisianderived durum wheat populations. Gen Genom Genet 1:209-218
- Gervais L, Dedryver F, Morlais JY, Bodusseau V, Negre S, Bilous M, Groos C, Trottet M (2003) Mapping of quantitative trait loci for field resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 106:961-970
- Gilbert J, Tekauz A (2000) Review: Recent developments in research on Fusarium head blight of wheat in Canada. Can J Plant Pathol 22: 1-8
- Gilbert J, Procunier JD, Aung T (2000) Influence of the D genome in conferring resistance to Fusarium head blight in spring wheat. Euphytica 114:181-186
- Gilsinger J, Kong L, Shen X, Ohm H (2005) DNA markers associated with low Fusarium head blight incidence and narrow flower opening in wheat. Theor Appl Genet.110:1218-1225
- Gladysz C, Lemmens M, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H (2007) Evaluation and genetic mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight in *Triticum dicoccoides*. Isr J Plant Sci 55:263-266
- Gosman N, Chandler E, Thomsett M, Draeger R, Nicholson P (2005) Analysis of the relationship between parameters of resistance to Fusarium head blight and in vitro tolerance to deoxynivalenol of the winter wheat cultivar WEK0609 (R). Eur J Plant Pathol 111:57-66
- Gupta PK, Balyan HS, Edwards KJ, Isaac P, Korzun V, Roder M, Gautier MF, Joudrier P, Schlatter AR, Dubcovsky J, De la Pena RC, Khairallah M, Penner G, Hayden MJ, Sharp P, Keller B, Wang RCC, Hardouin JP, Jack P, Leroy P (2002) Genetic mapping of 66 new microsatellite (SSR) loci in bread wheat. Theor Appl Genet 105:413-422
- Guyomarc'h H, Sourdille P, Edwards KJ, Bernard M (2002) Studies of the transferability of microsatellites derived from *Triticum tauschii* to hexaploid wheat and to diploid related species using amplification, hybridization and sequence comparisons. Theor Appl Genet 105:736-744
- Haberle J, Schmolke M, Schweizer G, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E, Zimmermann G, Hartl L (2007) Effects of two major Fusarium head blight resistance QTL verified in a winter wheat backcross population. Crop Sci 47:1823-1831
- Huang BE, George AW, Forrest KL, Kilian A, Hayden MJ, Morell MK, Cavanagh CR (2012) A multiparent advanced generation inter-cross population for genetic analysis in wheat. Plant Biotech J 10:826-839

- Huhn M, Elias E, Ghavami F, Kianian S, Chao S, Zhong S, Alamri M, Yahyaoui A, Mergoum M (2012) Tetraploid Tunisian wheat germplasm as a new source of Fusarium head blight resistance. Crop Sci 52:136-145
- Jiang GL, Shi JR, Ward RW (2007a) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ9306. I. Resistance to fungal spread. Theor Appl Genet 116:3-13
- Jiang GL, Dong Y, Shi J, Ward RW (2007b) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ 9306. II. Resistance to deoxynivalenol accumulation and grain yield loss. Theor Appl Genet 115:1043-1052
- Klahr A, Zimmermann G, Wenzel G, Mohler V (2007) Effects of environment, disease progress, plant height and heading date on the detection of QTLs for resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat cross. Euphytica 154:17-28.
- Kosambi DD (1943) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Ann Eugen 12:172-175
- Kriel WM, Pretorius ZA (2008) The FHB challenge to irrigation wheat production in South Africa. Cereal Res Commun 36:569-571
- Kumar A, Elias EM, Ghavami F, Xu X, Jain S, Manthey FA, Mergoum M, Alamri MS, Kianian PMA, Kianian SF (2013) A major QTL for gluten strength in durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. durum). J Cereal Sci 57: 21-29
- Kumar S, Stack R, Friesen T, Faris J (2007) Identification of a novel Fusarium head blight resistance quantitative trait locus on chromosome 7A in tetraploid wheat. Phytopathol 97:592-597
- Lander ES, Botstein D (1989) Mapping mendelian factors underlying quantitative traits using RFLP linkage maps. Genetics 121:185-199
- Lemmens M, Scholz U, Berthiller F, Dall'Asta C, Koutnik A, Schuhmacher R, Adam G, Buerstmayr H, Mesterhazy A, Krska R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) The ability to detoxify the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol colocalizes with a major QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 18:1318-24
- Lin F, Xue SL, Zhang ZZ, Zhang CQ, Kong ZX, Yao GQ, Tian DG, Zhu HL, Li CJ, Cao Y, Wei JB, Luo QY, Ma ZQ (2006) Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Nanda2419×Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet 112:528-535
- Liu S, Abate ZA, Lu H, Musket T, Davis GL, McKendry AL (2007) QTL associated with Fusarium head blight resistance in the soft red winter wheat Ernie. Theor Appl Genet 115:417-427

- Malla S, Ibrahim AMH, Yen Y, Berzonsky W, Glover KD, Stein J (2010) Quantitative trait Loci analysis of novel Fusarium head blight resistance in Tokai 66. Amer J Agri Biol Sci 5:62-69
- Malla S (2005) Inheritance of Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. MS. Thesis, South Dakota State University, Brookings, SD
- Mantovani P, Maccaferri M, Sanguineti MC, Tuberosa R, Catione I, Wenzl P, Thomson B, Carling J, Huttner E, De Ambrogio E, Kilian A (2008) An integrated DArT-SSR linkage map of durum wheat. Mol Breed 22:629-648
- Marone D, Laido G, Gadaleta A, Colasuonno P, Ficco DBM, Giancaspro A, Giove S, Panio G, Russo MA, De Vita P, Cattivelli L, Papa R, Blanco A, Mastrangelo AM (2012) A highdensity consensus map of A and B wheat genomes. Theor Appl Genet 125:1619-1638
- Mardi M, Pazouki L, Delavar H, Kazemi MB, Ghareyazie B, Steiner B, Nolz R, Lemmens M, Buerstmayr H (2006) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a Frontana-derived population. Plant Breed 125:313-317
- Mardi M, Buerstmayr H, Ghareyazie B, Lemmens M, Mohammadi SA, Nolz R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a 'Wangshuibai'-derived population. Plant Breed 124:329-333
- McMullen M (2003) Impacts of fusarium head blight on North American agricultural community: The power of one disease to catapult change. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR, (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 18, pp 484-503
- Mesterhazy A (1995) Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant Breed 114:377-386
- Nganje WE, Kaitibie S, Wilson WW, Leistritz FL, Bangsund D.A (2004) Economic impacts of Fusarium head blight in wheat and barley: 1993-2001. Agribusiness and Applied Economics Rep. No. 538. North Dakota State Univ, Fargo
- Nganje WE, Bangsund DA, Leistnitz FL, Wilson WW, Tiapo NM (2002) Estimating the economic impact of a crop disease: the case of Fusarium head blight in U.S. wheat and barley. In: Canty SM, Lewis J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc (2002) National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Erlanger, KY, 7-9 Dec 2002, Michigan State University, pp 275-281
- Oliver R, Stack R, Miller J, Cai X (2007) Reaction of wild emmer wheat accessions to Fusarium head blight. Crop Sci 47:893-899
- Oliver RE, Cai X, Xu SS, Chen X, Stack RW (2005) Wheat alien species derivatives: A novel source of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat. Crop Sci 45:1353-1360

- Otto CD, Kianian SF, Elias EM, Stack RW, Joppa LR (2002) Genetic dissection of a major Fusarium head blight QTL in tetraploid wheat. Plant Mol Biol 48:625-632
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Tiwari R, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B, Schachermayr G (2004) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in Swiss winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:323-332
- Parry DW, Jenkinson P, McLeod L (1995) Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals: A review. Plant Pathol 44:207-238
- Paul PA, Lipps PE, Madden LV (2005) Relationship between visual estimates of Fusarium head blight intensity and deoxynivalenol accumulation in harvested wheat grain: A metaanalysis. Phytopathol 95:1225-1236
- Peleg Z, Saranga Y, Suprunova T, Ronin Y, Roder MS, Kilian A, Korol AB, Fahima T (2008) High-density genetic map of durum wheat x wild emmer wheat based on SSR and DArT markers. Theor Appl Genet 117:103-115
- Puri KD, Zhong S (2010) The 3ADON population of Fusarium graminearum found in North Dakota is more aggressive and produces a higher level of DON than the prevalent 15ADON population in spring wheat. Phytopathol 100:1007-1014
- Roder MS, Korzun V, Wendehake K, Plaschke J, Tixier MH, Leroy P, Ganal MW (1998) A microsatellite map of wheat. Genetics 149:2007-2023
- Roder MS, Plaschke J, Konig SU, Borner A, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD, Ganal MW (1995) Abundance, variability and chromosomal location of microsatellites in wheat. Mol Gen Genet 246:327-333
- Rudd JC, Horsley RD, McKendry AL, Elias EM (2001) Host plant resistance genes for Fusarium head blight: sources, mechanisms and utility in conventional breeding systems. Crop Sci 41:620-627
- Ruan YF, Comeau A, Langevin F, Hucl P, Clarke JM, Brule-Babel A, Pozniak CJ (2012) Identification of novel QTL for resistance to Fusarium head blight in a tetraploid wheat population. Genome 55:853-864
- Schmolke M, Zimmermann G, Buerstmayr H, Schweizer G, Miedaner T, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E, Hartl L (2005) Molecular mapping of Fusarium head blight resistance in the winter wheat population Dream/Lynx. Theor Appl Genet 111:747-756
- Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ (1963) Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by *Gibberella zeae*. Phytopathol 53:831-838
- Scott DB, De Jager EJH, Van Wyk PS (1988) Head blight of irrigated wheat in South Africa. Phytophylactica 20:317-319

- Semagn K, Bjornstad A, Skinnes H, Maroy AG, Tarkegne Y, Genome MW (2006) Distribution of DArT, AFLP, and SSR markers in a genetic linkage map of a doubled-haploid hexaploid wheat population. Genome 49:545-555
- Semagn K, Skinnes , Bjørnstad A, Guri-Marøy A, Tarkegne Y (2007) Quantitative trait loci controlling Fusarium head blight resistance and low Deoxynivalenol content in hexaploid wheat population from 'Arina' and NK93604. Crop Sci 47:294-303
- Shen X, Ittu M, Ohm H (2003) Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci 43:850-857
- Snijders CHA, Perkowski J (1990) Effects of head blight caused by Fusarium culmorum on toxin content and weight of wheat kernels. Phytopathol 80:566-570
- Somers DJ, Fedak G, Clarke J, Cao W (2006) Mapping of FHB resistance QTLs in tetraploid wheat. Genome 49:1586-1593
- Somers DJ, Isaac P, Edwards K (2004) A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:1105-1114
- Song QJ, Shi JR, Singh S, Fickus EW, Costa JM, Lewis J, Gil BS, Ward R, Cregan PB (2005) Development and mapping of microsatellite (SSR) markers in wheat. Theor Appl Genet 110:550-560
- Sourdille P, Singh S, Cadalen T, Brown-Guedira G, Gay G, Qi L, Gill BS, Dufour P, Murigneux A, Bernard M (2004) Microsatellite-based deletion bin system for the establishment of genetic-physical map relationships in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Funct Integr Genomics 4:12-25
- Srinivasachary, Gosman N, Steed A, Simmonds J, Leverington-Waite M, Wang Y, Snape J, Nicholson P (2008) Susceptibility to Fusarium head blight is associated with the Rht-D1b semi-dwarfing allele in wheat. Theor Appl Genet 116:1145-1153
- Stack RW (2003) History of Fusarium head blight with emphasis on North America. In: Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds.) Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley. APSPress, St. Paul, MN, pp 1-34
- Stack RW (1989) A comparison of the inoculum potential of ascospores and conidia of Gibberella zeae. Can J Plant Pathol 11:137-142
- Stack RW, McMullen MP (1985) Head blight potential of Fusarium species with spring wheat heads. Can J Plant Pathol 7:79-82
- Steiner B, Lemmens M, Griesser M, Scholz U, Schondelmaier J, Buerstmayr H (2004) Molecular mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the spring wheat cultivar Frontana. Theor Appl Genet 109:215-224

- Triticarte Pty. Ltd. Triticarte whole-genome genotyping service for wheat and barley. Available at: http://www.triticarte.com.au/
- Voorrips RE (2002) MapChart: Software for graphical presentation of linkage maps and QTLs. J Hered 93:77-78
- Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC (1999) RFLP mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci 39:805-811
- Wang S, Basten CJ, Zeng ZB (2006) Windows QTL Cartographer 2.5. North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC. (http://statgen.ncsu.edu/qtlcart/WQTLCart.htm)
- Wang YZ (1996) Epidemiology and management of wheat scab in China. In: Fusarium Head Scab: Global Status and Future Prospects, Dubin HJ, Gilchrist L, Reeves J, McNab A (eds.) CIMMYT, Mexico, pp:130-131
- Xu XM, Nicholson P, Thomsett MA, Simpson D, Cooke BM, Doohan FM, Brennan J, Monaghan S, Moretti A, Mule G, Homok L, Beki E, Tatnell J, Ritieni A, Edwards SG (2008) Relationship between the fungal complex causing Fusarium head blight of wheat and environmental conditions. Phytopathol 98:69-78
- Yang ZP, Gilbert J, Fedak G, Somers DJ (2005) Genetic characterization of QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in a doubled-haploid spring wheat population. Genome 48:187-196
- Zhou WC, Kolb FL, Bai GH, Shaner G, Domier LL (2002) Genetic analysis of scab resistance QTL in wheat with microsatellite and AFLP markers. Genome 45:719-727Agarwal M,. Shrivastava N, Padh H (2008) Advances in molecular marker techniques and their applications in plant sciences. Plant Cell Rep 27:617-631

	Disease value (%)				Toxin value (ppm)				
	F2010 ^a	F2011 ^a	GH2010 ^b	GH2011 ^b	FDK ^c	DON ^d	3ADON ^e	15ADON ^f	Niv ^g
Population Mean	71	69	40	69	66.71	34.12	0.43	0.80	0.36
Std Dev ^h	11	21	22	20	21.29	19.75	0.23	0.46	0.22
Minimum	30	15	07	25	10	2.40	0.20	0.2	0.30
Maximum	93	95	100	95	100	114.40	1.50	3.20	1.90
Ben	80	82	81	75	85	17.5	0.40	0.40	0.40
Tunisian 108	50	54	46	50	60	25.0	0.40	0.40	0.5
LSD1 (0.05)	21	21	21	21	14.76	25.35	0.37	0.56	0.22
LSD2 (0.05)	29	29	29	29	20.60	35.70	0.53	0.79	0.30

Table 3.1. Disease severity and toxin levels in Tunisian108/Ben//Ben BC1F7 population across the experiments

^a. Field experiment
^b. Greenhouse experiment
^c. Fusarium damaged kernel
^d. Deoxynivalenol
^e. 3-acetate deoxynivalenol

♂ ^f. 15-acetate deoxynivalenol

^g. Nivalenol

^h. Standard deviation

LSD1 compare BIL population mean to parents; LSD2 compare two BILs

Traits	Dis.Inc ^a	FDK ^b	DON ^c	3ADON ^d	15ADON ^e	Niv ^f
Dis.Sev ^a		0.51	0.12	0.07	0.13	0.17
		<.0001	0.1082	0.3646	0.0914	0.0289
FDK ^b			0.30	0.14	0.16	0.04
			<.0001	0.0649	0.0425	0.5626
DON ^c				0.77	0.83	0.29
				<.0001	<.0001	<.0.0001
3ADON ^d					0.71	0.27
					<.0001	0.0004
15ADON ^e						0.20
						0.0089
Niv ^f						

Table 3.2. Correlation coefficient between different FHB components; Field experiment, 2011

^a. Disease severity
^b. Fusarium damaged kernel
^c. Deoxynivalenol
^d. 3-acetate deoxynivalenol
^e 15-acetate deoxynivalenol
^f. Nivalenol

Table 3.3. Putative QTL for FHB severity, FDK and toxic components detected in Tunasian108/Ben//Ben BC₁F₇ BIL mapping population

Trait	Env.	QTL	Marker interval	Positions (cM)	LOD	Additive effect	$R^{2}(\%)$
FHB Severity	GH 2010	Qfhb.ndsu-2B	Xwmc96-Xbarc353	74.11	2.893	0.692	6.1
FHB Severity	GH 2010	Qfhb.ndsu-3B	Xwpt0384-Xbarc229	167.91	4.44	0.8003	10.8
FHB Severity	GH2010	Qfhb.ndsu-5A	Xbarc2187-Xbarc141	86.21	6.881	1.1718	23.7
FHB Severity	GH 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-5B	Xwpt5928-Xwpt5604	127.91	2.00	-0.497	5.1
FHB Severity	Avg across GH	Qfhb.ndsu-2B	Xwmc96-Xbarc353	76.11	2.523	0.5552	7.0
FHB Severity	Avg across GH	Qfhb.ndsu-3B	Xwpt0384-Xbarc229	163.91	3.217	0.5389	7.8
FHB Severity	Avg across GH	\overline{Q} fhb.ndsu-5A	Xbarc2187-Xbarc141	88.21	5.539	0.9963	19.1
FHB Severity	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-2B	Xgwm71-Xbarc297	61.81	2.127	0.6187	5.8
FHB Severity	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-3B	Xwpt0384-Xbarc229	142.61	3.518	0.7141	8.5
FHB Severity	Field 2011	\overline{Q} fhb.ndsu-7B	Xwpt7975-Xwpt5846	3.91	2.154	-0.4957	4.8
FHB Severity	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-7B	Xgpw1054-Xwpt0884	47.91	4.342	0.7856	9.7
FHB Severity	Avg across field	Qfhb.ndsu-1B	Xwpt1818-Xwpt5061	156.81	3.06	-0.746	16.3
FHB Severity	Avg across field	Qfhb.ndsu-7B	Xwpt7975-Xwpt5846	3.91	4.182	-0.4348	9.5
DON	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-1A	Xwpt7784-Xwpt6853	146.81	2.063	-4.5926	4.8
DON	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-2B	Xbarc297-Xwmc96	70.41	2.887	7.7066	10.0
15ADON	Field 2011	\overline{Q} fhb.ndsu-2B	Xgwm71-Xbarc297	70.41	2.155	0.1393	6.1
15ADON	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-3B	Xwpt0384-Xbarc229	161.91	2.337	0.1285	5.4
FDK	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-1B	Xgwm264-Xwpt3451	81.31	5.124	7.8064	11.7
FDK	Field 2011	Qfhb.ndsu-2B	Xwmc96-Xbarc353	78.11	2.273	6.4989	6.1
FDK	Field 2011	\overline{Q} fhb.ndsu-5A	Xbarc141-Xwpt4248	101.01	3.305	-6.6074	7.1
FDK	Field 2011	\overline{Q} fhb.ndsu-5B	Xwpt6902-Xwpt5514	22.01	2.084	6.5267	7.8

ΓT

^a. Deoxynivalenol ^b. 15-acetate deoxynivalenol ^c. Fusaruim Damaged Kernel ^d. Environments



Figure 3.1. Frequency distribution of FHB severity and incidence means among BIL genotypes in Tun108/Ben//Ben population in two greenhouse and two field experiments during 2010 to 2011. The average of FHB infection for the parents and the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows



Figure 3.2. Frequency of Fusarium damaged kernels (FDK) means among genotypes in Tun108/Ben//Ben population in 2011 field experiments. The average of FDK for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows



Figure 3.3. Genetic linkage mape of 329 mapped markes and putative QTL for Type II, III and V identified in BC₁F₇BIL population derived from cross between Tunisian108/Ben//Ben. (F=Field; GH=greenhouse)



Figure 3.3. Genetic linkage mape of 329 mapped markes and putative QTL for Type II, III and V identified in BC₁F₇BIL population derived from cross between Tunisian108/Ben//Ben (continued). (F=Field; GH=greenhouse)



Figure 3.3. Genetic linkage mape of 329 mapped markes and putative QTL for Type II, III and V identified in BC₁F₇BIL population derived from cross between Tunisian108/Ben//Ben (continued). (F=Field; GH=greenhouse)



Figure 3.3. Genetic linkage mape of 329 mapped markes and putative QTL for Type II, III and V identified in BC₁F₇BIL population derived from cross between Tunisian108/Ben//Ben (continued). (F=Field; GH=greenhouse)

CHAPTER IV. IDENTIFICATION OF QTL FOR FUSARIUM HEAD BLIGH RESISTANCE IN A TUNISIAN DURUM WHEAT POPULATION

Abstract

Fusarium head blight (FHB) of wheat, caused primarily by Fusarium graminearum Schwabe [telomorph *Gibberella zea* (Schwein)], is a fungal disease that causes tremendous economic losses due to decrement in grain yield and quality. Direct and secondary economic losses, food safety concerns, and lack of effective resistance sources in durum wheat (Triticum turgidum L. var. Durum Desf.) continue to motivate FHB resistance research. A backcross inbred lines (BIL) population (BC_1F_7) of 172 individuals derived from a cross between an exotic resistant durum genotype 'Tunisian 108' and an adapted durum wheat cultivar 'Lebsock' was used to identify quantitative trait loci (QTL) for FHB resistance. FHB resistance was evaluated in two green houses and two field experiments. Analysis of variance showed significant genotypic effect on FHB severity and incidence. Transgressive segregation for FHB resistance was observed. A framework linkage map of 331 molecular markers was developed. The 331 markers represent 243 unique loci and cover a total distance of 1,748 cM between all marker loci. Composite interval mapping revealed 15 different QTL on seven different chromosomes (1A, 1B, 3A, 3B, 4A, 5A, and 6B). At least one novel QTL (*Qfhb.ndsu-4A*) on chromosome 4A was identified in this investigation which confers resistance to FHB severity. Our investigation confirms the breeding value of Tunisian lines for incorporation of resistance factors into adapted cultivars.

Introduction

Fusarium head blight is a devastating fungal disease of small grain cereals caused by different Fusarium genera in temperate regions worldwide. Despite a wide range of Fusarium species and strains, there is no report of a biological race with specific host-pathogen interaction. *Fusarium graminearum* Schwabe [teleomorph *Gibberella zeae* (Schw.) Petch] is the common causal pathogen for both bread wheat (*T. aestivum* L., 2n = 6x = 42, AABBDD) and durum wheat (*T. turgidum* L. var. durum, 2n = 4x = 28, AABB) worldwide (Chen et al. 2007).

FHB leads to severe loss in grain yield and quality owing to contamination with toxic fungal metabolites such as deoxynivalenol or nivalenol (Gilbert and Tekauz 2000; Stack, 2003). *Fusarium*-contaminated grain is the main source of mycotoxins in the food chain (Foroud and Edues 2009), making the infected grain unsuitable for consumption as food or feed (Bai et al. 2001; Gilbert and Tekauz 2000; Bechtel et al. 1985). FHB epidemics caused an estimated \$6.2 billion economic loss in the US Northern Great Plains alone from 1993-2001 (Nganje et al. 2004).

Five types of physiological resistance to FHB are the commonly presented in the literature; namely, resistance to (1) disease penetration or initial infection (Type I), (2) floral spread or fungal spread within the spike (Type II), (3) Fusarium Damaged Kernel (FDK; Type III), (4) yield reduction (Type IV) and (5) mycotoxin accumulation (Type V) (Schroeder and Christensen 1963; Mesterhazy, 1995). Owing to positive correlation between different resistance components, selection for one type of resistance may facilitate enhancing other types of FHB resistance in breeding programs (Lemmens et al. 2005).

85

Since cultural management practice and chemical controls are largely impractical or ineffective (Bai and Shaner 1994), exploration for new genetic resistance sources and their incorporation into adapted cultivars is the most efficacious strategy for reducing FHB damages (Buerstmayr et al. 2012). Whereas resistance to FHB is quantitatively inherited, phenotypic evaluation is complicated by significant genotype by environment interactions (Miedaneret al. 2001).

The genetics of FHB resistance has been extensively studied in hexaploid germplasm and derivatives using quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping (Waldron et al. 1999; Anderson et al. 2001; Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Li et al. 2011; Liu et al. 2012). As a result of these studies, numerous QTL located on all 21 chromosomes of wheat have been identified for different resistance types in bread wheat (for review, see Buerstmayr et al. 2009; Cativelli et al. 2013), although the resistance sources are mainly limited to cultivars such as 'Sumai3', 'Wangshuibai' (Mardi et al. 2005), and in some limited extent, 'Frontana', from Brazil (Mardi et al. 2006). In comparison to hexaploid wheat, genetic studies of FHB resistance in tetraploid wheat are few, as are resistance resources (Ghavami et al. 2011; Buerstmayr et al. 2012; Huhn et al. 2012). Limited resistance in tetraploid germplasm may be due to active susceptibility factors or suppressor genes (Ban and Watanabe 2001; Kishii et al. 2005). This hypothesis was reinforced when Garvin et al. (2009) reported the first QTL with FHB susceptibility effect and presumed epistatic influence on resistance QTL located on chromosome 2A of T. dicoccoides line Israel A. A like example of negative epistatic resistance gene effect was reported by Arraiano et al. (2007), whereby a suppressor gene located on wheat chromosome 5B in wheat increased susceptibility to Mycosphaerella graminicola.

Attempts to incorporate resistance from common wheat into durum wheat have had limited success, likely due to different ploidy levels and the existence of suppressor genes (Gilbert et al. 2000; Oliver et al. 2007; Ghavami et al. 2011), lack of D genome (Fakhfakh et al. 2011) and a narrower genetic base compared to bread wheat (Oliver et al. 2008). Lack of resistance sources has shifted investigations toward wild relatives of durum wheat. Prospective resistance sources have included wild emmer wheat, T. dicoccoides (Buerstmayr et al. 2003; Miller et al. 1998; Oliver et al. 2007), cultivated emmer wheat, T. dicoccum, and Persian durum wheat, T. carthlicum (Oliver et al. 2008); however, only a few moderately FHB-resistant accessions have been identified. Otto et al. (2002) reported the first FHB resistance QTL on 3A chromosome (Ofhs.ndsu-3AS), derived from T. dicoccoides accession Israel A and linked to microsatellite locus Xgwm2 (Chen et al. 2007). This QTL was further confirmed by Gladysz et al. (2007) in a BC₁-RIL population derived from cross between *T. durum* cultivar 'Helidur' (recurrent parent) and *T. dicoccoides* (donor parent), where it showed a larger effect. This study also identified two FHB resistance QTL from the susceptible parent (Helidur) on chromosomes 2B and 4A. Kumar et al. (2007) identified a QTL on 7A (*Qfhs.fcu-7AL*) from *T. dicoccoides* accession PI478742. Somers et al. (2006) identified two type II resistance QTL on the long arm of chromosome 2B and the short arm of chromosome 6B using a double haploid population derived from a cross between T. durum cultivar 'Strongfield' and T. carthlicum cultivar 'Blackbird'. The low contribution for FHB resistance from identified QTL in durum wheat background is a major obstacle to breeding FHB resistance. The QTL with the largest effect was detected for Type II resistance in durum wheat on chromosome 4B, and explained only 18% of the phenotypic variance (Buerstmayr et al. 2012).

For several decades, developing moderately resistant cultivars with lower disease symptom and mycotoxin accumulation have been a top priority in wheat breeding programs. Recent efforts to deploy new FHB resistance sources and enrich the locally adapted wheat germplasm have intensified (Elias, personal communication). In an effort to identify new sources of FHB resistance in durum wheat, approximately7,500 durum wheat accessions from across the world were screened for at North Dakota State University (NDSU), and five Tunisian lines (Tun7, Tun18, Tun34, Tun36 and Tun108) with moderate level of Type II FHB resistance were identified (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012).

Ghavami et al. (2011) used backcross inbred lines (BIL) developed by crossing four Tunisian tetraploid sources of resistance (Tun7, Tun18, Tun34, Tun36) with four different high yielding locally adopted durum cultivars (Ben,' 'Maier,' 'Lebsock,' and 'Mountrail) to identify several markers associated with FHB resistance. This study also showed that Tunisian-derived lines can provide FHB resistance comparable to best resistant hexaploid wheat (Sumai-3) sources.

The identification of new sources of resistance is always desirable in any breeding program to achieve higher FHB resistance levels through gene pyramiding. Similarly, it also is important to understand the genetics of resistance in order to utilize these sources more effectively using modern biotechnological tools like molecular markers. In this direction, we used to Tunisian tetraploid lines identified as FHB resistant sources (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012) to develop several mapping population using susceptible or moderately resistant locally adopted cultivars to understand the genetics of FHB resistance in these lines. In the present study, a BIL population was developed from a cross of 'Tunisian 108' and 'Lebsock'. Tunisian 108 is an exotic Tunisian durum wheat genotype with moderate resistance to FHB (Huhn et al. 2012), while Lebsock is a high-yielding commercial cultivar with nominal FHB susceptible (Elias et al. 2001). The objectives of the current study were (i.) to develop a molecular linkage map, (ii.) to identify genomic regions significantly associated with FHB resistance, (iii.) to determine molecular markers linked to FHB resistance (iv.) to introduce promising new line(s) with FHB resistance that can be used as sources for further durum wheat breeding programs.

Material and Methods

Plant Materials

A BIL durum wheat population was developed from a cross between 'Lebsock' and 'Tunisian 108' (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012). 'Lebsock' is a high-yielding commercial cultivar with nominal FHB resistance, and was used as the recurrent parent. Tunisian 108 is an exotic Tunisian durum wheat genotype with moderate resistance to FHB (Ghavami et al. 2011; Huhn et al. 2012) and was used as the donor parent. The F₁ plants were backcrossed to 'Lebsock' and each line was then selfed seven generations. Individual lines were advanced by single-seed descent in each generation. A total of 172 BC₁F₇ lines along with parental genotypes (Tunisian 108 and Lebsock) and fourteen checks were evaluated for FHB resistance. The checks included four resistant hexaploid genotypes: 'Sumai3', 'Wangshubai', 'Glenn' (Mergoum et al. 2006), and ND2710; nine moderate resistant tetraploid genotypes: 'Divide' (Elias and Manthey 2007), 'Maier' (Elias and Miller 2000), 'Ben' (Elias and Miller 1998), Tunisian 7, Tunisian 18,

Tunisian 34, Tunisian 36 (Huhn et al. 2012), D91103, and D95097; and one susceptible genotype, D87450.

Phenotypic Evaluation

Phenotypic evaluation was performed in two field trials and two greenhouse experiments in 2010 and 2011. Field trials were conducted in Prosper, North Dakota, genotypes were evaluated for resistance to initial infection or disease penetration and spread (considered Type I and II resistance) in 2010 and 2011. Deoxynivalenol (DON), 3-acetate deoxynivalenol (3ADON), 15-acetate deoxynivalenol (15ADON), nivalenol accumulation and *Fusarium*damaged kernel (FDK) were assessed only in 2011. Twelve seeds were planted as hill plots in a field mist-irrigated FHB nursery using a randomized complete block design with two replicates. Field inoculation was conducted using the corn kernel inoculation method (Stack 1989). A mixture of three different isolates of *Fusarium graminearum* (R010, R1267, and R1322) was used to maximize the likelihood of infection. Inoculum spreading was initiated at anthesis, and was repeated three times hence at 10 day intervals. Phenotypic evaluation for FHB resistance was performed based on percentage (0 to 100%) of visual symptom on spikelets per whole spikes or percentage of infected spikelets (PIS) in each replicate, 28 days after anthesis (Gosman et al. 2005).

Greenhouse screening was conducted on the population, parental lines and checks for disease spread (Type II resistance) using randomized complete block design (RCBD) with two replicates in the USDA-ARS greenhouse, Fargo, North Dakota, during 2010 and 2011. Briefly, three seeds from each line were planted for each replicate in clay pots and arranged in RCBD with two replicates. Four to six spikes in each replicate were inoculated with a 10 µl droplet of the isolate mixture in suspension (50,000 conidia/ml). Inoculum was injected directly into the second or third spikelet near the bottom of the spike as described by Stack (1989). Inoculated spikes were covered by a misted plastic bag for 72 hours and greenhouse temperature was adjusted to 22 to 27°C. Disease spread was scored according to visual symptoms based on number of infected spikelets per spike 21 days after inoculation (Stack and McMullen 1985).

Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance for single and combined years for disease incidence (Type I) and severity (Type II were conducted using Proc GLM of SAS software version 9.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). While only single analysis of variance were conducted for FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON and nivalenol. Using Proc Corr command (SAS 9.2), Pearson's correlation between disease incidence, severity, FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON and nivalenol contents were calculated. Broad-sense heritability (h²) was estimated using following formula:

$$h^2 = \sigma_g^2 / (\sigma_g^2 + \sigma_{gy}^2 / y + \sigma_e^2 / ry)$$

Where:

 $\sigma^2 g$ = Genotypic variance $\sigma^2 gy$ = Genotype × year interaction variance $\sigma^2 e$ = Residual error variance r = Replications y = Years

Genotypic Analysis

DNA was extracted from the BIL population, parental lines, and checks following the method as described by Triticarte Pty. Ltd.

(http://www.triticarte.com.au/content/DNApreparation. html). A total of 172 BILs, two parental lines and 14 checks were genotyped using Diversity Array technology (DArT) assay by Triticarte Pty. Ltd. (Canberra, Australia; http://www.triticarte.com.au), as described by Akbari et al. (2006). An array of 2,300 DArT markers distributed across the entire durum wheat genome was used to screen all lines.

Additionally, 305 microsatellite markers were tested for polymorphism between parental lines using standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR). These markers consisted of Gatersleben Wheat Microsatellites (GWM; Roder et al. 1995, 1998; Ganal and Roder 2007), Wheat Microsatellite Consortium (WMC; Gupta et al. 2002), DuPont Company (DuPw; Eujayl et al., 2002), INRA Clermont-Ferrand (CFA and CFD; Sourdille et al. 2004; Guyomarc'h et al. 2002), and Beltsville Agriculture Research Center (BARC; Song et al. 2005). PCR conditions were as originally described (Röder et al. 1998; Somers et al. 2004; Song et al. 2005). PCR products were separated on an 8% non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel and stained with ethidium bromide for scoring. Markers identified as polymorphic between parental lines were screened on the BIL population.

Genetic Map Construction and QTL Analysis

Linkage maps were constructed by MAPMAKER, v2.0 (Lander et al., 1987) using genotypic data on polymorphic DArT and SSR markers. A set of DArT markers were selected based on available genetic maps (Mantovani et al. 2008; Peleg et al. 2008; Ghavami et al. 2011; Huang et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2013) and used as anchors to assign remaining markers to individual chromosomes. Markers were assigned to individual linkage groups at a minimum LOD score of 3 and maximum distance of 30 cM. Map distances were calculated using Kosambi mapping function (Kosambi 1944). Linkage maps were drawn using MapChart (Voorrips 2002).

QTL analysis was performed using composite interval mapping (CIM) method by QTL Cartographer V2.5 (Wang et al. 2012). In QTL Cartographer, model 6 with forward and backward step-wise regression was used with five markers as cofactors and a 10 cM genomewide scan window to control genetic background. A minimum LOD score of 2.0 was used for determining the presence of a putative QTL. Confidence intervals (CI) were obtained using positions ±1 LOD away from the QTL peak, and QTL with overlapping CIs were considered as same. Permutation test using 500 iterations also was performed to determine threshold LOD scores for each trait in each environment with 5% error rate. QTL above threshold LOD scores were considered definitive QTL.

Results

Phenotypic Analysis

FHB reactions were significantly different for check plants and the entire population in greenhouse and field screening across the experiment. There were significant differences among BILs genotypes (p<0.0001) for Type II FHB resistance across the experiments (Table 4.1). Significant genotype by environment interaction (G×E; p<0.0001) was observed in the field trials. Correlations were computed for years and disease evaluations, tested for homogeneity, and pooled when deemed appropriate. Significant correlation was observed for resistance

disease severity (r=0.27, p<0.0005) between the two field trials as well as for the two greenhouse experiments (r=0.23, p<0.025). However, there was no significant correlation between field and greenhouse disease assessments.

Significant (p<0.0001) differences for FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON in the BIL population. However, no significant difference among BILs was observed for nivalenol. Variances of disease severity in field and greenhouse experiments were homogeneous for years, and there was a positive correlation between years. Thus, the data were pooled across years for Pearson's correlation analysis. Analyses of measured FDK, DON, 3ADON, 15ADON and nivalenol was based on the 2011 field experiment. There was positive significant correlations between FDK and mycotoxin components (DON, 3ADON, 15ADON), with the exception of nivalenol (Table 4.2). Although significant correlation was observed between disease severity in field and FDK (r=0.53, p<0.0001), no significant correlation was observed between disease severity in field and mycotoxin components. Positive significant correlation between DON and 3ADON (r=0.56, p<0.0001), DON and 15ADON (r=0.76, p<0.0001), 3ADON and 15ADON (r=0.64, p<0.0001) was observed, while no significant correlation between DON components and nivalenol was observed. Based on ANOVA, the broad sense heritability estimated 0.37, 0.40, 0.75, 0.75, 0.78 and 0.75, for disease severity in greenhouse and field experiments, FDK, DON, 3ADON and 15ADON respectively.

There was a wide range of variation for disease incidence, disease severity, FDK, and mycotoxin compounds with the exception of nivalenol in the BIL population (Table 4.1). Although the mean value of the population for disease incidence (0.72) and disease severity (0.47) were skewed toward susceptibility across the experiments, these levels were lower than the mean disease values for the resistance donor parent.

Transgressive segregation for resistance to FHB severity and incidence was clearly observed within the population (Figure 4.1). Approximately 2% of the BILs lines in the field assays and 16% of them in greenhouse screening were consistently better than the resistant parent across years. However, four lines were identified with the lowest present of infected spikelets, FDK and mycotoxine components across experiments.

DArT and SSR Analysis

A total of 29 (out of 303) SSR markers detected polymorphism between parental genotypes 'Tunisian 108' and 'Lebsock'. These 29 SSR markers, along with 344 polymorphic DArT markers, were used to genotype the 172 BC₁F₇ lines. Thirty-six DArT markers showed highly distorted segregation ratios and were excluded from the analysis. The remaining 337 markers were used for genetic map construction. At a minimum of 3 LOD score, a total of 331 markers were mapped to 243 unique loci in 14 linkage groups, belonging to all 14 chromosomes (Fig 3). The number of mapped markers on individual chromosomes varied from three markers on chromosome 4B to as many as 59 markers on chromosome 3B. These 331 mapped markers representing 243 loci covered a total genetic distance of 1,748 cM with an average distance of 7.2 between any two adjacent marker loci. The length of individual chromosomes ranged between 14.4 cM for chromosome 4B to 270.5 cM for chromosome 5A. The total genetic distance of the A genome chromosomes was 1,031.1 cM, and 716.9 cM for the B genome chromosomes.

95

Genomic Distribution of Mapped Markers

The seven homeologous groups of the tetraploid wheat genome varied in the number of markers, map length, and marker densities. Homeologous group 3 had the largest number of markers, with 74 mapped loci. Homeologous group 6 had the highest marker density, with 3.96 cM average distance between two adjacent marker loci. In contrast, homeologous group 5 had the lowest number of the mapped markers and the lowest marker density (35 loci; 8.02 cM/marker). Total map length was longest in homeologous group 3, at 326.9 cM, whereas group 6 had the shortest map length at 150.6 cM. Marker density also was different for the two genomes, with 160 (43.33%) markers mapped to the A genome and 149 (52.67%) to the B genome. Chromosome 4B was not mapped in this investigation, for two primary reasons: i.) some polymorphic chromosome 4B DArT markers were excluded from the mapping process due to distorted segregation ratios, and ii.) a dearth of polymorphic chromosome 4BSSR markers.

QTL Mapping Analysis

Composite interval mapping in the Tunisian108/Lebsock//Lebsock BIL population revealed a total of 15 QTL for different types of FHB resistance (Table 3). These QTL were mapped to seven different chromosomes (1A, 1B, 3A, 3B, 4A, 5A, and 6B). Six QTL were identified for disease incidence (Type I resistance); four were mapped to B genome chromosomes and two were localized on A genome chromosomes. In contrast, four out of six QTL identified for disease severity were mapped to A genome chromosomes and two were mapped to B genome chromosomes. For DON components, three QTL were identified; two of which were mapped to chromosome 3B, and one to chromosome 3A. Due to low variation for nivalenol accumulation, the two minor QTL identified for this trait were excluded. Of the 15 FHB QTL identified, 10 loci originated from the moderately resistant Tunisian parent, while five loci were from the recurrent parent, Lebsock (Table 3).

Discussion

The mean of disease severity in field (72.5%) was high and was skewed toward susceptibility across the two years field experiments. However, the disease severity mean (47%) was moderately low in the two greenhouse screenings (Table 1). Low disease severity likely is due to type II resistance factors in 'Lebsock', previously reported by Ghavami et al. (2011). The effect of nivalenol accumulation was not significant owing to low trait variation.

Transgressive segregation for FHB resistance has been reported in durum wheat lines carrying resistant QTL from both parents (Somers *et al.*, 2006). A high level of transgressive segregation in a Tunisian-derived population (Tunisian34/Lebsock//Lebsock) was reported by Ghavami et al. (2011). In the present investigation, a few lines showed all types of resistance across the experiments, with lower symptom levels in comparison to the moderately resistant parent 'Tunisian 108'. Resistance in some BILs rivaled that shown in Chinese resistant lines 'Sumai3' and 'Wangshuibai'. Considerable differences were observed between the QTL positions identified in this investigation and previously identified QTL in Tunisian-derived populations (Ghavami et al. 2011). Two reasons might cause these discrepancies: i.) wide genetic diversity in Tunisian background for FHB resistance, and ii.) existence of suppressor QTL (gene) in modern durum cultivars, which can mask the resistant QTL and may have been removed in some of the lines showing positive transgressive segregation. This hypothesis (ii.) was presented and discussed in the introduction.

Despite the wide range of variation exhibited for four types of disease resistance measured in this investigation, correlation between disease incidence intensity and DON component accumulation was not significant. QTL analysis did not detect any QTL for FDK, despite wide variation for this trait in the population. FDK assessment showed significant correlation with disease incidence in one comparison, and DON component accumulation in another comparison (Table 2). Thus, FDK could be an efficacious index for FHB phenotypic selection. The significant positive correlations between incidence and FDK as well as FDK and DON content observed in this study were reported earlier (Malla 2005). Hence, selection for one type of resistance indirectly enables selection for other types of resistance (Lemmens et al. 2005).

In this study, the heritability for FHB Type II resistance in field (0.40) and greenhouse (0.37) presents utility for resistance selection in a breeding program. The heritability of FDK was high (0.75) and had a high positive correlation to incidence and DON component accumulation (Table 2.). Positive significant correlations were assessed between FDK and DON and disease incidence, despite significant genotype by environment interaction. The positive significant correlations between FDK with disease severity, incidence and DON were established in earlier studies (Bonin and Kolb 2009; Malla et al. 2010; Paul et al. 2005).

To date, reports of FHB resistance QTL on the short arm of chromosome 1A are very limited. Flanking DArT markers for the Type I FHB QTL (*wPt5876-wPt6280*) and the linked marker to Type II FHB QTL (*wPt4177-wPt3870*) were mapped previously on the short arm of chromosome 1A by Marone et al. (2012). A possible homolog for the QTL we identified might be the Type II and Type V minor resistance QTL reported by Jiang et al. (2007a, b). Semagn et
al. (2007) identified a major QTL for Type II and V FHB resistance QTL mapped on distal part of the long arm of chromosome 1A, which is different than the QTL we identified. Schemolke et al. (2008) identified a minor FHB QTL for Type I resistance on chromosome 1A (arm undesignated) linked to amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) markers. Thus, the Type I FHB QTL flanked by *wPt4886- wPt3698* on the short arm of chromosome 1A can be considered novel.

The marker interval of two identified QTL on chromosome 1B (wPt0506-wPt1818) were mapped previously on the middle of the long arm of this chromosome (Marone et al. 2011; Akbari et al. 2006). There is only one clear report for identifying FHB QTL on the distal end of the long arm of chromosome 1B (Semagn et al. 2007). Shen et al. (2003) identified a Type II FHB resistance QTL on proximal region of the short arm of chromosome 1B (Marone et al. 2011). Li et al. (2012) identified a Type II FHB resistance QTL, flanked by Xbarc207 and Xbarc181on the proximal region of the long arm of chromosome 1B. Thus, owing to the lack of clear reports for FHB QTL detection on proximal region of the long arm of chromosome 1B, the FHB resistance QTL on the long arm of chromosome 1B in this study might be considered a novel resistance factor in tetraploid wheat.

There are numerous reports for FHB resistance QTL on chromosome 3A. While we detected Type II and V resistance QTL on chromosome 3A, the QTL were not consistent across experiments. The marker linked to the Type V resistance QTL (*wPt 2938*) was previously mapped by Akbari et al. (2006) on distal end of the short arm of chromosome 3A. Bourdoncle and Ohm (2003) reported a Type II resistance QTL on the short arm of chromosome 3A linked to *Xgwm5* which is tightly linked to *wPt2938* (Crossa et al., 2007). Otto et al. (2002) and Chen

et al. (2007) both reported Type II resistance QTL originated from *T. dicoccoides* line FA-15-3. Both QTL mapped by Crossa et al. (2007) were linked to *Xgwm2* locus on short arm of chromosome 3A, which is very close to the marker interval identified for Type V FHB resistance QTL in this investigation. Yang et al. (2005) also reported a type I resistance QTL tightly linked to *Xwmc428*, which is very close to the chromosomal region mentioned by Crossa et al. (2007). The marker (wPt1888) mapped closest to one of the Type II resistance QTL in the distal region of the long arm of chromosome 3A was identified previously by others (Akbari et al. 2006; Crossa et al. 2007; Marone et al. 2012). This QTL can be consider similar to the Type II resistance QTL on the long arm of chromosome 3A, linked to *Xwmc264* and *Xgwm155* loci,identified by Paillard et al. (2004).

Flanking markers of three FHB resistance QTL on chromosome 3B have not been reported previously in other mapping studies. Thus, comparing the QTL identified by these markers with previously identified resistance factors is not possible. The flanking markers of 3B FHB resistance QTL (*XwPt0036* and *XwPt384*) likely are located on the distal region of the long arm of chromosome 3B (Crossa et al. 2007; Marone et al. 2012). To date, a few FHB resistance QTL on the long arm of chromosome 3B have been reported in different mapping studies. Bourdoncle and Ohm (2003) identified QTL for resistance to FHB incidence and spread linked to *Xgwm247* locus on the long arm of chromosome 3B of hexaploid wheat. While two other mapping studies established *XwPt0384* and *Xgwm247* loci in two different linkage groups on the long arm of chromosome 3B (Crossa et al. 2007; Marone et al. 2012). Paillard et al. (2004) also reported a consistent QTL for resistance to severity on long arm of chromosome 3B; however, data suggests that this QTL is located on proximal region of the long arm of chromosome 3B. Reports involving wheat chromosome 4A with FHB resistance are limited. To date, only one FHB resistance factor has been reported for each arm of chromosome 4A (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Steed et al. (2005) reported the first FHB QTL located on the short arm of chromosome 4A for Type I resistance, originated from *Triticum aestivum* L. subsp. *macha*. The FHB QTL on chromosome 4A identified in this investigation could be novel, at least for tetraploid wheat. A microsatellite marker (*wmc96*) tightly linked to this QTL was previously mapped to the short arm of chromosome 4A by Somers et al. (2004). Lin et al. (2006) reported a FHB QTL linked to *wmc96* marker, but it was mapped to chromosome 5A.

The two FHB resistance QTL mapped on 5A apparently are the same QTL previously identified by other research groups. The microsatellite marker (*gwm 165*) linked to the chromosome 5A QTL for resistance to severity is the same marker reported by Buerstmayr et al. (2003a,b). The other 5A-QTL for FHB resistance, linked to *gwm291*, was reported by Paillard et al. (2004) and was linked to *gwm 165*. Further investigation revealed that the chromosomal region for 6B-FHB resistance QTL is the same as previously reported by Yang et al. (2005) for Type I, II and III FHB resistance.

Contribution of FHB resistance factors from an adapted parent is not an uncommon phenomenon in FHB resistance studies (Waldron et al. 1999; Shen et al. 2003; Mardi et al. 2006; Ghavami et al. 2011). In this investigation, the adapted parent ('Lebsock') conferred several resistance factors identified in the mapping population: Four Type II resistance QTL, located on chromosomes 1A, 3A and 3B; and one Type V resistance QTL located on chromosome 3A. Ghavami et al. (2011) also reported a Type II resistance QTL incorporated from 'Lebsock' located on the long arm of chromosome 5B. This finding confirms that Lebsock may possess genes for FHB resistance, as Ghavami et al. (2011) emphasized.

In a previous FHB QTL mapping study (unpublished), we screened a similar BIL population derived from cross between 'Tunisian108' and 'Ben'. Although the donor parent was the same in these two studies, only four resistant QTL were identified in common. The effects of the common QTL are different in their respective populations, owing to high genotype by environmental interactions and unknown epistatic effects. The two resistance QTL identified on chromosome 1B (tightly linked to *XwPt1818* and *XwPt3451* loci) in this report are identical to the major FHB QTL in our previous investigation. Locations of two minor FHB resistance QTL on chromosome 5A (*XwPt4248* and *XtPt418*) are identical to Type II and V FHB resistance QTL presented in our previous study.

Conclusions

Tunisian 108, reported here, represents a useful resource of FHB resistance. The results of this study, in combination with previous work (unpublished), suggest that considerable potential also exists to exploit latent or minor genetic factors from recurrent (susceptible) parent lines in conventional resistant by susceptible FHB breeding-designed crosses. Likely, such minor factors may have strong varietal difference, and experimental limitations may make their elucidation difficult. However, the utility of such FHB resistance factors presents opportunity to exploit transgressive segregants in resistant line development. The minor FHB QTL mapped on 4A chromosome in this investigation may be a new resistance factor, useful toward developing comprehensive FHB resistance. The other mapped QTL presented here are consistent with

previously reported resistance factors. These observations show that the ancient QTL for FHB

resistance preserved in *T. aestivum* are relatively consistent in *T. turgidum*.

References

- Akbari M, Wenzl P, Caig V, Carlig J, Xia L, Yang S, Uszynski G, Mohler V, Lehmensiek A, Kuchel H, Hayden MJ, Howes N, Sharp P, Vaughan P, Rathmell B, Huttner E, Kilian A (2006) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome. Theor Appl Genet 113:1409-1420
- Andersen AL (1948) The development of *Gibberella zeae* head blight of wheat. Phytopathol 38:595-611
- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla BR, Mitchell J, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for a Fusarium head blight QTL in two wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 102:1164-1168
- Arraiano LS, Chartrain L, Bossolini E, Slatter HN, Keller B, Brown JKM (2007) A gene in European wheat cultivars for resistance to an African isolate of *Mycosphaerella* graminicola. Plant Pathol 56:73-78
- Atanasoff D (1920) Fusarium blight (scab) of wheat and other cereals. J Agri Res 18:378-390
- Bai GH, Chen LF, Shaner GE (2003) Breeding for resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat in China. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 11, pp. 296-317
- Bai GH, Plattner R, Desjardins A, Kolb FL (2001) Resistance to Fusarium head blight and deoxynivalenol accumulation in wheat. Plant Breed 120(1):1-6
- Bai G, Kolb FL, Shaner G, Domier LL (1999) Amplified fragment length polymorphism markers linked to a major quantitative trait locus controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathol 89:343-348
- Bai G, Shaner G (1994) Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis 78760-766
- Ban T, Watanabe N (2001) The effects of chromosomes 3A and 3B on resistance to Fusarium head blight in tetraploid wheat. Hereditas 135:95-99
- Basnet BR, Glover KD, Ibrahim AMH, Yen Y, Chao S (2012) A QTL on chromosome 2DS of 'Sumai 3' increases susceptibility to Fusarium head blight in wheat. Euphytica 186: 91– 101

- Bechtel DB, Kaleikau LA, Gaines RL, Seitz LM (1985) The effects of *Fusarium graminearum* infection on wheat kernels. Cereal Chemist 62:191-197
- Bonin CM, Kolb FL (2009) Resistance to Fusarium head blight and kernel damage in a winter wheat recombinant inbred line population. Crop Sci 49:1304-1312
- Bourdoncle W, Ohm HW (2003) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in recombinant inbred wheat lines from the cross Huapei 57-2/Patterson. Euphytica 131:131-136
- Buerstmayr M, Huber K, Heckmann J, Steiner B, Nelson JC, Buerstmayr H (2012) Mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance and morphological and developmental traits in three backcross populations derived from *Triticum dicoccum* × *Triticum durum*. Theor Appl Genet 125:1751-1765
- Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA (2009) QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed 128:1-26
- Buerstmayr H, Steiner B, Hartl L, Griesser M, Angerer N, Lengauer D, Miedaner T, Schneider B, Lemmens M (2003a) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. II. Resistance to fungal penetration and spread. Theor Appl Genet 107:503-508
- Buerstmayr H, Stierschneider M, Steiner B, Lemmens M. Griesser M, Nevo E, Fahima T (2003b) Variation for resistance to head blight caused by *Fusarium graminearum* in wild emmer (Triticum dicoccoides) originating from Israel. Euphytica 130:17-23
- Buerstmayr H, Lemmens M, Hartl L, Doldi L, Steiner B, Stierschneider M, Ruckenbauer P (2002) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat. I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor Appl Genet 104:84-91
- Cativelli M, Lewis S, Appendino ML (2013) A Fusarium head blight resistance quantitative trait locus on chromosome 7D of the spring wheat cultivar catbird. Crop Sci 53:1464-1471
- Chen Y, Wang JX, Zhou MG, Chen CJ, Yuan SK (2007) Vegetative compatibility of Fusarium graminearum isolates and genetic study on their carbendazim resistance recombination in China. Phytopathol 97:1584-1589
- Cook JR (1981) Fusarium diseases of wheat and other small grains in North America. In: Nelson PE, Toussoun TA, Cook RJ (eds) Fusarium: diseases, biology and taxonomy. Pennsylvania State University Press, University park, pp 39-52
- Crossa J, Burgueno J, Dreisigacker S, Vargas M, Herrera-Foessel SA, Lillemo M, Singh RP, Trethowan R, Warburton M, Franco J, Reynolds M, Crouch JH, Ortiz R (2007) Association analysis of historical bread wheat germplasm using additive genetic covariance of relatives and population structure Genetics 177:1889-1913

- Elias EM, Manthey FA, Stack RW, Kianian SF (2005) Breeding efforts to develop Fusarium head blight resistant durum wheat in North Dakota. In: Canty SM, Boring T, Wardwell J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc 2005 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Milwaukee, WI, 11–13 Dec 2005, Michigan State University, East Lansing, pp 25-26
- Elias EM, Manthey FA (2007) Registration of "Divide" Durum wheat. J Crop Regist 1:7-8
- Elias EM, Miller JD (2000) Registration of 'Maier' Durum Wheat. Crop Sci 40:1498-1499
- Elias EM, Miller JD, Manthey FA (2001) Registration of 'Lebsock' Durum Wheat. Crop Sci 41:2007-2008
- Elias EM, Miller J.D (1998) Registration of 'Ben' durum wheat. Crop Sci 38:895-896
- Eujayl I, Sorrells ME, Baum M, Wolters P, Powel W (2002) Isolation of EST-derived microsatellite markers for genotyping the A and B genomes of wheat. Theor Appl Genet 104:399-407
- Fakhfakh MM, Yahyaoui A, Rezgui S, Elias EM, Daaloul A (2011) Inheritances of Fusarium head blight resistance in a cross involving local and exotic durum wheat cultivars. Crop Sci 51:2517-2524
- Foroud NA, Eudes F (2009) Trichothecenes in cereal grains. Int J Mol Sci 10:147-173
- Ganal MW, Roder MS (2007) Microsatellite and SNP markers in wheat breeding. Genomics 2:1-24
- Garvin D, Stack R, Hansen J (2009) Quantitative trait locus mapping of increased Fusarium head blight susceptibility associated with a wild emmer wheat chromosome. Phytopathol 99:447-452
- Ghavami F, Elias EM, Mamidi S, Ansari O, Sargolzaei M, Adhikari T, Mergoum M, Kianian SF (2011) Mixed model association mapping for Fusarium head blight resistance in Tunisianderived durum wheat populations. Gen Genom Genet 1:209-218
- Gilbert J, Tekauz A (2000) Review: Recent developments in research on Fusarium head blight of wheat in Canada. Can J Plant Pathol 22: 1-8
- Gilbert J, Procunier JD, Aung T (2000) Influence of the D genome in conferring resistance to Fusarium head blight in spring wheat. Euphytica 114:181-186
- Gladysz C, Lemmens M, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H (2007) Evaluation and genetic mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight in Triticum dicoccoides. Isr J Plant Sci 55:263-266
- Gosman N, Chandler E, Thomsett M, Draeger R, Nicholson P (2005) Analysis of the relationship between parameters of resistance to Fusarium head blight and in vitro tolerance to deoxynivalenol of the winter wheat cultivar WEK0609 (R). Eur J Plant Pathol 111:57-66

- Gupta PK, Balyan HS, Edwards KJ, Isaac P, Korzun V, Roder M, Gautier MF, Joudrier P,
 Schlatter AR, Dubcovsky J, De la Pena RC, Khairallah M, Penner G, Hayden MJ, Sharp P,
 Keller B, Wang RCC, Hardouin JP, Jack P, Leroy P (2002) Genetic mapping of 66 new
 microsatellite (SSR) loci in bread wheat. Theor Appl Genet 105:413-422
- Guyomarc'h H, Sourdille P, Edwards KJ, Bernard M (2002) Studies of the transferability of microsatellites derived from Triticum tauschii to hexaploid wheat and to diploid related species using amplification, hybridization and sequence comparisons. Theor Appl Genet 105:736-744
- Huang BE, George AW, Forrest KL, Kilian A, Hayden MJ, Morell MK, Cavanagh CR (2012) A multiparent advanced generation inter-cross population for genetic analysis in wheat. Plant Biotech J 10:826-839
- Huhn M, Elias E, Ghavami F, Kianian S, Chao S, Zhong S, Alamri M, Yahyaoui A, Mergoum M (2012) Tetraploid Tunisian wheat germplasm as a new source of Fusarium head blight resistance. Crop Sci 52:136-145
- Joppa LR, Williams ND (1988) Langdon durum substitution lines and aneuploid analysis in tetraploid wheat. Genome 30:222-228
- Kishii M, Ban T, Ammar K (2005) Improvement of FHB resistance of durum wheat. p. 52. In:.
 Ward RW (ed) Proc. Int. Fusarium Head Blight Forum, Milwaukee, WI. 11–13 Dec. 2005.
 US Wheat and Barely Scab Initiative, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI
- Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Ann Eugen 12:172-175
- Kumar A, Elias EM, Ghavami F, Xu X, Jain S, Manthey FA, Mergoum M, Alamri MS, Kianian PMA, Kianian SF (2013) A Major QTL for Gluten Strength in Durum Wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. durum). J Cereal Sci 57: 21-29
- Kumar S, Stack R, Friesen T, Faris J (2007) Identification of a novel Fusarium head blight resistance quantitative trait locus on chromosome 7A in tetraploid wheat. Phytopathol 97:592-597
- Lander ES, Botstein D (1989) Mapping mendelian factors underlying quantitative traits using RFLP linkage maps. Genetics 121:185-199
- Lemmens M, Scholz U, Berthiller F, Dall'Asta C, Koutnik A, Schuhmacher R, Adam G, Buerstmayr H, Mesterhazy A, Krska R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) The ability to detoxify the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol colocalizes with a major QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 18:1318-24
- Mergoum M, Frohberg RC, Stack RW, Olson, T, Friesen, TL, Rasmussen JB (2006) Registration of 'Glenn' wheat. Crop Science 46:473-474

- Li T, Bai G, Wu S, Gu S (2012) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blightin the Chinese wheat landrace Huangfangzhu. Euphytica 185:93-102
- Li T, Bai G, Wu S, Gu S (2011) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in a Chinese wheat landrace Haiyanzhong. Theor Appl Genet 122:1497-1502
- Lin F, Xue SL, Zhang ZZ, Zhang CQ, Kong ZX, Yao GQ, Tian DG, Zhu HL, Li CJ, Cao Y, Wei JB, Luo QY, Ma ZQ (2006) Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Nanda2419×Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet 112:528-535
- Liu S, Christopher MD, Griffey CA, Hall MD, Gundrum PG, Brooks WS (2012) Molecular characterization of resistance to Fusarium head blight in U.S. soft red winter wheat breeding line VA00W-38. Crop Sci 52:2283-2292
- Malla S, Ibrahim AMH, Yen Y, Berzonsky W, Glover KD, Stein J (2010) Quantitative trait Loci analysis of novel Fusarium head blight resistance in Tokai 66. Amer J Agri Biol Sci 5:62-69
- Malla S (2005) Inheritance of Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. MS. Thesis, South Dakota State University, Brookings, SD
- Mantovani P, Maccaferri M, Sanguineti MC, Tuberosa R, Catione I, Wenzl P, Thomson B, Carling J, Huttner E, De Ambrogio E, Kilian A (2008) An integrated DArT-SSR linkage map of durum wheat. Mol Breed 22:629-648
- Mardi M, Pazouki L, Delavar H, Kazemi MB, Ghareyazie B, Steiner B, Nolz R, Lemmens M, Buerstmayr H (2006) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a Frontana-derived population. Plant Breed 125:313-317
- Mardi M, Buerstmayr H, Ghareyazie B, Lemmens M, Mohammadi SA, Nolz R, Ruckenbauer P (2005) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat using a 'Wangshuibai'-derived population. Plant Breed 124:329-333
- Marone D, Laido G, Gadaleta A, Colasuonno P, Ficco DBM, Giancaspro A, Giove S, Panio G, Russo MA, De Vita P, Cattivelli L, Papa R, Blanco A, Mastrangelo AM (2012) A highdensity consensus map of A and B wheat genomes. Theor Appl Genet 125:1619-1638
- McMullen M (2003) Impacts of fusarium head blight on North American agricultural community: The power of one disease to catapult change. In: Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat and Barley. Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR, (eds) The American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, Chapter 18, pp 484-503
- Mesterhazy A (1995) Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant Breed 114:377-386

- Miedaner T, Reinbrecht C, Lauber U, Schollenberger M, Geiger H (2001) Effects of genotype and genotype-environment interaction on deoxynivalenol accumulation and resistance to Fusarium head blight in rye, triticale, and wheat. Plant Breed 120:97-105
- Miller JD, Stack RW Joppa, and LR (1998) Evaluation of Triticum turgidum L. var. dicoccoides for resistance to Fusarium head blight and stem rust. In: Slinkard AE (ed) Proc 9th Int Wheat Gen Symp. Saskatoon, SK, 2-7 Aug. Univ of Saskatchewan Ext Press, Saskatoon, pp 292-293
- Nganje WE, Kaitibie S, Wilson WW, Leistritz FL, Bangsund D.A (2004) Economic impacts of Fusarium head blight in wheat and barley: 1993-2001. Agribusiness and Applied Economics Rep. No. 538. North Dakota State Univ, Fargo
- Oliver RE, Cal X, Friesen TL, Halley S, Stack RW, Xu SS (2008) Evaluation of Fusarium head blight resistance in tetraploid wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L.). Crop Sci 48:213-222
- Oliver R, Stack R, Miller J, Cai X (2007) Reaction of wild emmer wheat accessions to Fusarium head blight. Crop Sci 47:893-899
- Otto CD, Kianian SF, Elias EM, Stack RW, Joppa LR (2002) Genetic dissection of a major Fusarium head blight QTL in tetraploid wheat. Plant Mol Biol 48:625-632
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Tiwari R, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B, Schachermayr G (2004) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in Swiss winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:323-332
- Parry DW, Jenkinson P, McLeod L (1995) Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain cereals: A review. Plant Pathol 44:207-238
- Paul PA, Lipps PE, Madden LV (2005) Relationship between visual estimates of Fusarium head blight intensity and deoxynivalenol accumulation in harvested wheat grain: A metaanalysis. Phytopathol 95:1225-1236
- Peleg Z, Saranga Y, Suprunova T, Ronin Y, Roder MS, Kilian A, Korol AB, Fahima T (2008) High-density genetic map of durum wheat x wild emmer wheat based on SSR and DArT markers. Theor Appl Genet 117:103-115
- Roder MS, Korzun V, Wendehake K, Plaschke J, Tixier MH, Leroy P, Ganal MW (1998) A microsatellite map of wheat. Genetics 149:2007-2023
- Roder MS, Plaschke J, Konig SU, Borner A, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD, Ganal MW (1995) Abundance, variability and chromosomal location of microsatellites in wheat. Mol Gen Genet 246:327-333

SAS Institute Inc (2008) SAS/STAT. 9.2 user's guide. Cary, NC.

- Schmolke M, Zimmermann G, Buerstmayr H, Schweizer G, Miedaner T, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E, Hartl L (2005) Molecular mapping of Fusarium head blight resistance in the winter wheat population Dream/Lynx. Theor Appl Genet 111:747-756
- Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ (1963) Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by *Gibberella zeae*. Phytopathol 53:831-838
- Semagn K, Bjornstad A, Skinnes H, Maroy AG, Tarkegne Y, Genome MW (2006) Distribution of DArT, AFLP, and SSR markers in a genetic linkage map of a doubled-haploid hexaploid wheat population. Genome 49:545-555
- Semagn K, Skinnes , Bjørnstad A, Guri-Marøy A, Tarkegne Y (2007) Quantitative trait loci controlling Fusarium head blight resistance and low Deoxynivalenol content in hexaploid wheat population from 'Arina' and NK93604. Crop Sci 47:294-303
- Shen X, Ittu M, Ohm H (2003) Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci 43:850-857
- Snijders CHA, Van Eeuwijk FA (1991) Genotype by strain interactions for resistance to Fusarium head blight caused by *Fusarium culmorum* in winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 81:239-244
- Somers DJ, Fedak G, Clarke J, Cao W (2006) Mapping of FHB resistance QTLs in tetraploid wheat. Genome 49:1586-1593
- Somers DJ, Isaac P, Edwards K (2004) A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:1105-1114
- Song QJ, Shi JR, Singh S, Fickus EW, Costa JM, Lewis J, Gil BS, Ward R, Cregan PB (2005) Development and mapping of microsatellite (SSR) markers in wheat. Theor Appl Genet 110:550-560
- Sourdille P, Singh S, Cadalen T, Brown-Guedira G, Gay G, Qi L, Gill BS, Dufour P, Murigneux A, Bernard M (2004) Microsatellite-based deletion bin system for the establishment of genetic-physical map relationships in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Funct Integr Genomics 4:12-25
- Stack RW (2003) History of Fusarium head blight with emphasis on North America. In: Leonard KJ, Bushnell WR (eds.) Fusarium head blight of wheat and barley. APSPress, St. Paul, MN, pp 1-34
- Stack RW, Frohberg RC, Casper H (1997) Reaction of spring wheat incorporating Sumai3derived resistance to inoculation with several Fusarium species. Cereal Res Comm 25:667-671
- Stack RW (1989) A comparison of the inoculum potential of ascospores and conidia of *Gibberella zeae*. Can J Plant Pathol 11:137-142

- Stack RW, McMullen MP (1985) Head blight potential of Fusarium species with spring wheat heads. Can J Plant Pathol 7:79-82
- Steed A, Chandler E, Thomsett M, Gosman N, Faure S, Nicholson P (2005) Identification of type I resistance to Fusarium head blight controlled by a major gene located on chromosome 4A of *Triticum macha*. Theor. Appl. Genet 111:521-529
- Triticarte Pty. Ltd. Triticarte whole-genome genotyping service for wheat and barley. Available at: http://www.triticarte.com.au/
- Van Eeuwijk FA, Mesterhazy A, Kling CI, Ruckenbauer P, Saur L, Burstmayr H, Lemmens M, Keizer LCP, Maurin N, Snijders CHA (1995) Assessing non-specificity of resistance in wheat to head blight caused by inoculation with European strains of *Fusarium culmorum*, *F. graminearum* and *F. nivale* using a multiplicative model for interaction. Theor Appl Genet 90:221-228
- Voorrips RE (2002) MapChart: Software for graphical presentation of linkage maps and QTLs. J Hered 93:77-78
- Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC (1999) RFLP mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci 39:805-811
- Wang S., C.J. Basten and Z.B. Zeng. 2012. Windows QTL Cartographer 2.5. Department of Statistics, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC. (http://statgen.ncsu.edu/qtlcart/WQTLCart.htm)
- Wenzl P, Carling J, Kudrna D, Jaccoud D, Huttner E, Kleinhofs A, Kilian A (2004) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for whole-genome profiling of barley. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:9915-9920
- Yang ZP, Gilbert J, Fedak G, Somers DJ (2005) Genetic characterization of QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in a doubled-haploid spring wheat population. Genome 48:187-196

Table 4.1. Disease severity and toxin levels in Tunisian108/Lebsock//Lebsock BC1F7 population across the experiments

	Disease values (%)					 Toxin value (ppm)				
	F2010 ^a	F2011ª	GH2010 ^b	GH2011 ^b	FDK ^c	 DON ^d	3ADON ^e	15ADON ^f	Niv ^g	
Population mean	67	78	34	60	78	39.18	0.63	0.72	0.50	
Std Dev ^h	10	14	21	21	16	15.86	0.27	0.28	0.01	
Minimum	35	10	5	18	15	5.80	0.50	0.50	0.50	
Maximum	90	95	95	95	100	98.80	3.30	2.20	0.60	
Lebsock	84	90	84	80	86	31.40	0.60	0.60	0.60	
Tunisian 108	48	52	54	50	60	25.00	0.40	0.40	0.50	
LSD1 (0.05)	18	18	16	16	14.80	14.08	0.20	0.25	0.02	
LSD2 (0.05)	26	26	23	23	20.87	19.85	0.28	0.36	0.03	

^a. Field experiment
^b. Greenhouse experiment
^c. Fusarium damaged kernel
^d. Deoxynivalenol
^e. 3-acetate deoxynivalenol
^f. 15-acetate deoxynivalenol
^g. Nivalenol

^h. Standard deviation

LSD1 compares BIL population mean to parents; LSD2 compares two BILs

Traits	Sev ^a	FDK ^b	DON ^c	3ADON ^d	15ADON ^e	Niv ^f	
Sev ^a		0.52 <0.0001	0.03 0.6499	0.01 0.8570	0.01 0.8428	0.01 0.0992	
FDK ^b			0.20 0.0102	0.08 0.2734	0.12 o 1257	0.14 0.0642	
DON ^c			0.0102	0.56	0.76	0.01	
3ADON ^d				0.0001	0.64	0.03	
15ADON ^e					-0.0001	0.10	
Niv ^f						0.1855	

Table 4.2. Correlation coefficient assessment for different FHB resistance components measured in a BC₁F₇ population derived from cross between Tunisian108 and Lebsock in 2011 field experiment

^a. Disease severity
^b. Fusarium damaged kernel
^c. Deoxynivalenol
^d. 3-acetate deoxynivalenol
^e. 15-acetate deoxynivalenol
^f. Nivalenol

Disease components	Experiments Chromosome		Position (cM)	Flanking markers	Marker Interval	LOD Score.	Additive	R2 (%)
Severity	everity F2010d		36.9	wPt0506-wPt5485	10	2.4	2.7	5.4
	F2010	1A	12.5	wPt5876-wPt6280	3	2.4	3.7	5.1
	F2010	1A	35.0	wPt4886-wPt3698	7	3.6	4.0	9.3
	F2010	6B	84.3	rPt1040-wPt8976	25	2.3	2.9	5.5
	F2011	3B	130.7	wPt0384-wPt6981	23	3.9	-4.8	9.3
	F2011	4A	33.7	wmc96-wPt0054	3	3.1	3.8	6.3
	F2011	5A	193.1	wPt2357-gwm291	16	2.1	4.0	4.3
	GH2010e	1A	18.2	wPt3870-wPt4886	6	3.0	-5.5	8.5
	GH2010	3B	3.5	wPt0250-wPt10965	3	2.1	-5.8	4.7
	GH2010	5A	76.5	wPt5309-gwm156	7	2.6	7.8	9.9
	GH2011	1B	53.9	wPt5485-wPt1818	11	2.1	5.5	5.4
	GH2011	3A	98.9	tPt7492-wPt0819	6	2.6	9.0	7.3
	GH2011	3A	165.8	wPt8876-wPt2562	11	2.7	-7.2	6.9
DON ^a	F2011	3B	27.1	wPt10687-wPt11451	12	2.2	4.6	5.1
3-ADON ^b	F2011	3B	38.6	wPt10325-tPt9948	16	2.4	0.1	6.5
15-ADON ^c	F2011	3A	21.3	wPt2938-tPt1143	2	2.9	-0.1	6.9

Table 4.3. Putative QTL for disease severity, and mycotoxic components detected in Tunasian108/Lebsock//Lebsock BC1F7 mapping population

^a. 3-acetate deoxynivalenol
^b. 15-acetate deoxynivalenol
^c. Nivalenol

^d. Field experiment ^e. Greenhouse experiment



Figure 4.1. Frequency distribution of FHB severity and incidence means of genotypes in a Tun108/Lebsock//Lebsock population in two greenhouse and two field experiments during 2010 and 2011. The average of FHB infection for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows



Figure 4.2. Frequency of Fusarium damaged kernels (FDK) means of genotypes in Tun108/Lebsock//Lebsock population in 2011 field experiments. The average of FDK for the parents, the resistant (Sumai3) and susceptible (D87450) checks are indicated by arrows



Figure 4.3. Genetic linkage map of 331 mapped markers and putative QTL for BC₁F₇ population derived from a cross between Tunisian108 and 'Lebsock (F= Field; GH= Greanhouse)'



Figure 4.3. Genetic linkage map of 331 mapped markers and putative QTL for BC_1F_7 population derived from a cross between Tunisian108 and 'Lebsock (continued). (F= Field; GH= Greanhouse)'



Figure 4.3. Genetic linkage map of 331 mapped markers and putative QTL for BC_1F_7 population derived from a cross between Tunisian108 and 'Lebsock (continued). (F= Field; GH= Greanhouse)'



Figure 4.3. Genetic linkage map of 331 mapped markers and putative QTL for BC₁F₇ population derived from a cross between Tunisian108 and 'Lebsock (continued). (F= Field; GH= Greanhouse)'

CHAPTER V. FINAL CONCLUSIONS

Sporadic well-characterized sources of FHB resistance with poor agronomic and quality traits is the most important obstacle for resistance breeding (Comeau et al. 2010). Combination of multiple genes action in FHB resistance sources is another issue for resistance breeding process (Miedaner and Korzun 2012). The challenge is even more stunning as there is little demonstrated variation of FHB resistance in the tetraploid germplasm pool (Somers et al. 2006). It is strongly believed that, some suppressor gene(s) or QTL may neutralize the effective FHB resistance factors in tetraploid genome (Ban and Watanabe 2001; Kishii et al. 2005; Garvin et al. 2009; Ghavami et al. 2011). Another hypothetical point of view insists on role of D genome in resistance. Accordingly, D genome of hexaploid wheat encodes resistance-inducing factors that are missing in tetraploid wheat (Fakhfakh et al. 2011). North Dakota State University (NDSU) durum wheat breeding program made tremendous strives to find new sources of FHB resistance in recent decades (Elias et al. 2005; Huhn et al. 2012; Ghavami et al. 2011). In this investigation we strived to maximize QTL detection by utilizing two BILs population with common donor parent, Tunisisan108/Ben//Ben (BIL₁) and Tunisian108/Lebsock//Lebsock (BIL₂). The current study revealed at least 6 novel FHB resistance QTL which have not been reported by previous investigations. Most of the remaining 26 FHB resistance QTL identified in this study have been characterized previously in hexaploid sources.

In BIL₁ population, the Type V resistance QTL identified on 1A chromosome might be the same QTL which has been characterized in CJ9306 source (Jiang et al. 2007ab) and NK93604 source (Semagn et al. 2007). The Type III FHB resistance QTL mapped on 1B chromosome of BIL₁ has been identified previously in Fundulea201R source (Shen et al. 2003) and Arina source (Semagn et al. 2007) both of them as Type II FHB resistance QTL.

Fundulea201R is a Romanian line with accumulated FHB resistance from various sources other than Chinese lines, and Arina is a winter wheat variety with moderate (Paillard et al. 2003), to high (Miedaner et al. 2001) resistance to FHB. The two resistance QTL for disease severity in field and greenhouse which have been identified on 1B chromosome in BIL₁ (tightly linked to *XwPt1818* and *XwPt3451* loci) are identical to the FHB resistance QTL in BIL₂. High level of genotype by environmental interaction is one of the reasons for different effects of these identical QTL in two populations.

The consistence FHB resistance QTL located on 2BS chromosome in BIL 1 Population might be a novel QTL. Somers et al. (2006) reported a Type II resistance QTL located on 2BS which incorporated by susceptible parent (*T. durum* cv. Strongfield) and Burestmayr et al. (2011) identified a Type II resistance QTL on 2BS chromosome as wall which incorporated from FHB resistant Transcaucasian hexaploid landrace(*T. macha.*). Further consideration of the maps provided by Crossa et al. (2007), Marone et al. (2012) revealed that, the markers interval for 2BS-FHB QTL which has been previously identified in *T. durum* cv. 'Strongfield' source, is located in different location of 2B chromosome. Although the FHB resistance QTL identified in this investigation is located approximately close to the same region which Buerstmayr et al. (2011) reported, however the QTL we have reported here is for different type of resistance.

The QTL with different effects detected for different environments, localized on chromosome 3B of BIL₁ were apparently different from *Fhb1*-QTL reported by Waldron et al. (1999) and Anderson et al. (2001). The marker interval for this QTL (*barc229* and *wPt9766*) located on long arm of chromosome 3B (Xu *et al.* 2008; Marone *et al.* 2012). To date, there are

two reports for 3BL-FHB QTL (Type II), however the associated microsatellite loci with these two QTL (*Xgwm247* and *Xgwm131*) do not correspond to the same region of the 3BL-QTL identified in this investigation. Bourdoncle and Ohm (2003) identified type II FHB resistance QTL on 3BL, but the markers interval of this QTL were mapped on a very distal part of the chromosome (Crossa et al. 2007). The source of resistance allele was a resistant hexaploid wheat 'Huapei 57-2' (developed in China) in their investigation. Paillard et al. (2004) identified a Type II FHB resistance QTL incorporated from the Arina resistance sources in proximal region of 3BL chromosome. The flanking markers linked to the 3BL FHB QTL (*gwm131* and *cfa2143*) have been frequently mapped on long arm of 3B chromosome very close to centromere (Roder et al. 1998; Somers et al. 2004; Paillard et al. 2003). Thus, the FHB-3BL QTL reported in this investigation might be a novel resistance factor, with different type of FHB resistance. The FHB resistance QTL for disease severity for field trial in BIL 2 and type II and V resistance QTL identified in BIL₁ have been mapped on 3B chromosome tightly linked to *XwPt0036* and *XwPt0384* loci in two experimental populations.

All of the evidences show that, 4A chromosome in wheat is not actively involved in FHB resistance (Buerstmayr *et al.* 2009). To date only one FHB resistance factor reported for each arm of this chromosome (Paillard *et al.* 2004; Steed *et al.* 2005; Buerstmayr *et al.* 2009). Steed et al. (2005) reported the first and apparently the last FHB Type I resistance QTL located on very distal region of chromosome 4AS incorporated from a double haploid population (HsTm4ADH) originated from *Triticum aestivum* L. subsp. *Macha*. The FHB QTL identified on chromosome 4A in this investigation is tightly linked to microsatellite marker *wmc96*. This marker mapped for the first time by Somers et al. (2004) in very proximal region on 4AS chromosome. Thus, the 4AS FHB QTL could be a novel resistance factor which we identified. A consistent and 122

apparently novel FHB resistance QTL which has been detected on 2B chromosome in BIL₁ population also is tightly linked to the *Xwmc96* loci. This marker might be tightly linked to FHB resistance factor because at least there is one report for FHB QTL linked to *wmc96* marker which has been mapped on chromosome 5A by Lin et al. (2006). This is not surprising, because this locus has been mapped frequently on different chromosome such as 5A, 5D, 3A, 6A and 7A (Somers et al. 2004; Paillard et al. 2003).

The major Type II resistance QTL and two Type III resistance QTL localized on chromosome 5A were consistence in both experimental populations. These QTL have been frequently detected by different research group and, there are numerous reports for QTL on chromosome 5A with minor effects on disease incidence and severity associated with different markers (Jiang et al. 2007a,b; Lin et al. 2006; Steiner et al. 2004; Gervais et al. 2003; Shen et al. 2003; Paillard et al. 2004). The major Type II FHB resistance QTL linked to the Xbarc141 locus on chromosome 5A of BIL₁ might be the same QTL which was reported by Zhang et al (2012). The Type III 5A-FHB resistance QTL identified in BIL₁ is located in the same FHB resistace effective region which has been detected in *T. aestivum* and *T. macha* (Buerstmayr et al. 2002; Buerstmayr et al. 2011). The two minor FHB Type III resistance QTL identified on 5A chromosome in BIL 1 Population, are linked to the same markers (XwPt4246 and XtPt418) which are associated with two identified QTL in BIL₂ population. Interestingly, the Type II FHB resistance QTL on 5A chromosome of BIL₂ linked to the gwm165 is the same QTL which Buerstmayr et al. (2003 a,b) have already reported. The other 5A-QTL for FHB resistance to severity in BIL₂ population, which is linked to gwm291, has been reported by Paillard et al. (2004) exactly linked with the same marker. Thus, FHB resistance factors on 5A chromosome in resistance sources have been properly conserved.

Although Ghavami et al. (2011) used the Tunisian lines as resistance sources, they reported different FHB effective chromosomal regions in comparison to this investigation. The reason of this discrepancy might be because of source of resistance allele. The source of 5B FHB QTL was 'Lebsock' (susceptible parent) in their study, while the incorporating resistance allele was from 'Ben' (susceptible parent) in this investigation. The other type III FHB QTL identified in BIL₁ is only linked with some DArT markers which are not mapped on the same chromosome in available maps. This is a common problem of DArT markers that even Liu et al. (2012) were recently encountered with.

Comparing the flanking DArT marker of two FHB resistance QTL mapped on 7B in BIL₁ with the cumulative maps provided by Marone et al. (2012) and Mantovani et al. (2008) revealed that, they are located on proximal and distal regions of chromosome 7BS. The Resistance QTL located on distal part of 7BS, was incorporated by susceptible parent (Ben). This FHB QTL has been identified in moderately resistant cultivars 'Dream' (Schmolke et al. 2005; Haberle et al. 2007) and 'Cansas' (Klahr et al. 2007) sources, linked to gwm46 microsatellite marker. However this marker was not polymorphic in this investigation. The FHB resistance QTL located on the proximal region of 7BS has not been reported in any investigation. Further study revealed that, the Type II FHB resistance QTL identified by Ghavami et al. (2011) in Tunisian back ground and Type I FHB resistance QTL identified by Gilsinger et al. (2005) incorporated by cultivar 'Goldfield' are located on long arm of 7B chromosome. The parents and in some cases entire population were tested by DArT marker developed by Ghavami et al. (2011), however the result was not applicable for mapping owing to lack of polymorphism. The donor parent that they used was a different Tunisian line (Tunisian 34). Thus, Tunisian resistance sources might comprise various type of FHB resistance QTL with different associated loci.

Reducing mycotoxin contamination in the seeds is the ultimate goal of a breeding program for FHB resistance (Buerstmayr et al. 2009). Since the correlation of FDK and DON accumulation was high in this study, thus, FDK was used for selecting transgressively segregated resistance lines in both populations. We strongly suggest Fusarium damaged kernel (FDK) assessment as the best phenotypic evaluation criterion for the entire FHB resistance breeding program. In summary, Tunisian lines can be amongst a few tetraploid resistance sources have been ever identified.

he major and consistent FHB resistance QTL which have been identified in Tunisian

genomic background can be used for further resistant breeding program, however the

inconsistent minor QTL need more validation before incorporating to highly adapted commercial cultivar.

References

- Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, Moreno-Sevilla BR, Mitchell J, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Frohberg RC (2001) DNA markers for a Fusarium head blight QTL in two wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 102:1164-1168
- Ban T, Watanabe N (2001) The effects of chromosomes 3A and 3B on resistance to Fusarium head blight in tetraploid wheat. Hereditas 135:95-99
- Bourdoncle W, Ohm HW (2003) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in recombinant inbred wheat lines from the cross Huapei 57-2/Patterson. Euphytica 131:131-136
- Buerstmayr M, Lemmens M, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H (2011) Advanced backcross QTL mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight and plant morphological traits in a *Triticum macha* ×*T. aestivum* population. Theor Appl Genet 123:293-306
- Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA (2009) QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed 128:1-26
- Buerstmayr H, Steiner B, Hartl L, Griesser M, Angerer N, Lengauer D, Miedaner T, Schneider B, Lemmens M (2003a) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance

in spring wheat. II. Resistance to fungal penetration and spread. Theor Appl Genet 107:503-508

- Buerstmayr H, Stierschneider M, Steiner B, Lemmens M. Griesser M, Nevo E, Fahima T (2003b) Variation for resistance to head blight caused by *Fusarium graminearum* in wild emmer (*Triticum dicoccoides*) originating from Israel. Euphytica 130:17-23
- Buerstmayr H, Lemmens M, Hartl L, Doldi L, Steiner B, Stierschneider M, Ruckenbauer P (2002) Molecular mapping of QTLs for Fusarium head blight resistance in spring wheat.
 I. Resistance to fungal spread (Type II resistance). Theor Appl Genet 104:84-91
- Comeau A, Caetnao VR. Haber S, Langevin F, Levesque M, Gilbert J. (2010). Systemic heuristic approaches generate better wheat germplasm faster and at lower cost. In Kovalchuk I, Kovalchuk O (Eds.). Genome instability and trans-generational effects. pp. 401-446. Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science Publishers
- Crossa J, Burgueno J, Dreisigacker S, Vargas M, Herrera-Foessel SA, Lillemo M, Singh RP, Trethowan R, Warburton M, Franco J, Reynolds M, Crouch JH, Ortiz R (2007) Association analysis of historical bread wheat germplasm using additive genetic covariance of relatives and population structure Genetics 177:1889-1913
- Elias EM, Manthey FA, Stack RW, Kianian SF (2005) Breeding efforts to develop Fusarium head blight resistant durum wheat in North Dakota. In: Canty SM, Boring T, Wardwell J, Siler L, Ward RW (eds) Proc 2005 National Fusarium Head Blight Forum. Milwaukee, WI, 11–13 Dec 2005, Michigan State University, East Lansing, pp 25-26
- Fakhfakh MM, Yahyaoui A, Rezgui S, Elias EM, Daaloul A (2011) Inheritances of Fusarium head blight resistance in a cross involving local and exotic durum wheat cultivars. Crop Sci 51:2517-2524
- Garvin D, Stack R, Hansen J (2009) Quantitative trait locus mapping of increased Fusarium head blight susceptibility associated with a wild emmer wheat chromosome. Phytopathol 99:447-452
- Gervais L, Dedryver F, Morlais JY, Bodusseau V, Negre S, Bilous M, Groos C, Trottet M (2003) Mapping of quantitative trait loci for field resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 106:961-970
- Ghavami F, Elias EM, Mamidi S, Ansari O, Sargolzaei M, Adhikari T, Mergoum M, Kianian SF (2011) Mixed model association mapping for Fusarium head blight resistance in Tunisian-derived durum wheat populations. Gen Genom Genet 1:209-218
- Gilsinger J, Kong L, Shen X, Ohm H (2005) DNA markers associated with low Fusarium head blight incidence and narrow flower opening in wheat. Theor Appl Genet.110:1218-1225

- Haberle J, Schmolke M, Schweizer G, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E, Zimmermann G, Hartl L (2007) Effects of two major Fusarium head blight resistance QTL verified in a winter wheat backcross population. Crop Sci 47:1823-1831
- Huhn M, Elias E, Ghavami F, Kianian S, Chao S, Zhong S, Alamri M, Yahyaoui A, Mergoum M (2012) Tetraploid Tunisian wheat germplasm as a new source of Fusarium head blight resistance. Crop Sci 52:136-145
- Jiang GL, Shi JR, Ward RW (2007a) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ9306. I. Resistance to fungal spread. Theor Appl Genet 116:3-13
- Jiang GL, Dong Y, Shi J, Ward RW (2007b) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the novel wheat germplasm CJ 9306. II. Resistance to deoxynivalenol accumulation and grain yield loss. Theor Appl Genet 115:1043-1052
- Kishii M, Ban T, Ammar K (2005) Improvement of FHB resistance of durum wheat. In R.W.Ward (ed.) Proc. Int. Fusarium Head Blight Forum, Milwaukee, WI. 11-13 Dec. 2005.US Wheat and Barely Scab Initiative, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI p. 52
- Klahr A, Zimmermann G, Wenzel G, Mohler V (2007) Effects of environment, disease progress, plant height and heading date on the detection of QTLs for resistance to Fusarium head blight in an European winter wheat cross. Euphytica 154:17-28
- Li T, Bai G, Wu S, Gu S (2011) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to Fusarium head blight in a Chinese wheat landrace Haiyanzhong. Theor Appl Genet 122:1497-1502
- Lin F, Xue SL, Zhang ZZ, Zhang CQ, Kong ZX, Yao GQ, Tian DG, Zhu HL, Li CJ, Cao Y, Wei JB, Luo QY, Ma ZQ (2006) Mapping QTL associated with resistance to Fusarium head blight in the Nanda2419×Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet 112:528-535
- Liu S, Christopher MD, Griffey CA, Hall MD, Gundrum PG, Brooks WS (2012) Molecular characterization of resistance to Fusarium head blight in U.S. soft red winter wheat breeding line VA00W-38. Crop Sci 52:2283-2292
- Mantovani P, Maccaferri M, Sanguineti MC, Tuberosa R, Catione I, Wenzl P, Thomson B, Carling J, Huttner E, De Ambrogio E, Kilian A (2008) An integrated DArT-SSR linkage map of durum wheat. Mol Breed 22:629-648
- Marone D, Laido G, Gadaleta A, Colasuonno P, Ficco DBM, Giancaspro A, Giove S, Panio G, Russo MA, De Vita P, Cattivelli L, Papa R, Blanco A, Mastrangelo AM (2012) A highdensity consensus map of A and B wheat genomes. Theor Appl Genet 125:1619-1638
- Miedaner T, Korzun V (2012) Marker-assisted selection for disease resistancein wheat and barley breeding. Phytopathol 102(6):560-566

- Miedaner T, Reinbrecht C, Lauber U, Schollenberger M, Geiger HH (2001) Effects of genotype and genotype × environment interaction on deoxynivalenol accumulation and resistance to Fusarium head blight in rye, triticale, and wheat. Plant Breed 120: 97-105
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Tiwari R, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B, Schachermayr G (2004) QTL analysis of resistance to Fusarium head blight in Swiss winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:323-332
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Abderhalden O, Messmer M, Sourdille P, Winzeler M, Keller B, Schachermayr G (2003) An integrative genetic linkage map of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 107:1235-1242
- Roder MS, Korzun V, Wendehake K, Plaschke J, Tixier MH, Leroy P, Ganal MW (1998) A microsatellite map of wheat. Genetics 149:2007-2023
- Schmolke M, Zimmermann G, Buerstmayr H, Schweizer G, Miedaner T, Korzun V, Ebmeyer E, Hartl L (2005) Molecular mapping of Fusarium head blight resistance in the winter wheat population Dream/Lynx. Theor Appl Genet 111:747-756
- Semagn K, Skinnes , Bjørnstad A, Guri-Marøy A, Tarkegne Y (2007) Quantitative trait loci controlling Fusarium head blight resistance and low Deoxynivalenol content in hexaploid wheat population from 'Arina' and NK93604. Crop Sci 47:294-303
- Shen X, Ittu M, Ohm H (2003) Quantitative trait loci conditioning resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat line F201R. Crop Sci 43:850-857
- Somers DJ, Fedak G, Clarke J, Cao W (2006) Mapping of FHB resistance QTLs in tetraploid wheat. Genome 49:1586-1593
- Somers DJ, Isaac P, Edwards K (2004) A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 109:1105-1114
- Steed A, Chandler E, Thomsett M, Gosman N, Faure S, Nicholson P (2005) Identification of type I resistance to Fusarium head blight controlled by a major gene located on chromosome 4A of *Triticum macha*. Theor Appl Genet 111:521-529
- Steiner B, Lemmens M, Griesser M, Scholz U, Schondelmaier J, Buerstmayr H (2004) Molecular mapping of resistance to Fusarium head blight in the spring wheat cultivar Frontana. Theor Appl Genet 109:215-224
- Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC (1999) RFLP mapping of QTL for Fusarium head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci 39:805-811
- Xu XM, Nicholson P, Thomsett MA, Simpson D, Cooke BM, Doohan FM, Brennan J, Monaghan S, Moretti A, Mule G, Homok L, Beki E, Tatnell J, Ritieni A, Edwards SG (2008) Relationship between the fungal complex causing Fusarium head blight of wheat and environmental conditions. Phytopathol 98:69-78

Zhang X, Pan H, Bai G (2012) Quantitative trait loci responsible for Fusarium head blight resistance in Chinese landrace Baishanyuehuang. Theor Appl Genet 125:495-502